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DUE DATE 
 

TEST 1 ON TUTORIAL 102: 10 MARCH 2020 
 
TEST 1 REMARK DEADLINE: 6 MAY 2020 

 

PERSONNEL AND CONTACT DETAILS 
 

Personnel Telephone 
Number 

Lecturers  
Mr M Masia (Course leader) 
Ms Y Abed 
Mr A Baloyi 
Ms L Letho 
Mr H Meyer 
Ms K Mohajane  
Ms A Uys 

 
012 429-6145 
012 429-4713 
012 484-1017 
012 429-2288 
012 429-4722 
012 429-4688 
012 429-4750 

 

 
Please send all e-mail queries to:  fac2postgrad@unisa.ac.za 
 

 

PRESCRIBED METHOD OF STUDY 
 

1. Please read the prescribed study material for every learning unit thoroughly before you study the 
additional information in section A of every learning unit. 

 
2. Do the other questions (section B) in the learning unit and make sure you understand the principles 

contained in the questions. 
 
3. Consider whether you have achieved the specific outcomes of the learning unit. 
 
4. After completion of all the learning units - attempt the self-assessment questions to test whether you 

have mastered the contents of this tutorial letter. 

 

mailto:fac2postgrad@unisa.ac.za
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SUGGESTED WORKING PROGRAMME 

 
JANUARY / FEBRUARY 2020 

WEDNESDAY THURSDAY FRIDAY SATURDAY SUNDAY MONDAY TUESDAY 

29 
The  

Conceptual 
Framework 
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of financial 
statements 

 

30 
Inventories 

 
 

31 
Income 
taxes 

 

1 
Income 
Taxes 

 
 

2 
Accounting 

policies, 
change in 
accounting 
estimates 
and errors 

 
Fair value 

Measurement 
 

3 
Self 

assessment 
questions 

4 
Self 

assessment 
questions 
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LEARNING UNIT 0 – INTRODUCTION TO myUNISA 
 
 

 

INTRODUCTION 
 
This learning unit will assist you in understanding the various functions available on 
myUnisa and also in obtaining your myUnisa login details as well as creating your myLife 
e-mail account.  

 

  

OBJECTIVES/OUTCOMES 
 
After you have studied this learning unit, you should be able to do the following: 
 
1. Claim your myUnisa login details  
 
2. Create your myLife e-mail account  
 
3. Use the myUnisa tools and understand the functioning thereof 

 

 
 

PRESCRIBED STUDY MATERIAL 
 

myUnisa login 

 
Once you have registered and have your myUnisa login details, you will have access to 
all the modules which you have registered for.  
In order to join the online learning environment, you will need to claim your myUnisa 
login details by following the instructions at the following link:  
https://my.unisa.ac.za/portal. 
 

 
FIGURE 1: myUnisa portal 

myUnisa 

https://my.unisa.ac.za/portal
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myLife e-mail account 

 
When claiming your myUnisa login details, you will also be creating your myLife e-mail 
account. Your myLife e-mail account will be the only e-mail account recognised by Unisa 
for official correspondence with you from the University. You may redirect your myLife  
e-mails to another more preferred e-mail account which you have access to. However, 
the myLife account will remain the official e-mail address for you on record at Unisa. The 
management of this e-mail account is solely your responsibility. 
 
Should you experience any difficulty with the above, you are welcome to ask for 
assistance at: 
 
• myUnisahelp@unisa.ac.za 
• myLifeHelp@unisa.ac.za  
 

What is myUnisa? 

 
myUnisa was created to serve as a digital classroom and study space where you can 
engage with your studies, your lecturer and your fellow students. myUnisa makes it 
possible for you to use a digital device like a laptop, a tablet or even a smart cellphone 
to receive instructions and guidance, to obtain access to sources and resources, to 
listen to podcasts or view screencasts and to interact with your lecturers as well as other 
students. 
 

The myUnisa platform should be reserved strictly for Unisa academic (teaching and 
learning) purposes. Advertising and or any other breach as outlined in the Student 
Disciplinary Code may lead to disciplinary action. 

 
On this site, you will find the following material: 
 
• electronic copy of this document under Additional Resources as well as all your 

tutorial letters under Official Study Material 
• module-specific learning materials under Learning Units as also contained in this 

document 
 

How does myUnisa work? 

 
• In this brief overview, we refer to those functions of myUnisa that you may 

encounter and may need on a regular basis. On the left-hand side of your myUnisa 
module page, you will find a number of options as indicated below. These options 
are known as “buttons” because one can click on each of them in order to select 
and open the “tool” that the button represents. These buttons start with Home, 
Assignments and so forth from the top down. 

 

mailto:myUnisahelp@unisa.ac.za
mailto:myLifeHelp@unisa.ac.za
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FIGURE 2: myUnisa toolbar 
 

myUnisa tools 

 
When you click on the myUnisa tools, there may, or may not be, a definition of the tool 
at the top of the page that is opened. For example, the Discussion Forums tool is 
defined while the Additional Resources tool, for instance, is not defined.  
 
Each myUnisa tool has its own function and is treated very briefly below. You can open 
only one tool at a time and will have to learn how to move from one tool to the other and 
how to move from one option within a tool to another option within the same tool. 
Moving around in myUnisa is known as “navigating”.  
 
The myUnisa page of certain modules may include a longer list of tools than others. The 
activation of tools depends on how the responsible lecturer and other role players 
envisaged the flow of information and how they intended you to be exposed to the 
learning experience. The supposed absence of a tool on a module page is therefore not 
an indication that myUnisa is not working as it should.  
 
The following is a brief overview of the myUnisa tools for this module, how some of 
them are related to one another and how they will be useful to you: 
 
Home 
 
Here you will find a welcome message (refer to page 3 of this document) from your 
lecturers, which includes important contact details you may find valuable during the 
course of the year.  
 
The Home tool also contains a calendar where important events have been indicated 
by a red-coloured block on the specific date, for example test and exam dates. Once 
you have clicked on these blocks, additional information will appear at the bottom of the 
calendar, indicating the event. 
 
Lastly, a summary of any announcement made (refer to the Announcements tool 
below) will appear on the Home tool for at least ten days. 

 



 FAC4863/102 

 NFA4863/102 
 ZFA4863/102 

 MJM 

8 

 

 

Assignment info 
 
Here you will be able to view your assignment (test) results.  
 
Announcements 
 
During the year, lecturers will place announcements on myUnisa to communicate 
important and relevant information to students, such as study school venue 
confirmation, new screencasts that have been uploaded to myUnisa, and so forth. 
It is crucial that you have registered yourself correctly on myUnisa, since you will then 
receive an e-mail notification every time your lecturer posts a new announcement. 
Always check the list of previous announcements to ensure that you have not missed 
any important notices. 
 
Once you have selected this tool, click on the relevant announcement subject to view 
the full details of the announcement. 
 
Official Study Material 
 
All tutorial letters for this module are uploaded here in PDF format. Once you have 
selected this tool, please follow the instructions at the top of this page to download a 
document to your personal computer or mobile device. You may also select to print the 
document.  
 
Previous exam papers are also made available on this tool. Please note that course 
curriculums are regularly updated and therefore past examination papers may be 
outdated. Using past examination papers as study material is done at your own risk. 
Your lecturer will not provide you with the solutions to these exam papers since 
previous exam papers are only updated and made available in Tutorial Letter 107 (as 
case studies) later in the year.  
 
Additional Resources 
 
Additional resources such as tests, study school slides, additional comments on tutorial 
letters and so on that can contribute to your understanding of module contents will be 
uploaded here. A notification will be sent to students via e-mail to notify students when 
an upload has been made to this tool. Investigate this tool after you have registered for 
the module as well as regularly during the course of the year. Also view your Unisa e-
mail account regularly for any notifications. 
 
Schedule 
 
This function presents you with a daily, weekly, monthly or yearly calendar in which 
important events are indicated on their due dates. Be aware that events mentioned 
under Announcements may perhaps not have been included under the Schedule tool. 
You may also select to view a list of all important events. 
 
Discussion Forums 
 
This is a valuable and safe space where you can interact with fellow students about 
topics relating to the module that you have enrolled for. Either the lecturer or you can 
create a discussion about a topic.  
 
Once you have selected this tool, you can either create a new forum or you can select 
an existing forum by clicking on the forum name. Under each forum name you can 
either create a new topic or select an existing topic.  
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Remember, online discussion forums are not the same as e-mail messages, or a letter 
to the lecturer, or a chat room. Therefore, the myUnisa discussion forums must not be 
used for personal messages to your lecturers or to one another. 
 

Netiquette 
 
“Netiquette” is simply “net etiquette”. This refers to the way in which you should 
behave when you communicate on myUnisa and more specifically, on discussion 
forums. Netiquette outlines simple, polite online discussion behaviours that 
participants in an online discussion expect from one another. 
 
Online discussions in module discussion forums are perhaps more formal than other 
public discussion forums. It helps to remember that in an online class, discussion 
forums are used instead of the face-to-face discussions or paper-based 
correspondence that you may be used to. We require you to behave online in the 
same manner which you would if you were physically sitting in a classroom with your 
lecturer or e-tutor and all your classmates.  
 
It is also important to understand that an online discussion in a university environment 
is more formal than a text message (SMS). Text messaging uses abbreviations such 
as “How R U?”. This abbreviated language is not appropriate in an online discussion 
forum. You have to use full words and complete sentences. 

 
Prescribed books 
 
Contains the official Unisa Booksellers as well as the prescribed books for the year.  
 
Please note: Although the most recent SAICA Handbook is prescribed and 
recommended, any previous version may be taken into test and exam venues (refer to 
the open book policy in tutorial letter 301). 
 
Learning Units 
 
The Learning Units tool contains all the learning units of which the syllabus for this 
module comprises of.  
 
Screencasts and/or other information might also be uploaded under Additional Learning 
Activities. 

 

 

ADDITIONAL LEARNING ACTIVITIES  
 
You might find it helpful to access the following links relating to studying online: 
 
• my Studies @ Unisa (1) (2:58)   
• my Studies @ Unisa (2): What does it mean to be an ODEL student at Unisa? (1:12)  
• Get connected before you start to register on myUnisa (6:10) 

 

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=j6QZrRF2iVU&feature=related
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=fgO_NcxduGg&feature=related
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=MAGvmgdSkEk&feature=related
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LEARNING UNIT 1 – GENERAL 
 

A. SAICA’S PRINCIPLE OF EXAMINATION LEVELS 
 
Throughout the study material, we will refer you to the following principles of examination levels: 
 
1. Issues that are at a core level: 
 
 An issue is at core level if: 
 • It is based on a significant conceptual underpinning/foundation of current financial 

accounting (i.e. based on identification, recognition, measurement and presentation and 
disclosure of elements); or 

 • It is prevalent (i.e. issues and industries that would be commonly encountered in practice 
in the course of an entry-level Chartered Accountant’s work). Here, the emphasis is on 
issues that are of a more general nature. 

 
 At core level an entry-level Chartered Accountant must be able to identify the underlying 

problem, perform complex calculations and answer integrated questions relating to core level 
issues. 

 
2. Issues that are at an awareness level: 
 
 Awareness means that the issue is not core but it is important for an entry-level Chartered 

Accountant to know about the issue. It is important for them to be able to identify that it is an 
issue that potentially has significant accounting implications and requires additional or 
specialist IFRS knowledge. 

 
 They would need to be able to identify and describe what the accounting issue is and read up 

on it futher. Students would also be expected to perform basic processing of the transaction 
when the numbers are given (e.g. obtained from an expert). 

 
 A good example might be borrowing costs i.e. students should be able to do the journal to 

capitalise any qualifying borrowing costs to Property, Plant and Equipment when the borrowing 
cost amount has been supplied. 

 
3. Issues that are excluded: 
 
 The following standards are excluded from the syllabus: 
 
 • IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards 
 • IFRS 4 Insurance contracts 
 • IFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources 
 • IFRS 8 Operating Segments 
 • IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 
 • IAS 20 Government Grants 
 • IAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans 
 • IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economics 
 • IAS 33 Earnings per Share 
 • IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting 
 • IAS 41 Agriculture 
 
 Please note the scope of all standards is at an awareness level, even if the standard is 

excluded. Exclusions within any standard will be specifically identified in your study material. 
 
The treatment of any Interpetation Note will follow the principle of examination level of the related 
standard. 
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B. A STUDENT’S GUIDE TO SUCCESS 
 
To all our FAC students 
 
We prepared a guide for the FAC students who are embarking on their CTA studies. The guide 
contains general information for the FAC module and highlights important information you should 
take note of. 
 

The following are important aspects of your studies: 
 
-  Attitude 

-  How to use the study material 

- The importance of tests 

-  myUnisa 

-  Contacting your lecturer 

 

ATTITUDE 
A positive attitude is the key to your success!!! 

 

 A positive attitude includes:  

 

Self-learning 
 

A CTA student takes 
responsibility for his/her 
own learning experience. 

 Ownership 
 

A CTA student has an attitude 
of responsibility for his/her own 
progress, planning and 
challenges. 

 Self-confidence 
 

A CTA student attempts 
his/her tests and exams with 
self-confidence based on 
his/her consistent effort and 
commitment throughout the 
year. 

    

Commitment 
 

A CTA student prioritises 
his/her studies by setting a 
study program and keeping 
to the program even when 
faced with other pressures 
or commitments. 

 Consistency 
 

A CTA student works 
consistently through the year 
and does not leave his/her 
studies for a last minute crash 
course. 
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How to use the study material (tutorial letters) 
 
Step 1: Familiarise yourself with the relevant IFRS in the learning unit. 

   Use SECTION A in the learning unit to guide you through the IFRS. 

 

Step 2:  Study the relevant chapter in the TEXT BOOK. 

  WORK SMART: spend more time on issues that you find difficult and less time on easy 

principles! 

 

Step 3:  Do the questions in SECTION B of the learning unit. 

  HINT: Don’t rush through these questions. Take your time and ensure you understand 

the principles before proceeding to the next learning unit. 

 

Step 4:  After completing the learning units proceed to the SELF ASSESSMENT QUESTIONS. 

  Do the questions within the given time (simulate exam conditions). 

  Mark your solution. 

  Identify areas that you found difficult. Address these issues immediately by referring 

back to the relevant learning unit, text book or by contacting the lecturers. 

 

 Use the SUGGESTED WORKING PROGRAM at the 
beginning of each tutorial letter to plan your studies for 

the week 

 

 
 

 

The importance of tests 
 

In order to obtain exam admission a student requires a minimum year mark of 40% based 
on the student’s best three tests. 

 

There are 4 tests during the year 
(refer TUT 101 for the test dates). 

 Don’t miss a test! 
There are no supplementary or sick tests. 

 

Tests provide you with the opportunity to: 
 
-  Apply your knowledge 

-  Integrate your knowledge 

-  Revise important concepts 

-  Identify areas that need attention 

-  Build self-confidence 

- Important: Work through the suggested solution. 
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myUnisa 
 

View myUnisa regularly.  Important announcements are issued on the 
website. 

   

The tests and their solutions, as well as 
comments from the markers are posted after 

the tests. 

 Tutorial letters and important resources are 
available on the website. 

 
Remember the CTA support website: 

http://sites.google.com/site/ctasupport 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

How to contact your lecturer 

 Use the FAC mailbox: fac2postgrad@unisa.ac.za 
 

  Contact your lecturer telephonically; or 
 
 Contact the College of Accounting Sciences (CAS) at: 
 CASenquiries-CTA@unisa.ac.za. 

mailto:fac2postgrad@unisa.ac.za
mailto:CASenquiries-CTA@unisa.ac.za


 FAC4863/102 

 NFA4863/102 
 ZFA4863/102 

 MJM 

14 

 

C. EXAM TECHNIQUE – COMMENTS 
 
 
1. Overall comments  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

  
 
2. Examination technique 
 

 

You have to be seated 15 minutes before the reading 
time starts. No student will be allowed after the reading 

time has started. 

Ensure to write the CORRECT 
module. 

 
 

No marks will be awarded if the 
incorrect module was written. 

(E.g. writing FAC4863 instead of 
FAC4861) 

Write the correct 

module code and 

student number on 

the script to avoid that 
your script might get lost! 

Confirm your venue on myUnisa 
and in TUT 302. 

Any changes to your venue need 
to be done well in advance. 

REMARKS 
Indicate where your test 

should be remarked. 
Your mark can decrease 

with a remark. 

Read your TUT101 and all the TUT300’s thoroughly! 

Do not write in pencil or red 
pen. 

Only use blue or black ink. 
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 2.1 Time management 
 

 
 
 
 

  
 2.2  Answering what was required 
 

 
 
   
 
 2.3  Open-book examination 
 

 
 
 

Examination technique remains the key distinguishing factor between students who 
PASS and those who FAIL. 

PRACTICE 
your exam technique by answering the additional questions in each tutorial letter as 

well as the questions in Tutorial Letter 107 under test or exam conditions. 
 

Marks can only be awarded for answers that were required. 

E.g. if disclosure was required, no marks will be awarded for 

calculations that were not used in the required disclosure.  

Students are advised to utilise their time wisely and allocate time for 
each question based on the number of marks out of which the 
question counts. 

Students should be aware of the tendency to spend too much time 
on the first question attempted and too little time on the last – rather 
return to any incomplete answered questions after attempting all 
other questions. 

Unisa follows the limited open-book policy as prescribed by SAICA. 
Please refer to tutorial letter 301 for the open-book policy. 
Students are also advised to familiarise themselves with the Unisa 
exam rules prior to writing the examination. 
 

 



 FAC4863/102 

 NFA4863/102 
 ZFA4863/102 

 MJM 

16 

 
 
 2.4  Communication skills 

 
 
 2.4.1 Answer what has been required 
 

 
  
 2.4.2 Presentation mark are awarded 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Many students do not address what has been required, for example, 
students only provide calculations where disclosure (notes to the 
financial statements) or presentation (financial statement/(s)) were 
required. Kindly note that if a student has only showed calculations 
and has not addressed what has been required, no marks can be 
awarded for the calculations. 

Students also need to bear in mind that this is a professional 
qualification and presentation marks are awarded in the tests and 
exams: 
 
• Logical flow and conclusion/layout: Marks are awarded in theory 

questions for the systematic flow of a logical argument and 
conclusion (where applicable). Use bullet points and write to 
the point. 

• Presentation and layout: Marks are awarded for disclosure and 
presentation as required by the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

 

https://www.google.co.za/imgres?imgurl=https://images.cdn4.stockunlimited.net/clipart/a-test-paper_1241562.jpg&imgrefurl=https://www.stockunlimited.com/similar/1273763.html&docid=Y-HtfMrtsi33XM&tbnid=skEYUuAqcgM5OM:&vet=10ahUKEwivps_4udHWAhWDJMAKHZuZB4oQMwhFKBgwGA..i&w=200&h=200&bih=641&biw=1366&q=exam%20question%20clip%20art%20black%20and%20white&ved=0ahUKEwivps_4udHWAhWDJMAKHZuZB4oQMwhFKBgwGA&iact=mrc&uact=8
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 2.4.3 Write neatly 
 

 
 
 
 
2.4.4  Reference calculations 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 2.4.5 Theory questions 
 

 
 
 2.4.6 Journal entries 
 

 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Students need to write neatly and structure their answers. 
 
No writing in pencil will be marked. 
 
A marker will not be able to allocate marks if it is not possible to 
read a student’s handwriting.  
 
Only abbreviations used in the tutorial letters will be accepted. 
 

It is essential that students supply and reference detailed 
calculations to support the figures in their answers.  

Marks are awarded for applying the theory to the content of the 
question. No marks are awarded for writing the theory from the 
Accounting Standards. 
Write neatly, use bullet points where possible and ensure to obtain 
the presentation marks! 

Students need to indicate Dr and Cr on top of the columns where 
the amounts are written. Students also need to indicate whether the 
statement of profit or loss (P/L), other comprehensive income (OCI) 
or the statement of financial position (SFP) are debited or credited. 
Also note whether the required section requires dates and journal 
narrations. 

  Dr Cr 
 31 December 20.17   
J1 Deferred tax expense (P/L) [C1] 14 000  
    Deferred tax (SFP)  14 000 
 Provide deferred tax for the current 

financial year 
  

    

 

ALWAYS 
REMEMBER 
 

IF REQUIRED 

Students need to ensure that their calculations are properly and 
neatly cross-referenced to the final solution. Ensure that the 
answer to your calculation is the amount that has been transferred 
to the solution. If a different amount is used in your solution, your 
calculation can not be marked.  
 
 Remember we mark from your solution to the calculations! 
 

 

http://www.clutchmagonline.com/2011/04/cursive-disappearing-from-classrooms-do-you-still-write-with-a-flourish/
https://www.google.co.za/imgres?imgurl=https://previews.123rf.com/images/huhulin/huhulin1206/huhulin120600012/14029929-numbers-coming-from-the-human-head-Stock-Vector-math-numbers-brain.jpg&imgrefurl=https://www.123rf.com/clipart-vector/calculation.html&docid=CmwHggg8iSmN-M&tbnid=hJkuIfbwL1dyHM:&vet=10ahUKEwjetKXTu9HWAhVKK8AKHRnhD5U4yAEQMwgeKBwwHA..i&w=975&h=1300&bih=641&biw=1366&q=calculations%20clip%20art%20black%20and%20white&ved=0ahUKEwjetKXTu9HWAhVKK8AKHRnhD5U4yAEQMwgeKBwwHA&iact=mrc&uact=8


 FAC4863/102 

 NFA4863/102 
 ZFA4863/102 

 MJM 

18 

 

LEARNING UNIT 2 – THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK FOR FINANCIAL 
REPORTING 

 
 

 

INTRODUCTION 
 
The Conceptual Framework for financial reporting (Conceptual Framework) describes the 
objective of, and the concepts for, general purpose financial reporting. The Conceptual 
Framework is not a standard. Nothing in the Conceptual Framework overrides any 
Standard or any requirement in a Standard.    

 

  

OBJECTIVES/OUTCOMES 
 
After you have studied this learning unit, you should be able to do the following: 
 
1. Discuss the objectives, usefulness and limitation of general purpose financial 

reporting. 
 
2. Define and discuss the qualitative characteristics of useful information. 
 
3. Discuss the information financial statements provides. 
 
4. Define the elements of financial statements. 
 
5. Describe the recognition criteria of the elements of financial statements. 
 
6. Determine when to derognise of all or part of a recognised asset or liability from an 

entity's statement of financial position. 
 
7. Applying measurements basis to elements of financial statements. 
 
8. Consider the nature of the information that the measurement basis will produce. 
 
9. Factors to consider when selecting a measurement basis. 
 
10. Discuss presentation and disclosure objectives and principles. 
 
11. Application of classification. 
 
12. Describe the concepts of capital maintenance and the determination of profit. 

 

 

PRESCRIBED STUDY MATERIAL 
 
The following must be studied before you attempt the questions in this learning unit: 
 
1. The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting. 
 
2. Chapter on the Conceptual Framework in Descriptive Accounting, 21st edition. 
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THE REST OF LEARNING UNIT 2 IS BASED ON THE ASSUMPTION THAT YOU 
HAVE ALREADY STUDIED THE RELEVANT CHAPTERS IN THE PRESCRIBED 
STUDY MATERIAL. 

 
 

SECTION A  –  SAICA’S PRINCIPLES OF EXAMINATION 
 
The principle of examination for Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting is at core level. 
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SECTION B  –  ADDITIONALQUESTION 
 
QUESTION 2.1 (20 marks) 
 
You are employed by Expert Ltd (Expert). Expert provides accounting and tax consulting services to 
various clients. The International Accounting Standards Board (Board) issued the revised 
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (Conceptual Framework), a comprehensive set of 
concepts for financial reporting in March 20.18. Your portfolio includes the following two allocated 
clients who have approached you regarding the recognition of assets and liabilities in terms of the 
revised Conceptual Framework. 
 
Client 1: Mogale Ltd 
 
On 13 June 20.16, Mogala Ltd (Mongala) purchased a holographic touch screen patent from 
Innovation Ltd (Innovation) at a cost of R250 million. This patent will give Mogala access to all the 
patents internationally and locally for the design and manufacture of holographic touch screens. Only 
Mogala can utilise the patent to design and manufacture the holographic touch screens. This will 
result in Mogala selling the first holographic touch screen smartphones and it will ensure that Mogala 
is the only designer and manufacturer of such smartphones. 
 
Mogala will manufacture all the other components of the smartphones and it will assemble the 
holographic touch screen smartphones and it is estimated that 90 million holographic touch screen 
smartphones will sell within the next financial year at a satisfactory profit margin. 
 
Client 2: Sea Homes Ltd 
 
Sea Homes Ltd (Sea Homes) is a new real estate agency that specialise in selling beach front 
holiday homes for the upper middle class market. Sea Homes is operating in the South Coast of 
Kwazulu-Natal region of South Africa. As part of its expansion strategy, a decision has been taken 
by the directors of the company to open a new office in the North Coast of Kwazulu-Natal region. 
 
Sea Homes paid R40 000 to Umhlanga News to advertise holday homes for sale in the newspaper 
to appear during January 20.18. This amount was paid on 15 December 20.18. 
 
 
REQUIRED 

 Marks 
 

Discuss, in terms of The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 20.18, whether 
the patent (refer to client 1) and payment to Umhlanga News (refer to client 2) may be 
recognised as an asset in the financial statements of Mogala Ltd and Sea Homes Ltd for 
the year ended 31 December 20.18. 
 

Communications skills: logical argument 
 
Please note: 
 
• Ignore any normal income tax implications. 
• Ignore Value Added Taxation (VAT) implications. 
 • Your answer must comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

18 
 
 
 
 

  2 
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QUESTION 2.1 – Suggested solution 
 
Discuss, in terms of The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 20.18, whether the 
patent (refer to client 1) and the payment client 2) may be recognised as an asset. 
 
An item can only be recognised if it meets the definition of an asset (Conceptual 
Framework 5.6) and only if recognition of the asset provide users of financial statements 
with information that is useful (Conceptual Framework 5.6 – 5.7). 
 

 

An asset is a present economic resource contolled by an entity as a result of past events 
(Conceptual Framework 4.3). 
 

 

An economic resource is a right that has the potential to produce economic benefits 
(Conceptual Framework 4.4). 
 

 

MONGALA LTD - Client 1 
 

 

Definition of an asset 
 

 

Right 
 

 

Mogala puchased the patent and has a right to use the patent (intellectual property) to 
design and manufacture holographic touch screens (Conceptual Framework 4.7 (ii)). 
 

 
(1) 

Potential to produce economic benefits 
 

 

The right to design and manufacture holographic touch screens has the potential to produce 
ecenomic benefits since the holographic touch screens produced will be sold to generate 
revenue which rise an asset (either cash or a trade receivable) which is an economic benefit 
(Conceptual Framework 4.16 (d)). 
 

 
 
 

(2) 

Control 
 

 

The patent can only be used by Mongale, therefor, it has the ability to direct the use of the 
right to manufacture holographic touch screens by using the patent (Conceptual 
Framework 4.20). 
 

 
 

(1) 

Mongala will obtain all the revene from the sale of the holographic touch screens 
(Conceptual Framework 4.20). 
 

 
(1) 

The patent can only be used by Mongala, it has the presents ability to prevent other entities 
from directing the use of the patent in the production of touch screens  
(Conceptual Framework 4.20).  
 

 
 

(1) 

All revenue from the sale of holostic tough screens will be legally in the name of Mongala, 
therefor, Mongala has the present ability to prevent others from obtaining the revenue ftom 
the touch scrren sales (Conceptual Framework 4.20). 

 
 

(1) 
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Past event 
 

 

The past event is the acquisition of the holographic touch screen patent by Mogala from 
Innovation Ltd that gives Mongala the the right to use the patent to manufacture touch 
screens.  
 

 
 

(1) 

Recognition criteria 
 

 

Relevant information 
 

 

The patent was acquired at a cost, therefor, no uncertainity that the patent exists 
(Conceptual Framework 5.12 (a)). 
 

 
(1) 

The probability of the inflow of future economic benefits is not low as the he analysis of the 
current customer base and target customers; forecast that 90 million holographic touch 
screens smartphones will sell in the first year, at a satisfactory profit (Conceptual 
Framework 5.12 (a)). 
 

 
 
 

(1) 

Faithful representation 
 

 

The holographic touch screen patent was acquired by Mongala at a cost of R250 million, 
therefor, no measurement uncertainity associated with the patent (Conceptual 
Framework 5.18). 
 

 
 

(1) 

Conclusion 
 

 

The patent will be recognised as an asset in terms of the Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting in the financial statements for the year ended 28 February 20.17. 

 
  (1) 

Total (12) 
Maximum (10) 

Communication skills: logical argument and clarity    (1) 
 
SEA HOMES LTD - Client 2 
 

 

Definition of an asset  
 
Right 
 

 

There is a right, in the form of a right for the adverts to apperar in the news paper  in the 
following financial year (Conceptual Framework 4.7 (ii)). 
 

 
(1) 

Potential to produce economic benefits 
 

 

The right has the potential to produce economic benefits, in the form of both cash inflows, 
through potential cliens being attracted to the homes being advertised for sale and in the 
form  of reduced future cash inflows since the cash payment for the newspaper adverts 
have already been made (a prepayment) (Conceptual Framework 4.16 (d)). 

 
 
 

(2) 

Control 
 

 

The control arises through the underlying contract with the newspaper (Conceptual 
Framework 4.20)  

 
(1) 
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Past event 
 

 

The past event is the prepayment of cash for the advertising on 15 December 20.18, before 
the reporting period. 
 

 
(1) 

Recognition criteria 
 

 

Relevant information 
 

 

There is no uncertainty about the existence of the payment to Umhlanga News. 
 
The probability of the inflow of economic benefits are not low. Refer to discussion of the two 
potential economic benefits below. 
 

 

Faithful representation 
 
The relevant information right has two potential economic benefits: 
 

 

• The potential to produce economic benefits through cash inflows from the future sales 
of homes has such a high level of measurement uncertainty (i.e. we cannot quantify the 
number or value of the sales that will occur as a direct result of the newspaper advert) 
that, if we were to recognise such a benefit, we would not achieve faithful 
representation (Conceptual Framework 5.18). 

 
 
 
 

(2) 

Faithful representation 
 

 

• However, the second potential economic benefit identified, being the reduced future 
cash outflow (i.e. reduced advertising cash outflows), has no measurement uncertainty 
at all (we know the amount that has been prepaid) and thus faithful representation is not 
adversely affected and the benefit may be recognised (Conceptual Framework 5.18). 
 

 
 
 

(2) 

Conclusion 
 

 

The payment will be recognised as an asset in terms of the Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting in the financial statements for the year ended 28 February 20.17. 

 
  (1) 

Total (10) 
Maximum   (8) 

Comminication skills: Logical argument and clarity    (1) 
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LEARNING UNIT 3 – PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
 

 

INTRODUCTION 
 
The objective of this Standard is to provide guidelines for the structure and content of 
general purpose financial statements, as well as to explain certain underlying principles.  

 

 

OBJECTIVES /OUTCOMES 
 
After you have studied this learning unit, you should be able to do the following: 
 
1. Identify the objective and scope of  IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements. 
 
2. Identify under which circumstances the standard should be applied. 
 
3. Discuss the objective of financial statements. 
 
4. Specify the components of financial statements. 
 
5. Specify and discuss the overall considerations with the preparation of financial 

statements. 
 
6. Prepare financial statements in accordance with the requirements in IAS 1 

Presentation of financial statements. 
 
7. Disclose relevant information as required by IAS 1 Presentation of financial 

statements. 

 

 

PRESCRIBED STUDY MATERIAL 
 
The following must be studied before you attempt the questions in this learning unit: 
 
1. IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements. 
 
2. Chapter on presentation of financial statements in Descriptive Accounting, 

21th edition. 
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THE REST OF LEARNING UNIT 3 IS BASED ON THE ASSUMPTION THAT YOU 
HAVE ALREADY STUDIED THE RELEVANT CHAPTERS IN THE PRESCRIBED 
STUDY MATERIAL. 

 
 

SECTION A  –  SAICA’S PRINCIPLES OF EXAMINATION 
 
The principle of examination of IAS 1 is at core level, to the extent that is supports the presentation 
and disclosure relating to transaction or topics included in the syllabus. 
 
 

SECTION B  –  ADDITIONAL QUESTION 
 
QUESTION 3.1 (45 marks) 
 
The consolidated list of balances of the Newsound Ltd Group for the year ended 31 December 20.11 
are as follows: 
 
 20.11 

R’000 
 20.10 

R’000 
Credits 
 
Share capital 
Revaluation surplus 
Share based payment reserve 
Retained earnings beginning of year 
Non-controlling shareholders’ interests 
Long-term borrowings 
Deferred taxation 
Revenue 
Trade payables 
Current portion of long-term borrowings 
SARS 
Bank overdraft 

 
 

147 834  
7 760  
2 000  

  20 375  
38 000  

236 000  
  28 875  

1 287 052  
42 095  
83 042  
17 409  

       2 652  

  
 

147 834  
-            

2 000  
  33 802  
32 000  

108 297  
  23 100  
902 052  
20 145  
24 639  
11 606  

          -      

 1 913 094  1 305 475 

 
Debits 
 
Non-controlling interests in profit for the year 
Property, plant and equipment 
Inventories 
Trade receivables 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cost of sales 
Operating costs 
Interest paid 
Income tax expense 
Dividends paid 

 
 

7 200  
 19 069  

192 085  
421 705  

-             
1 098 187  

103 435  
39 264  
10 927  

     21 222  

 
 

 
 

6 800  
 16 696  

149 002  
222 833  

1 465  
819 939  
46 592  
20 862  
6 148  

     15 138  

 1 913 094  1 305 475 
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Additional information 
 
1. Operating costs comprise of the following: 
 

 20.11 
R’000 

 20.10 
R’000 

Depreciation 
Loss on scrapping of equipment 
Distribution costs 
Administrative expenses 
Staff costs 

3 002  
500  

25 741  
28 813  

  45 379  

 2 237  
-            

14 010  
10 345  
20 000  

 103 435  46 592 

 
2. The taxation expense (assume correct) comprises of the following: 

 20.11 
R’000 

 20.10 
R’000 

Taxation per list of balances (10 927)  (6 148) 

 SA normal 
 - current 
 - deferred 
 Foreign tax 

 
(1 721) 
(3 900) 
(5 306) 

  
(777) 

(3 100) 
(2 271) 

 
 The normal income tax rate is 28% and the capital gains tax inclusion rate is 80%. 
 
3. There were no movement in both the share capital and the share based payment reserve for 

the year ended 31 December 20.11. 
 
4. The revaluation surplus before taxation amounts to R10 000. The deferred tax relating to the 

revaluation surplus amounts to R2 240. 
 
5. Dividends amounting to R1 200 000 were paid by the subsidiary of Newsound Ltd to non-

controlling shareholders during 20.11 (20.10 – R1 100 000).  
 
6. The long-term borrowings are interest-bearing. 
 
7. Newsound Ltd classifies expenses by function in a single statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income. 
 
8. Tax on items of other comprehensive income should be presented on the face of the statement 

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in terms of IAS 1.91(b) (items are presented 
before the related tax effects, with one amount for the total income tax relating to those items). 

 
9. There is no credit risk associated with the customers of Newsound Ltd Group. 
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REQUIRED 

 Marks 

Prepare the consolidated financial statements of Newsound Ltd for the year ended 
31 December 20.11 from the above information.   
 
Disclose the following notes only: 
 
• Profit before tax. 
• Income tax expense (ignore the income tax expense reconciliation). 
• Disclosure of tax effects relating to each item of other comprehensive income. 

48 

 
Please note: 
 
• Ignore the statements of cash flows.   
• Ignore any Value-Added Tax (VAT) implications. 
• Round off all amounts to the nearest Rand. 
• Your answer must comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
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QUESTION 3.1  -  Suggested solution 
 
NEWSOUND LTD GROUP 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 20.11 
 
 20.11 

R’000 
 20.10 

R’000 
 

ASSETS 
 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 
 
Current assets 
Inventories 
Trade receivables 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Total assets 

 
 
 

  19 069  
 
 

192 085  
421 705  
      -        
613 790  
632 859  

  
 
 

  16 696  
 
 

149 002  
222 833  
    1 465  
373 300  
389 996  

 
 
 

(1) 
 
 

(1) 
(1) 

(½) 

 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 
Share capital 
Revaluation surplus 
Other components of equity 
Retained earnings 
 
Non-controlling interests 
Total equity 
 
Non-current liabilities 
Long-term borrowings 
Deferred taxation 
 
 
Current liabilities 
Trade payables 
Current portion of long-term borrowings 
Current tax payable 
Bank overdraft 
 
Total liabilities 
Total equity and liabilities 

 
 
 

147 834  
7 760  
2 000  

  27 192  
184 786  
  38 000  
222 786  

 
 

236 000  
  28 875  
264 875  

 
 

42 095  
83 042  
17 409  

    2 652  
145 198  
410 073  
632 859  

  
 
 

147 834  
-        

2 000  
  20 375  
170 209  
  32 000  
202 209  

 
 

108 297  
  23 100  
131 397  

 
 

20 145  
24 639  
11 606  

     -        
  56 390  
187 787  
389 996  

 
 
 

(½) 
(½) 
(1) 
(1) 

 
(1) 

 
 
 

(1) 
(1) 

 
 
 

(1) 
(1) 
(1) 

(½) 
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NEWSOUND LTD GROUP 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 20.11 
 
 Notes 20.11 

R’000 
 20.10 

R’000 
 

Revenue 
Cost of sales 
Gross profit 
Distribution costs 
Administrative expenses 
Other expenses  
  (3 002 + 500 + 45 379);  (2 237 + 20 000) 
Finance costs 
Profit before tax 
Income tax expense 
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 
 
Other comprehensive income 
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or 
loss: 
Gains on property revaluation  
Income tax relating to items that will not be 
reclassified (note 4) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net 
of tax 
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR  
  THE YEAR 
 
Profit attributable to: 
- Owners of the parent 
- Non-controlling interests (given) 
 
 
Total comprehensive income attributable to: 
- Owners of the parent 
- Non-controlling interests (given) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 
3 
 
 
 
 
 

4 
 

 

1 287 052   
(1 098 187) 

188 865   
(25 741) 
(28 813) 

 
  (48 881) 
  (39 264) 

46 166   
  (10 927) 
    35 239   

 
 
 
 

10 000  
 

(2 240) 
 

  7 760  
 
 

42 999  
 
 

28 039   
  7 200   
35 239   

 
 

35 799  
  7 200  
42 999  

 902 052   
(819 939) 

 82 113   
(14 010) 
(10 345) 

 
(22 237) 
(20 862) 
14 659   
 (6 148) 
   8 511   

 
 
 
 

     -       
 
 
 

     -       
 
 

   8 511  
 
 

1 711   
  6 800   
  8 511   

 
 

1 711  
  6 800  
  8 511  

(1) 
(1) 

 
(1) 
(1) 

 
(1) 
(1) 

 
(1) 

 
 
 
 
 

(1) 
 

(1) 
 

(½) 
 
 
 
 
 

(1) 
(1) 

 
 
 

(1) 
(1) 

 

 
 

COMMENT 
 

Alternatively, items of other comprehensive income could be presented in the statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income net of tax. When the company chooses 
this option then the tax related to each item of other comprehensive income, including 
reclassification adjustments, shall be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements 
(IAS 1.91(a)). Refer to note 4 for an example of this note. 
 
Please note: 
In tests and the exam, the required tax treatment of items of other comprehensive income 
will be clearly specified. 
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NEWSOUND LTD GROUP 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 DECEMBER 20.11  
 

  
 

Share 
capital 
R’000 

 
Reva- 

luation 
surplus 
R’000 

 
Share 
based 

payment 
R’000d 

 
 

Retained 
earnings 

R’000 

 
 
 

Total 
R’000 

Non- 
con- 

trolling 
interests 

R’000 

 
 

Total 
equity 
R’000 

 

 
Balance at 1 January 20.10 

 
147 834               

 
-                    

 
2 000   

 
33 802      

 
183 636     

 
26 300a    

 
209 936   

 
(3) 

Changes in equity for 20.10 

Total comprehensive income 
for the year 
- Profit for the year 
- Other comprehensive 
  income 
Dividends 

 
 
 

-       
 

-       
-                    

 
 
 

-       
 

-       
-                    

 
 
 

-       
 

-       
-                    

 
 
 

1 711   
 

-       
(15 138)b 

 
 
 

1 711   
 

-       
(15 138) 

 
 
 

6 800   
 

-       
(1 100)b   

 
 
 

8 511   
 

-       
(16 238)   

 
 
 

(1½) 
 
 

(1½) 

Balance at  
  31 December 20.10 

 
147 834              

 
-         

 
2 000               

 
20 375     

 
170 209     

 
32 000     

 
202 209   

 

Changes in equity for 20.11 

Total comprehensive income 
for the year 
- Profit for the year 
- Other comprehensive   
  income 

 
 
 

-       
 

-                    

 
 
 

-       
 

7 760     

 
 
 

-        
 

-                     

 
 
 

28 039   
 

-         

 
 
 

28 039   
 

7 760     

 
 
 

7 200   
 

-       

 
 
 

35 239  
 

7 760    

 
 
 

(1½) 
 

(1) 
Dividends -        -         -         (21 222)b   (21 222)b   (1 200)    (22 422)  (1½) 

Balance at  
  31 December 20.11 

 
147 834   

 
  7 760     

 
2 000  

 
  27 192     

 
184 786     

 
38 000     

 
222 786  

 

 
Nature and purpose of reservesc: 
 
Revaluation surplus - a reserve for the recognition of revaluation surpluses in respect of 

property, plant and equipment. 

Share based payment - a reserve for the conversion of equity settled share based 
options. 

 
a 32 000 + 1 100 - 6 800  =  26 300 
b The consolidated dividend R21 222 (20.10 R15 138) consists only of the dividends 

paid/declared by the parent. The dividend paid by the subsidiary to the non-controlling 
interests amounting to R1 200 000 (20.10 R1 100 000) is presented in non-controlling interests 
in the Statement of Changes in Equity. 

c A description of the nature and purpose in respect of each reserve within equity must be 
disclosed in terms of IAS 1.79(b) either in the statement of financial position or the statement 
of changes in equity, or in the notes. 

d Other reserves are analysed rate into their components, if the amounts are material. 
 

 
 

COMMENT 
 
IAS 1.79(a) requires disclosure for each class of share capital, but this was excluded 
from this question. 
 
IAS 1.107 also requires disclosure for the dividends per share amount either in the 
statement of changes in equity or in the notes. 
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NEWSOUND LTD GROUP 
 
NOTES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 20.11 
 
1. Accounting policy (not required) 
 
 1.1 Basis of preparation 
 

The financial statements comply in all aspects with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). It has been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for land that 
is revalued. (1) 

 

 
 

REMEMBER  
 
Now provide the accounting policy in respect of every transaction type. However, you do 
not have enough information to do it here. 

 

 

COMMENT 
 

IAS 1.16 requires disclosure of the fact that IFRS have been complied with. 

 
12. Profit before tax 
 
 The following items are included in profit before tax: 
 

 20.11 
R’000 

20.10 
R’000 

 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (IAS 16.75(a)) 
Loss on scrapping of equipment 
Employee benefit expense 

3 002  
500  

45 379  

2 237  
-           

20 000  

(1) 
(½) 
(1) 

 

 
 

COMMENT 
 

1. Note that when expenses are classified according to function, the following needs 
to be disclosed in the profit before tax note (IAS 1.104): 

 - total depreciation 
 - total amortisation 
 - employee benefit expense. 
 
2. The loss on scrapping of equipment qualifies as a separately disclosable item 

(IAS 1.98).  Only the nature thereof and amount should be disclosed. 

 
13. Income tax expense 

 
Major components of tax expense 

20.11 
R’000 

20.10 
R’000 

 

    
SA normal taxation 5 621   3 877  

   Current taxation 
   -  Current year 
   Deferred taxation 
   -  Movement in temporary differences 

 
1 721   

 
3 900    

 
777  

 
3 100   

 
(1) 

 
(1) 

Foreign taxation   5 306   
10 927    

2 271  
6 148   

(1) 
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4. Disclosure of tax effects relating to each item of other comprehensive income 
 

 20.11 20.10  
 Before- 

tax 
amount 

R 

Tax 
(expense)/ 

benefit 
R 

Net-of-
tax 

amount 
R 

Before- 
tax 

amount 
R 

Tax 
(expense)/ 

benefit 
R 

Net-of-
tax 

amount 
R 

 

 
Revaluation surplus  

 
10 000 

 
(2 240) 

 
7 760 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
  (1) 

    Total     (45) 
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SECTION C  –  ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
1. Components of other comprehensive income (IAS 1.7) include: 
 

Component 
IAS/ 
IFRS Description 

Re-classified to  
profit or loss 

(a) Changes in the reva-
luation surplus. 

 

IAS 
16.39 

Property, plant 
and equipment 

May not be reclassified to profit 
and loss. 

(b) Remeasurements of de-
fined benefit plans. 

 

IAS 
19.57(d) 

Employee 
benefits 

May not be reclassified to profit 
and loss. 

(c) Gains and losses arising 
from translating the finan-
cial statements of a 
foreign operation. 

 

IAS 
21.32/37/ 
38.-.49 

The effects of 
changes in 
foreign exchange 
rates 

May be reclassified to profit and 
loss. 
(IAS32.32 and 48) 

(d) Gains and losses from 
investments in equity 
instruments measured at 
fair value through other 
comprehensive income in 
accordance with para-
graph 5.7.5 of IFRS 9. 

 

IFRS 
9.5.7.5 

Financial 
instruments 

May not be reclassified to profit 
and loss. 
(IFRS 9B5.7.1) 

(e) Gains and losses on 
financial assets mea-
sured at fair value 
through other compre-
hensive income. 

 

IFRS 
9.4.1.2A 

Financial 
instruments 

May be reclassified to profit and 
loss. 
(IFRS 9B5.7.1A) 
May not be reclassified to profit 
and loss. 
(IFRS 9B5.7.1) 
 

(f) The effective portion of 
gains and losses on 
hedging instruments in a 
cash flow hedge. 

 

IFRS 
9.5.7.5 

Financial 
instruments 

Non-financial item (e.g. inventory): 
• May not be reclassified to profit 

and loss.  
 (IFRS 9.6.5.11(d)) 
Financial item (e.g. loans): 
• May be reclassified to profit and 

loss.  
 (IFRS 9.6.5.11(d)) 
 

(g) For particular liabilities 
designated as at fair 
value through profit or 
loss, the amount of the 
change in fair value that 
is attributable to changes 
in the liability’s credit risk. 

IFRS 
9.5.7.7 

Financial 
instruments 

May not be reclassified to profit 
and loss.  
(IFRS 9B.5.7.9) 
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2. Disclosure requirements according to IAS 1 
 

In addition to the disclosure requirements of other IFRS’s, IAS 1 may also require additional 
disclosure which includes the following: 
 
Information to be presented either in the Statement of Financial Position or in the Notes: 
 

IAS 1 Description 

1.77 Further sub classifications of the line items presented, classified in a manner 
appropriate to the entity’s operations 

1.78 (a) Items of property, plant and equipment are disaggregated into classes in 
accordance with IAS16 

 (b) Receivables are disaggregated into amounts receivable from: 
• trade customers 
• related parties 
• prepayments 
• other amounts 

 (c) Inventories are disaggregated into classifications such as: 
• merchandise 
• production supplies 
• materials 
• work in process 
• finished goods 

 (d) Provisions are disaggregated into provisions for: 
• employee benefits and  
• other items  

 (e) Equity capital and reserves are disaggregated into various classes, such as: 
• paid-in capital 
• share premium and reserves 

 



 FAC4863/102 

 NFA4863/102 
 ZFA4863/102 

 MJM 

35 

 
Information to be presented either in the Statement of Financial Position, Statement of 
Changes in Equity or in the Notes: 
 

IAS 1 Description 

1.79 For each class of share capital: 

1.79 (a)   (i) number of authorised shares 
 (ii) number of shares issued and fully paid, and issued but not fully paid 
(iii) par value per share, or that the shares have no par value 
(iv) reconciliation at beginning and end of the period of the number of shares 

outstanding 
 (v) the rights, preferences and restrictions attaching to that class including 

restrictions on the distribution of dividends and the repayment of capital 
(vi) shares in the entity held by the entity or by its subsidiaries or associates 
(vii) shares reserved for issue under options and contracts for the sale of shares, 

including terms and amounts 

 
 

COMMENT 
 

According to the new South African Companies Act, shares do not have a par 
value; hence there will also not be any share premium. 

1.79 (b) a description of the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity 
• Revaluation reserve 
• Translation reserve 
• Fair value adjustment reserve 
• Cash flow hedge reserve 
• Share-based payment reserve 

1.80 An entity without share capital, shall disclose information equivalent to that 
required by par 79(a), showing changes during the period in each category of 
equity interest, and the rights, preferences and restrictions attaching to each 
category of equity interest 

1.80A 
 (a) 
 (b) 

If an entity has reclassified 
A puttable financial instrument classified as an equity instrument or 
An instrument that imposes on the entity an obligation to deliver to another party a 
pro rata share of the net assets of the entity only on liquidation and is classified as 
an equity instrument 
Between financial liabilities and equity, it shall disclose the amount reclassified 
into and out of each category (financial liabilities or equity), and timing and reason 
for that reclassification 
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Information to be presented in the Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive 
Income or in the Notes: 
 

IAS 1 Description 

1.97 When items of income or expense are material, an entity shall disclose their 
nature and amount separately 

1.98 Circumstances which will lead to separate disclosure include the following: 
 (a) Write down of inventories to net realisable value and reversals of such write-

downs 
 (b) Write down of property, plant and equipment to recoverable amount and reversals 

of such write downs 
 (c) Restructurings of activities of an entity and reversals of any provisions for cost of 

restructuring 
 (d) Disposals of items of PPE 
 (e) Disposals of investments 
 (f) Discontinued operations 
 (g) Litigation settlements 
 (h) Other reversals of provisions 

1.104 An entity classifying expenses by function shall disclose additional information on 
the nature of expenses, including:  

 • Depreciation 
 • Amortisation expense 
 • Employee benefit expense 

 
 Information to be presented in the Statement of Changes in Equity or in the Notes: 

 

IAS 1 Description 

1.106A For each component of equity an entity shall present an analysis of other 
comprehensive income by item 

1.107 An entity shall present the amount of dividends recognised as distributions to 
owners during the period, and the related amount of dividends per share 

 
 Information to be presented in the Notes: 

 

IAS 1 Description 

112 The notes shall: 
 (a) Present information about the basis of preparation of financial statements and 

accounting policies used 
 (b) Disclose the information required by IFRSs that is not presented elsewhere in the 

financial statements, and 
 (c) Provide information that is not presented elsewhere in the financial statements, 

but is relevant to an understanding of any of them 

Disclosure of accounting policies: 

117 
 (a) 
 (b) 

An entity shall disclose in the summary of significant accounting policies: 
The measurement basis used in preparing the financial statements 
Other accounting policies used that are relevant to an understanding of the 
financial statements 

122 The judgement that management has made in the process of applying the entity’s 
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements 
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IAS 1 Description 

Source of estimation uncertainty 

125 An entity shall disclose information about the assumptions it makes about the 
future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Notes 
should include details of their: 
• Nature, and 
• Carrying amount as at the end of the reporting period 

Capital 

134 An entity shall disclose information that enables users of its financial statements 
to evaluate the entity’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital. 

Other disclosures 

137 (a) Amount of dividends proposed or declared before the financial statements were 
authorised for issue but not recognised as distribution to owners during the period, 
and the related amount per share; and 

 (b) The amount of any cumulative preference dividends not recognised 

138 Disclose the following if not disclosed elsewhere in information published with the 
financial statements: 

 (a) The domicile (the place at which the entity is registered) and legal form of the 
entity, its country of incorporation and the address of its registered office(or 
principle place of business, if different) 

 (b) Description of the nature of the entity’s operations and its principal activities 
 (c) The name of the parent and the ultimate parent of the group, and 
 (d) If it is a limited life entity, information regarding the length of its life 

 



 FAC4863/102 

 NFA4863/102 
 ZFA4863/102 

 MJM 

38 

 

LEARNING UNIT 4 – INVENTORIES 

 
 

 

INTRODUCTION 
 
Inventory usually comprises a major component of an entity’s current assets. It’s initial 
and subsequent recognition, measurement and disclosure can have a substantial impact 
on the presentation of the financial position and results of the operations of an entity. The 
Standard therefore lay down requirements for: 
 
- the determination of the carrying amount of inventory; and 
- the presentation of useful and understandable information in respect of inventory in 

the financial statements. 

 

 

OBJECTIVES/OUTCOMES 
 
After you have studied this learning unit, you should be able to do the following: 
 
1. Determine the amount of cost in respect of inventories to be recognised as an asset 

and the amount carried forward until the related revenues are recognised. 
 
2. Determine the cost of sales recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income. 
 
3. Determine any write down to net realisable value and any reversal of the write-

down. 
 
4. Use the different cost allocation techniques and cost formulas to assign costs to 

inventories. 
 
5. Disclose all information in respect of inventory in the financial statements. 

 

 

PRESCRIBED STUDY MATERIAL 
 
The following must be studied before you attempt the questions in this learning unit: 
 
1. IAS 2 Inventories. 
 
2. Chapter on inventories in Descriptive Accounting, 21st edition. 
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THE REST OF LEARNING UNIT 4 IS BASED ON THE ASSUMPTION THAT YOU 
HAVE ALREADY STUDIED THE RELEVANT CHAPTERS IN THE PRESCRIBED 
STUDY MATERIAL. 

 
 

SECTION A  –  SAICA’S PRINCIPLES OF EXAMINATION 
 
The principle of examination for IAS 2 is at core level. 
 
 

SECTION B  –  ADDITIONAL QUESTIONS 
 
QUESTION 4.1 (20 marks) 
 
You are the auditor of Topline Ltd, a medium-size listed company.  The company imports raw 
materials from the USA, processes it and sells it in the RSA.  Two products are manufactured, 
namely Cattex and Fumex. Both products are manufactured from the same raw materials. 
 
During the year the company imported 100 000 kg of raw materials from the USA of which the 
details were as follows: 
 
Invoice costs : $1 000 000 
Wharfage  : R22 500 
Freight  : R15 000 
Clearance services : R1 500 
Customs duties : R150 000 
Value-Added Tax (VAT) at 15% : R504 000 
 
The exchange rate on 1 February 20.12 was $1 = R7,20 when the raw materials were shipped from 
the USA Free On Board Shipping Point. Topline obtained control of the raw material on 
1 February 20.12. The exchange rate was $1 = R7,30 on 1 May 20.12 when it arrived on the factory 
premises. 
 
The debt of $1 000 000 is payable on 30 June 20.12. The exchange rate was $1 = R7,40 at  
30 June 20.12.  
 
The following information is available for the period from 1 May 20.12 to 31 December 20.12. 
 
 Cattex Fumex 
Raw materials issued 
Direct labour (R8 per hour) 
  Productive hours 
  Idle hours 
Variable factory overheads (fully productive) (excluding VAT) 
Fixed factory overheads (excluding VAT) 

30 000 kg      
 

152 000 hours 
24 000 hours 

R160 000 
R1 120 000 

40 000 kg      
 

164 000 hours 
20 000 hours 

R170 000 
R1 200 000 

 
Additional information for the period 1 May 20.12 to 31 December 20.12 
 
1. Normal capacity (productive and normal idle time) is as follows: 
 
 • Cattex department 22 000 hours per month 
 • Fumex department 20 000 hours per month 
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2. The employees in the Cattex department went on strike during August 20.12 in order to 

negotiate for higher wages. The department lost 6 000 hours as a result of the strike.  These 
idle hours are included in total idle hours of 24 000 hours. The remainder of the idle hours is 
normal. The idle hours in the Fumex department were normal. Actual capacity in the Fumex 
department deviated from normal capacity due to a very large order that had to be supplied to 
a client during the period. 

 
3. One unit of the finished product of Cattex weighs 1 kg while a Fumex finished product weighs 

2 kg. 
 
4. Normal raw material wastage in the case of both products is 10%, which takes place at the 

beginning of the production process. 
 
5. There are no work in progress inventories at year end and no other raw materials were 

purchased during the year. 
 
6. Finished products manufactured during the period 1 May 20.12 to 31 December 20.12 were as 

follows: 
 
 • Cattex 26 000 products 
 • Fumex 18 000 products 
 

Twenty-five percent of the finished products was still on hand on 31 December 20.12 in both 
cases. 

 
7. The replacement cost of raw materials was higher on 31 December 20.12 than on 

1 May 20.12. 
 
8. The selling price of finished products was as follows on 31 December 20.12: 
 
 • Cattex R150 per unit (excluding VAT) 
 • Fumex R350 per unit (excluding VAT) 
 
9. Delivery cost per product amounts to R2 while sales commission amounts to 5%. 
 
10. On 1 January 20.12 Topline Ltd acquired a manufacturing machine in terms of a finance lease 

agreement which has not been accounted for yet. The cash value (VAT excluded) of the 
machine amounts to R100 000 on 1 January 20.12. The finance lease liability is settled by 5 
annual instalments (payable on 31 December) of R28 500 each (VAT included). The 
manufacturing machine is used to manufacture Cattex and has the capacity to manufacture 
100 000 products during its useful life. 

 
11. It is the policy of Topline Ltd to base depreciation on the number of units manufactured. 

(Assume that the fixed factory overheads given do not include any depreciation.) 
 
12. Topline Ltd is registered for VAT purposes and all VAT is charged at 15%. 
 
13. The effect of discounting is immaterial. 
 
The financial manager of Topline Ltd valued inventories as follows on 31 December 20.12 for 
purposes of the financial statements: 
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Raw materials R             
 
Invoice costs ($1 000 000 x R7,30) 7 300 000   
Exchange rate difference ($1 000 000 x (R7,46 – R7,30)) 160 000   
Wharfage  22 500   
Freight  15 000   
Clearance services 1 500   
Customs duties 150 000   
VAT      504 000   
Total:  100 000 kg 8 153 000   
 
Closing inventories:  30 000 kg @ R81,53 2 445 900   
 
Finished products Cattex 

R 
Fumex 

R 

Raw materials (R81,53 per kg) 
Direct labour (R8 per hour) 
Variable factory overheads 
Fixed factory overheads 
Total manufacturing cost (rounded to two decimals) 
 
Cost price per unit 
 
Closing inventories 

2 445 900 
1 408 000 

160 000 
1 120 000 
5 133 900 

 
197,46 

 
1 283 490 

3 261 200  
1 472 000  

170 000  
1 200 000  
6 103 200  

 
339,07  

 
1 525 815  

 
As part of your normal audit procedures an interim audit was performed during October 20.12.  
Expenses and production costs for the year until 30 September 20.12 were subjected to detail 
verification procedures. Internal control systems were also evaluated and found satisfactorily. 
 
REQUIRED 

 Marks 

Calculate the amounts at which the various inventory items should be shown in the 
financial statements on 31 December 20.12. 
 
Please note: 
 
• Round off all amounts to two decimal places. 
• Ignore any normal income tax implications. 
• Your answer must comply with International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS). 

20 

 
   (University of Stellenbosch - adapted) 
 



 FAC4863/102 

 NFA4863/102 
 ZFA4863/102 

 MJM 

42 

 
QUESTION 4.1  -  Suggested solution 
 
VALUATION OF INVENTORY ITEMS IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 
31 DECEMBER 20.12 
 
Raw materials R  

Invoice cost ($1 000 000 x R7,20) 
Wharfage 
Freight 
Clearance services 
Customs duties 
Total:  100 000 kg 
 
Cost per kg raw material  =  7 389 000 / 100 000 kg  =  R73,89 
 
Units closing inventories 
=  100 000 kg – 30 000 kg (Cattex) – 40 000 kg (Fumex)  =  30 000 kg 
 
Closing inventories in the statement of financial position  
Raw materials (30 000 kg @ R73,89) 

7 200 000 
22 500 
15 000 
1 500 

   150 000 
7 389 000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 216 700 

(1) 
(1) 
(1) 
(1) 
(1) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(1) 
 
Finished products Cattex 

R 
Fumex 

R 
 

Raw materials 
Direct labour 
  (152 000 + 24 000 - 6 000) x 8 
  (164 000 + 20 000) x 8 
Depreciation iro finance lease asset 
Variable factory overheads 
Fixed factory overheads 
  (1 120 000/(8 months x 22 000)4) x (152 000 + 24 000 - 6 000) 
  (1 200 000/(164 000 + 20 000)) x 184 000 
Total manufacturing cost 
 
Per product (4 762 418/26 000) (5 797 600/18 000) 

2 134 6001 
 

1 360 000  
 

26 000
3
 

160 000  
 

1 081 818  
                  
4 762 418   

 
183,17  

 
2 955 6002 

 
1 472 000 

-       
170 000  

 
 

1 200 000  
5 797 600  

 
322,09 

(1) 
(1) 
(1) 
(1) 
(1) 
(1) 

 
(1) 
(1) 

 
 

(1) 

 
1 Normal spillage: 
 26 000/0,9 x R73,89 x 1 kg = R2 134 600 
 
 Or alternative: 
 
 30 000 kg (raw materials issued) x 10% 
 =  3 000 kg of which (1 000/27 000) is an abnormal spillage and needs to be expensed. 
 
2 Normal spillage: 
 40 000 kg (raw materials issued) x 10% 
 =  4 000 kg 
 
 (18 000 + (4 000 kg/2) x R73,89 x 2 kg = R2 955 600 
 
 Or alternative: 
 18 000/0,9 x R73,89 x 2 kg = R2 955 600 
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COMMENT 
 
Calculation of abnormal spillage: 
 
Raw materials issued 30 000  kg 
Normal spillage  (3 000) kg 
   27 000  kg 
Finished products 26 000  kg 
Abnormal spillage   1 000  kg 

 
3 100 000 x 26 000/100 000 = 26 000 
 
4 Normal production capacity per month 
 
 Cattex 

R 
Fumex 

R 
 

Cost of closing inventories 
 
(0,25 x 26 000 x 183,17) 
(0,25 x 18 000 x 322,09) 
 
Net realisable value 
 
Selling price 
Less:  Costs to sell 
Delivery cost 
Sales commission 
 
 
Closing inventories in the statement of financial position 
 
Cattex: (0,25 x 26 000 x 140,50) (NRV) 
Fumex: (0,25 x 18 000 x 322,09) (Cost) 

 
 

1 190 605  
 
 
 
 

150,00  
 

(2,00) 
   (7,50) 
140,50  

 
 
 

1 449 405  
 
 
 

350,00  
 

(2,00) 
 (17,50) 
330,50  

 
R 

 
913 250  

1 449 405  
2 362 655  

 
 

(½) 
(½) 

 
 
 

(1) 
 

(1) 
(1) 

 
 
 
 

(½) 
(½) 
       

   Total     (20) 
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QUESTION 4.2 (7 marks) 
 
The newly appointed accountant of Quattro Ltd asked you to help him with the calculation of the 
following transaction. 
 
Quattro Ltd bought steel from Stockal Ltd and received the invoice for R540 000 (10 000 units) 
(including Value-Added Tax (VAT)). Quattro Ltd paid cash in order to make use of the 7% cash 
discount offered by the supplier. The steel was transported by rail for which Quattro Ltd paid 
R35 000 (excluding VAT). Costs to insure the steel while in transit amounted to R1 000 (excluding 
VAT). On inspection of the steel by the foreman, it was found that 1 000 units to the value of 
R54 000 were damaged. Following negotiations with Stockal Ltd, it was agreed that these steel units 
will be returned to the supplier. It may be assumed that Quattro Ltd is a registered VAT vendor and 
that the steel will be used to generate taxable supplies. 
 
REQUIRED 

 Marks 

Calculate the cost per unit of the steel inventory. 
 
Please note: 
 
• Round off all amounts to the nearest Rand. 
• Ignore any normal income tax implications. 
• Your answer must comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

7 

 
 
 
QUESTION 4.2  -  Suggested solution 
 
Cost of steel inventory 
 

R  

Purchases (R540 000 x 100/115) 469 565  (1) 
Cash discount (R540 000 x 7% x 100/115) (32 870) (1½) 
Railage 35 000  (½) 
Insurance 1 000  (½) 
Returned product (54 0001 x 93%2 x 100/115) (43 670) (1½) 

Raw material cost 429 025   
Units (10 000 – 1 000) 9 000  (1) 
Price per unit raw material (R429 025/9 000) 47,67  (1) 
 Total (7) 
 
1 540 000 ÷ 10 000 x 1 000 = 54 000 
 
2 Amount less cash discount 
 100% - 7% = 93% 
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LEARNING UNIT 5 – INCOME TAXES 

 
 

 

INTRODUCTION 
 
Taxation represents an unavoidable expense for most entities. Apart from various income 
taxes that include all domestic and foreign taxes, it is also necessary to account for 
deferred taxation. Deferred tax represents tax that will be paid/saved in future periods 
when the carrying amounts of the assets/liabilities are recovered/settled. 

 

 

OBJECTIVES /OUTCOMES 
 
After you have studied this learning unit, you should be able to do the following: 
 
1. Identify the objective of IAS 12 and be able to apply IAS 12.  
 
2. Understand and apply the following definitions: 
 
 (a) Tax base of assets and liabilities; 
 (b) Taxable and deductible temporary differences; and 
 (c) Deferred tax assets and liabilities. 
 
3. Understand and calculate current tax. 
 
4. Understand and calculate deferred tax by:  
 
 (a) Calculating the tax base of assets and liabilities, 
 (b) Calculating the temporary differences for each asset and liability, and  
 (c) Calculating the movements in temporary differences and deferred tax. 
 
5. Understand and calculate the implications of tax losses (recognised and 

unrecognised) on current and deferred tax. 
 
6. Calculate and recognise the income tax line in the statement of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income. 
 
7. Disclose the income tax expense in the notes to the statement of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income. 
 
8. Calculate and recognise all tax balances for the statement of financial position, for 

example the deferred tax balance and tax payable.  
 
9. Disclose income tax and deferred tax in the notes to the financial statements. 
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PRESCRIBED STUDY MATERIAL 
 
The following must be studied before you attempt the questions in this learning unit: 
 
1. IAS 12 Income Taxes. 
 
2. FRG 1 Substantively enacted tax rates and tax laws. 
 
3. The following document is excluded: 
 
 • SIC 25 Income taxes – Changes in the tax status of an entity or its 

shareholders. 
 
4. Chapter on income taxes in Descriptive Accounting, 21st edition. 
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THE REST OF LEARNING UNIT 5 IS BASED ON THE ASSUMPTION THAT YOU 
HAVE ALREADY STUDIED THE RELEVANT CHAPTERS IN THE PRESCRIBED 
STUDY MATERIAL. 

 

SECTION A  –  SAICA’S PRINCIPLES OF EXAMINATION  
 
The principle of examination of IAS 12 is at core level to the extent that is supports transactions or 
topics included in both the financial accounting and tax syllabus, or students are given the tax 
treatment. 
 
The following paragraphs in IAS 12 are excluded from the syllabus: 
 
• Paragraphs 38 to 45 relating to group temporary differences; 
• Paragraphs 52A and B; 
• Paragraph 68 relating to equity-settled share-based payments; and 
• Disclosures required by paragraphs 82A to 88. 
 
The principle of examination of FRG1 is at core level. 
 
 

SECTION B  –  ADDITIONAL QUESTIONS 
 
QUESTION 5.1  (30 marks) 
 
The following information relates to Montana Ltd, a manufacturing company, which was incorporated 
on 1 March 20.9. 
 
1. On 1 September 20.9 property and plant were acquired at the following amounts (it may be 

assumed that these assets were immediately brought into use): 
    R              
 
 Land   2 000 000 
 Factory buildings 5 000 000 
 Office buildings 1 000 000 
 Plant   3 000 000 
 
 Property and plant is measured in terms of the cost model of IAS 16 Property, Plant and 

Equipment. 
 
 Montana Ltd provides for depreciation on the straight-line basis.  Depreciation has already 

been provided for on property and plant and is included in the accounting profit before tax. The 
depreciation rates are as follows: 

 
 • Factory and office buildings at 2,5% per annum, apportioned for a part of a year. 
 • Plant at 20% per annum, apportioned for part of a year. 
 
 The South African Revenue Service (SARS) allows the following capital asset allowances: 
 
 section 13(1)(b) - 5% per annum on factory buildings on the straight-line basis (not 

apportioned for part of a year). 
 section 12C - 40% for the first year and 20% per annum for the subsequent three years 

on the plant (not apportioned for part of a year). 
 
 The SARS does not allow any allowances on the office buildings. 
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2. The following balance relating to insurance is included in other receivables: 
 

   20.12 
R 

 20.11 
R 

Prepaid insurance premiums 35 000  25 000 
 
 These prepaid expense balances were tax deductible in the years in which the expenses were 

incurred, in accordance with section 11(a) read with 23H of the Income Tax Act. 
 
3. The profit before tax for the year ended 29 February 20.12, amounted to R1,5 million.  

Included in the R1,5 million are, inter alia, the following items: 
    R     
    Dr/(Cr) 
 
 Dividends received (not taxable) (210 000) 
 Fine for contravention of the Companies Act (not tax deductible) 10 000  
 Value of inventory destroyed in hail storm (deductible for tax purposes) 122 000  
 Donations paid (not tax deductible) 50 000  
 Revenue earned in the United States of America (taxed in the USA at 33%  

and not taxable in South Africa) (180 000) 
 
4. The final assessment issued by the SARS for the financial year ended 28 February 20.11 

reflected an assessed tax loss of R170 000 which was accepted by Montana Ltd as correct.  
The board of directors were of the opinion that there would be adequate taxable profit in the 
future to utilise this unused tax loss as the company’s budget includes new contracts that will 
generate profit in excess of R5 000 000 for the next three years. 

 
5. The Minister of Finance announced during his budget speech in February 20.12 that the 

normal taxation rate applicable to companies will decrease from 28% to 27% for all financial 
years starting on or after 1 March 20.12.  This is the first change in the tax rate in 10 years. 

 
6. There are no temporary differences other than those that are apparent from the question. 
 
REQUIRED 

 Marks 

Prepare the following notes to the financial statements of Montana Ltd for the year ended 
29 February 20.12: 
 
-  Income tax expense 
-  Deferred tax 
 
Please note: 
 
• The movement in temporary differences in the current tax calculation must be 

calculated using the statement of financial position method. 
• Comparative figures are not required. 
• Ignore any Value-Added Tax (VAT) implications. 
• Round off all amounts to the nearest Rand. 
• Your answer must comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

 
 
 

27 
  3 
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CHANGE IN TAX RATE 
 
The tax rate is changing for all financial years starting on or after 1 March 20.12.  As a 
result, Montana Ltd will pay current tax for the year ended 29 February 20.12 at 28% (the 
old tax rate) but will pay current tax at 27% for the financial year ending 
28 February 20.13.   
 
In accordance with IAS 12.47, deferred tax assets and liabilities shall be measured at the 
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability 
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period. As deferred tax represents future tax 
consequences on assets and liabilities, the deferred tax as at 29 February 20.12 should 
therefore be raised at the tax rate that will apply in future, being the new tax rate of 27%.   
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QUESTION 5.1  -  Suggested solution 
 
MONTANA LTD 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 20.12 
 
  R   
1. Income tax expense 
 
 Major components of tax expense 
 
 SA normal tax 

  
 
 
 
 

  

    Current tax [C1] 
    Deferred tax 

 249 200  
71 675  

 (6½) 

    -  Movement in temporary differences [C2] (135 000 x 28%) 
    -  Unused tax loss utilised [C2] (170 000 x 28%) 
    -  Change in tax rate [C2] 

 37 800  
47 600  

(13 725) 

 (11½) 
(1) 
(1) 

  
 SA normal tax 
 Foreign tax (180 000 x 33%) 
 Income tax expense 

                
320 875  
  59 400  
380 275  

 

  
 

(1) 

 Tax rate reconciliation 
 
 Accounting profit 
 Tax at 28% 
 Tax effect of non-taxable/non-deductible items: 
 -  Dividends not taxable (210 000 x 28%) 
 -  Fine not deductible (10 000 x 28%) 
 -  Donations paid not deductible (50 000 x 28%) 
 -  Depreciation on office buildings not deductible  
    (1 000 000 x 2,5% x 28%) 
 Effect of different tax rate on foreign revenue  
 (59 400 – (180 000 x 28%) 
 Change in tax rate [C2] 
 Income tax expense 

  
 

1 500 000  
420 000  

 
(58 800) 

2 800  
14 000  

 
7 000  

 
9 000  

 (13 725) 
380 275  

  
 

(½) 
(½) 

 
(½) 
(½) 
(½) 

 
(½) 

 
(1½) 
(½) 
        

   
 The income tax rate will decrease from 28% to 27% for the financial year starting 

1 March 20.13 and as a result deferred tax is raised at 27%. (IAS 12.81(d))   (1) 
   Total     (27) 
 

 
 

CHANGE IN TAX RATE AND DEFERRED TAX 
 
The income tax expense note represents income tax at the tax rate that is applicable for 
the financial year ended 29 February 20.12 (which is 28%).  The current tax and tax rate 
reconciliation will therefore be performed at 28%. 
 
The movement in deferred tax that is included in the income tax expense must also 
reflect 28%.  In the case of Montana Ltd, the change in tax rate to 27% is only calculated 
at the end of the year after the movements in deferred tax has been calculated at 28%.   

 



 FAC4863/102 

 NFA4863/102 
 ZFA4863/102 

 MJM 

51 

 
2. Deferred tax 
 
 Analysis of temporary differences: 
 Property, plant and equipment 
 -  Accelerated deductions for tax purposes  
  ((437 500[C2] + 900 000[C2]) x 27%) 
 Prepaid insurance (35 000[C2] x 27%) 
 Deferred tax liability 

R 
 
 
 
 

361 125  
    9 450  
370 575 

Total  

 
 
 
 
 

(2) 
(1) 
     
(3) 

 

 
 

DEFERRED TAX NOTE 
 
Don’t use the deferred tax amounts in the fourth column of the deferred tax calculation 
[C2] to complete the deferred tax note above as your deferred tax in the fourth column 
was calculated at 28% (and not the future tax rate of 27%).  The temporary differences 
must be multiplied with 27% to calculate the correct deferred tax for the deferred tax note. 

 
CALCULATIONS 
 
C1. Current tax 
 

Profit before tax (given) 
Non-taxable/non-deductible items: 

1 500 000   
 

[½] 

- Dividends received not taxable 
- Foreign revenue taxed in the USA 
- Fine for contravention of the Companies Act 
- Donations paid not deductible 
- Depreciation on office buildings not deductible (1 000 000 x 2,5%)1 

(210 000) 
(180 000) 

10 000   
50 000  

    25 000    

[½] 
[1] 
[½] 
[½] 
[1] 

Taxable profit before temporary differences 
Movement in temporary differences (taxable) [C2] 

1 195 000   
 (135 000) 

 
[1] 

Taxable profit before utilisation of unused tax loss 
Unused tax loss of prior year utilised in 20.12 
Taxable profit 
 
Current tax (890 000 x 28%) 

1 060 000   
 (170 000) 
  890 000   

 
249 200   

 
[1] 

 
 

 [½] 
    [6½] 
 

 
 

REMEMBER 
 
1 The SARS does not allow any tax deductions on the office building and as a result the 

depreciation is a non-deductible item in the current tax calculation, which will also then 
be a reconciling item in the tax rate reconciliation. 
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C2. Deferred tax 

 

Carrying 
amount 

Tax 
base 

Temporary 
differences 

Deferred 
tax 

asset/ 
(liability) 

28% 

 

28 February 20.11 
Land 
Factory buildings 
Office buildings 
Plant 
Prepaid insurance 
 
Unused tax loss 
Net deferred tax liability 

 
2 000 000  
4 812 500a 

962 500c 
2 100 000d  

25 000   
 

-             

 
2 000 000  
4 500 000b 

-      c 
1 200 000e    

-     k       
           

170 000  
  

 
-        

312 500  
Exempt  
900 000  

     25 000   
1 237 500   
 (170 000) 
1 067 500   

 
-        

(87 500)  
-        

(252 000)        
    (7 000)  
(346 500)  
   47 600  
(298 900)  

 
[1] 
[2] 
[1] 
[2] 
[1] 

 
[1] 

 
     

28% 
 

29 February 20.12 
Land 
Factory buildings 
Office buildings 
Plant 
Prepaid insurance 
Deferred tax liability @ 28% 

 
2 000 000  
4 687 500f 

937 500h 
1 500 000i  

35 000   
 

 
2 000 000  
4 250 000g 

-      c 

600 000j 
-      k 

 
-        

437 500   
Exempt  
900 000  

     35 000   
1 372 500    

 
-        

(122 500)  
-        

(252 000)        
    (9 800)  
(384 300)   

 
[½] 
[1] 
[½] 
[1] 
[½] 

 

Change in tax rate (384 300 x 1/28) 
Deferred tax liability @ 27% 

                   
1 372 500  

13 725  
(370 575) 

[1] 
 

 

 

Movement in temporary differences (excluding unused tax loss) 
(taxable) (1 372 500 – 1 237 500) 
Movement in unused tax loss (170 000 – 0) 
Change in tax rate 
Total movement in temporary differences (1 372 500 – 1 067 500) 

 
135 000  
170 000  
              

305 000  

 
(37 800) 

 (47 600) 
13 725  

 (71 675) 

 
[1] 

 
 

             
    [13½] 
 a 5 000 000 - (5 000 000 x 2,5% x 1½ years) = 4 812 500 
 b 5 000 000 - (5 000 000 x 5% x 2 years) = 4 500 000 
 c 1 000 000 - (1 000 000 x 2,5% x 1½ years) = 962 500 
  The SARS does not allow any deductions on the office buildings. See comment below. 
 d 3 000 000 - (3 000 000 x 20% x 1½ years) = 2 100 000 
 e 3 000 000 - (3 000 000 x 40% x 1 year) – (3 000 000 x 20% x 1 year) = 1 200 000 
 f 5 000 000 - (5 000 000 x 2,5% x 2½ years) = 4 687 500 
 g 5 000 000 - (5 000 000 x 5% x 3 years) = 4 250 000 
 h 1 000 000 - (1 000 000 x 2,5% x 2½ years) = 937 500 
 i 3 000 000 - (3 000 000 x 20% x 2½ years) = 1 500 000 
 j 3 000 000 - (3 000 000 x 40% x 1 year) – (3 000 000 x 20% x 2 years) = 600 000 
 k Section 23H of the Income Tax Act limits the tax deductibility of prepaid expenses, 

however, since these expenses fall within the R100 000 exclusion provided in section 
23H, the total expense will be tax deductible in the financial year in which the expense 
was incurred. The tax base of prepaid expenses amounts to Rnil as the SARS is allowing 
the full prepaid expense as a tax deduction in the current year. As a result, there are no 
tax deductions in future years. 



 FAC4863/102 

 NFA4863/102 
 ZFA4863/102 

 MJM 

53 

 

 
 

DEFERRED TAX ON LAND 
 
The land is measured in terms of the cost model of IAS 16. Land cannot be depleted 
through use and therefore no depreciation is allowed on land.  
 
The carrying amount of land is assumed to be recovered through sale under the 
assumption relevant to revalued land (IAS 12.51B). Therefore the tax base would then be 
equal to the base cost for CGT purposes, as this amount will be allowed as a deduction 
against the proceeds from the sale when calculating the capital gain on disposal.  
 
DEFERRED TAX ON OFFICE BUILDINGS 
 
The taxable temporary differences on the office buildings of R937 500 (as at 
29 February 20.12) and R962 500 (as at 28 February 20.11) do not give rise to deferred 
tax as a result of IAS 12.15(b)(ii).   
 
IAS 12.15(b)(ii) states that a taxable temporary difference is exempt from deferred tax if 
at the time of the transaction, it affected neither the accounting nor taxable profit.   
 
At the time of the transaction, the accounting profit was not affected by the acquisition of 
the office buildings, as office buildings were debited and bank/creditor was credited. The 
taxable profit was not affected in the accounting period in which the initial recognition 
occurs (no tax allowance is granted by the SARS). As a result, no deferred tax is raised 
for the office buildings.  
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QUESTION 5.2 (30 marks) 
 
The profit before tax of Kam Ltd for the year ended 31 December 20.12 amounted to R700 000 
(20.11: loss before tax of R585 000). Dividends that are not taxable amounted to R50 000 (20.11: 
R40 000) and donations paid that are not tax deductible amounted to R15 000 (20.11: R10 000).   
 
As at 31 December 20.10 the deferred tax liability amounted to R11 200 (which related only to 
equipment measured using the cost model). Equipment is recovered through use. As at 
31 December 20.11 the taxable temporary differences relating to equipment amounted to 
R25 000. As at 31 December 20.12 the taxable temporary differences relating to the equipment 
increased with R67 000.   
 
Except for any unused tax losses, the temporary differences on the equipment are the only 
temporary differences of Kam Ltd.  
 
The normal income tax rate is 28%.  As at 31 December 20.11 and 31 December 20.12, the 
company’s directors are uncertain about the ability of the company to generate taxable profit in 
future as the budget for 20.13 reflects an operating loss for Kam Ltd.  
 
REQUIRED 

 Marks 

Prepare the following notes to the financial statements of Kam Ltd for the year ended 
31 December 20.12: 
 
-  Income tax expense (10) 
-  Deferred tax 
 
Please note: 
 
• The movement in temporary differences in the current tax calculation must be 

calculated using the statement of financial position method. 
• Ingore any Value-Added Tax (VAT) implications. 
• Round off all amounts to the nearest Rand. 
• Your answer must comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

 
 
 

24 
  6 

 

 
 

COMMENTS ON INFORMATION GIVEN IN THE QUESTION 
 
The carrying amount and tax base of the equipment is not provided, only temporary 
differences and the movement in temporary differences are provided.     
 
Comparative figures must always be provided unless the question explicitly states 
that comparative figures are not required.  

 



 FAC4863/102 

 NFA4863/102 
 ZFA4863/102 

 MJM 

55 

 
QUESTION 5.2  -  Suggested solution 
 
KAM LTD 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 20.12 
 
2. Income tax expense 
 

Major components of tax expense 
 

20.12 
R 

 20.11 
R 

 

SA normal tax 
   -  Current tax  
Current year [C1] 
   Deferred tax   

 
  

-       
25 200  

  
  

-       
(11 200) 

 
 

(5) 

   -  Movement in temporary differences [C2]  
      (67 000 x 28%); (15 000 x 28%) 
   -  Unused tax loss created [C2] (25 000 x 28%) 
   -  Recognition of unused tax loss not previously 
      recognised [C2] ((600 000 – 25 000) x 28%)* 
   -  Unused tax loss utilised [C1] ((600 000 - 2 000)x 28%)* 

 
18 760  

-       
 

(161 000) 
167 440  

  
(4 200) 
(7 000) 

 
-       
-       

 
(4½) 

(2) 
 

(1½) 
(1½) 

     

 25 200   (11 200)  

Tax rate reconciliation 
 
Accounting profit/(loss) 

 
 

700 000  

  
 

(585 000) 

 
 

(1) 

Tax at 28% 
Tax effect of non-taxable/non-deductible items: 
- Dividends received not taxable  
     (50 000 x 28%); (40 000 x 28%) 
- Donations paid not deductible  
     (15 000 x 28%); (10 000 x 28%) 
Unused tax loss not recognised [C2]  
 ((600 000 – 25 000) x 28%) 
Unused tax loss utilised that was not previously 
 recognised ((600 000 – 25 000) x 28%) 

196 000   
 
 

(14 000) 
 

4 200   
 

-      
       

(161 000) 

 (163 800) 
 
 

(11 200) 
 

2 800   
 

161 000  
  

-       

(1) 
   
 

(2) 
 

(2) 
 

(1½) 
 

(1) 

Income tax expense 25 200   (11 200)  

 
 A previously unrecognised unused tax loss gave rise to a benefit of R161 000 that was used to 

reduce the current tax expense in the current year (IAS 12.80(e)).    (1) 
   Total     (24) 
 

 
 

MOVEMENT IN UNUSED TAX LOSS 
 
*Please note that the movement in the unused tax loss disclosed above as part of the 
income tax expense note reconciles to the total movement in the unused tax loss 
calculated in C2: 
  
Unused tax loss not previously recognised (161 000) 
Unused tax loss utilised  167 440  
Total movement per deferred tax calculation [C2]    6 440  
 
These two line items are included for disclosure purposes (IAS 12.80(e)). 
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7. Deferred tax 

 20.12 
R 

 20.11 
R 

 

Analysis of temporary differences: 
Property, plant and equipment 
- Accelerated deductions for tax purposes [C2] 
Unused tax loss for normal tax [C2] 

 
 

25 760  
(560) 

  
 

7 000  
(7 000) 

 
 

(2) 
(2) 

Net deferred tax liability 25 200   -        

 
 The company had an unused tax loss for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised in 

the prior year, due to the uncertainty regarding the probability of future taxable profits.  The 
unrecognised unused tax loss was as follows (IAS 12.81(e)): (1) 

 
Unused tax loss for which no deferred tax asset has been 
recognised (IAS 12.81(e)) (600 000 – 25 000) 

 
-       

  
575 000  

 

      (1) 
   Total     (6) 
CALCULATIONS 
 
C1. Current tax 

 20.12 
 

20.11 
 

 

Profit/(loss) before tax 
Non taxable/non-deductible items: 
- Dividends received not taxable 
- Donations paid not deductible 

700 000  
 

(50 000) 
15 000  

(585 000) 
 

(40 000) 
10 000  

[½] 
 

[1] 
[1] 

Taxable profit/(loss) before temporary differences 
Movement in temporary differences (taxable)/deductible [C2] 

665 000  
(67 000) 

(615 000) 
15 000  

 
[1] 

Taxable profit/(loss) for the year 
Unused tax loss of prior year 

598 000  
(600 000) 

(600 000) 
-       

 
[½] 

Cumulative tax loss as at 31 December 20.12 (2 000) (600 000) [1] 

    
Tax at 28% -       -        

        

   [5] 
 

 
 

UNUSED TAX LOSS OF PRIOR YEAR 
 
It is important to note that for purposes of the current tax calculation, the SARS does not 
consider whether or not Kam Ltd recognised the unused tax loss for deferred tax 
purposes.  Therefore, even though R575 000 (600 000 – 25 000) of the unused tax loss 
was not recognised for deferred tax purposes at 31 December 20.11, the SARS will allow 
Kam Ltd’s full unused tax loss of R600 000 as a deduction against taxable profits in the 
current tax calculation. 

 



 FAC4863/102 

 NFA4863/102 
 ZFA4863/102 

 MJM 

57 

 
C2. Deferred taxation 

 

Carrying 
amount 

Tax 
base 

Temporary 
differences 

Deferred 
tax at 
28%  

asset/ 
(liability) 

 

31 December 20.10 
Equipment (11 200 / 28%) 

 
? 

 
? 

 
40 000  

 
(11 200) 

 
[1] 

Deferred tax liability    40 000  (11 200)  

      
31 December 20.11 
Equipment 

 
? 

 
? 

 
25 000  

 
(7 000) 

 
[½] 

   25 000  (7 000)  
Unused tax loss [C1] (see comment below) - 600 000 (25 000) 7 000  [1] 

Net deferred tax liability   -      -       

 
 

     

Movement in temporary differences (excluding unused tax 
loss) (deductible) (25 000 – 40 000)  

 
(15 000) 

 
4 200  

 
[1] 

Movement in unused tax loss (deductible) ((25 000) – 0)  (25 000) 7 000  [1] 

Total movement in temporary differences (40 000) 11 200   

 

 
 

LIMITATION OF UNUSED TAX LOSS 
 
20.11  
 
The taxable temporary difference of R25 000, relating to equipment, represents future 
taxable profits when the carrying amount of the equipment is recovered in the future as a 
tax recoupment. In terms of IAS 12.35 the deferred tax asset on an unused tax loss is 
limited to the extent that future taxable profits are probable. On 31 December 20.11 the 
directors are of the opinion that the company will not generate future taxable profits. 
Therefore the only probable future taxable profits is the taxable temporary difference of 
R25 000 on the equipment. As a result the unused tax loss that may be recognised is 
limited to the taxable temporary difference of R25 000. 
 
The unused tax loss in 20.11 is calculated in C1 as R600 000. A deferred tax asset is 
recognised on only R25 000 of the unused tax loss of R600 000. When a deferred tax 
asset is recognised, the credit is to the income tax expense. As a result the deferred tax 
on the unused tax loss created is disclosed in the income tax expense note in 20.11 as 
a credit of R7 000 (R25 000 x 28%). 
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Carrying 
amount 

Tax 
base 

Temporary 
differences 

Deferred 
tax at 
28%  

asset/ 
(liability) 

 

31 December 20.12 
Equipment (25 000 + 67 000) 

 
? 

 
? 

 
92 000  

 
(25 760) 

 
[1] 

   92 000  (25 760)  
Unused tax loss [C1] (see comment below) - 2 000  (2 000) 560   

Net deferred tax liability   90 000  (25 200)  

 
 

     

Movement in temporary differences (excluding unused tax 
loss) (taxable) (92 000 - 25 000)  

 
67 000 

 
(18 760) 

 
[1] 

Movement in unused tax loss (reversal of deductible)  
((2 000) – (25 000))  

 
23 000 

 
(6 440) 

 

Total movement in temporary differences 90 000 (25 200)  

      
          

[6½] 
 

 
 

LIMITATION OF UNUSED TAX LOSS 
 
20.12  
 
Even though the directors did not foresee future taxable profits on 31 December 20.11, 
Kam Ltd made a taxable profit of R598 000 [C1] in 20.12. However, a deferred tax asset 
was recognised on only R25 000 of the 20.11 unused tax loss whilst, in the context of 
20.12 results, it now appears that the recognition of a deferred tax asset on the total 
unused tax loss of R600 000 would have been permissible. In situations like these, 
IAS 12 requires the disclosure of the deferred tax impact should the deferred tax asset 
have been raised on the total unused tax loss in previous years instead of applying the 
IAS 12.35 limitation. Since a deferred tax asset was raised on the R25 000 in 20.11, the 
disclosure of the deferred tax impact of the remaining unrecognised tax loss of R575 000 
is required in 20.12. This is disclosed in the income tax expense note in 20.12 as a credit 
of R161 000 ((R600 000 – R25 000) x 28%) under the description “recognition of an 
unused tax loss not previously recognised”. 
 
A portion of the unused tax loss created in 20.11 was utilised in 20.12 by deducting the 
tax loss from the 20.12 taxable profits (C1). This resulted in Rnil current tax for 20.12. 
Therefore, of the R600 000 unused tax loss, R598 000 was used in 20.12 to reduce the 
taxable profit. As a result, the deferred tax asset that relates to the portion of the tax loss 
that was utilised (R598 000 x 28% = R167 440), is derecognised in 20.12. The 
derecognition of this portion of the deferred tax asset is a debit to the income tax 
expense. Hence a debit of R167 440 is disclosed in the income tax expense note of 
20.12 as the unused tax loss utilised.  
 
The effect of the above, is that a deferred tax asset of R560 remains in the statement of 
financial position that represents the deferred tax on the unused tax loss of R2 000 at the 
20.12 year end. 
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LEARNING UNIT 6 – ACCOUNTING POLICY, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 
ESTIMATES AND ERRORS 

 
 

 

INTRODUCTION 
 
The purpose of this standard is to prescribe criteria for the selection of an accounting 
policy, as well as for the accounting treatment and disclosure of changes in accounting 
policies, changes in accounting estimates and correction of prior period errors, to ensure 
consistent preparation and presentation of financial statements. The standard enhances 
the comparability of the entity’s financial statements with previous periods, as well as with 
financial statements of other entities. 

 

 

OBJECTIVES /OUTCOMES 
 
After you have studied this learning unit, you should be able to do the following: 
 
1. Identify the objective of IAS 8 and be able to apply IAS 8. 
 
2. Provide guidance on the choice of an accounting policy regarding specific 

transactions. 
 
3. Identify, account for and disclose a change in accounting policy. 
 
4. Identify, account for and disclose changes in accounting estimates.  
 
5. Identify, account for and disclose errors. 

 

 

PRESCRIBED STUDY MATERIAL 
 
The following must be studied before you attempt the questions in this learning unit: 
 
1. IAS 8 Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors. 
 
2. Chapter on accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors in 

Descriptive Accounting, 21st edition. 
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THE REST OF LEARNING UNIT 6 IS BASED ON THE ASSUMPTION THAT YOU 
HAVE ALREADY STUDIED THE RELEVANT CHAPTERS IN THE PRESCRIBED 
STUDY MATERIAL. 

 
 

SECTION A  –  SAICA’S PRINCIPLES OF EXAMINATION 
 
The principle of examination of IAS 8 is at core level. 
 
 

SECTION B  –  ADDITIONAL QUESTION  
 
QUESTION 6.1 (56 marks) 
 
The following information is an extract of the trial balance of Piano Ltd for the year ended 
31 August 20.11.  Piano Ltd manufactures and sells pianos. 
 
  

 
Notes 

20.11 
R 

Dr/(Cr) 

20.10 
R 

Dr/(Cr) 
 
Gross profit (including provision for obsolete inventory at 8%) 
Interest received 
Other expenses 
Write-off of inventory destroyed due to flood 
Dividends paid (R0,25 per share); (20.10: R0,22 per share) 
Retained earnings at beginning of the year 

 
 
 

 
1 
5 

 
(2 371 420) 

(34 800) 
1 224 000  

31 900  
125 000  

(606 325) 

 
(2 144 000) 

-            
1 315 000  

-            
110 000  

(150 000) 

 
Additional information 
 
1. Six pianos were destroyed and consequently written off due to a flood that occurred during 

February 20.11.  The items were not insured and as a result no amount was recovered from 
the insurance company. 

 
2. Taking into account several factors, the directors of the company decided on 31 August 20.11 

to change the accounting policy in respect of the valuation of inventory. Piano Ltd previously 
valued inventories using the weighted average method, but now changed the policy to the 
first-in-first-out method, since it will result in a more relevant and reliable presentation of the 
value of inventory. No journals have been passed to account for this change in accounting 
policy. 

 
 The inventory values as at 31 August, based on the two methods of valuation, were as follows 

(before taking into account any provision for obsolete inventory): 
 

Basis 20.8 
R 

20.9 
R 

20.10 
R 

20.11 
R 

Weighted average method 
First-in-first-out method 

45 000 
48 500 

67 935 
72 826 

143 478 
182 065 

251 111 
293 000 

 
 The South Africa Revenue Service (SARS) will not re-open the previous years’ assessments, 

but will accept the new accounting policy for the current year for tax purposes. 
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3. Due to plans by the engineers to use a new range of parts in the manufacturing process of the 

pianos, the directors decided on 31 August 20.11 to increase the provision for obsolete 
inventory from 8% to 10% to provide for parts that are currently included in inventory that will 
become obsolete when the new range of parts are introduced. No journals have been passed 
to account for this change from 8% to 10%. 

 
4. During May 20.11 the bookkeeper established that the company omitted to claim the  

Value-Added Tax (VAT) in respect of some operating expenses relating to the 20.10 financial 
year. The total VAT on these operating expenses amounted to R75 000 and was included in 
other expenses. No journals have been passed to correct this error. The SARS indicated that 
the 20.10 VAT assessment will be re-opened to rectify regarding this matter. Piano Ltd is a 
registered VAT vendor. 

 
5. The issued ordinary shares have not changed in the past three years and no potential ordinary 

shares are in issue. Ignore Dividends Tax on the dividends paid. 
 
6. The only differences between the accounting profit before tax and the taxable profit are 

differences that are clearly evident from the information provided. 
 
7. As at 31 August 20.11, the directors of Piano Ltd are confident that the company will generate 

taxable profits in future. The budget for the next financial year reflects an operating profit due 
to a large number of piano orders. 

 
8. It may be assumed that, except for the VAT omission explained in point 4, all other amounts 

stated in the question exclude VAT. 
 
9. The normal income tax rate is 28% for 20.10 and 20.11.   
 
REQUIRED 
 Marks 

(a) Prepare the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for 
Piano Ltd for the financial year ended 31 August 20.11. 

 
 • Start the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income with the 

line-item “Gross profit”. 
 

(b) Prepare the statement of changes in equity (only the retained earnings column) for 
Piano Ltd for the financial year ended 31 August 20.11. 

 
 • It is the policy of Piano Ltd to disclose dividends paid per share on the face of 

the statement of changes in equity. 
 

(c) Prepare the following notes to the financial statements of Piano Ltd for the financial 
year ended 31 August 20.11: 

 
 - Profit before tax 
 - Change in accounting policy 
 - Prior period error  
 
Please note: 
 
• Round off all amounts to the nearest Rand. 
• The movement in temporary differences in the current tax calculation must be 

calculated using the statement of financial position method. 
• Your answers must comply with the International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS). 

27 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  4 
17 
  4 
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COMMENTS ON INFORMATION GIVEN IN THE QUESTION 
 
• The change in accounting policy must be applied retrospectively which means the 

information must be adjusted for: 
 - the current year ended 31 August 20.11, 
 - the previous year ended 31 August 20.10, and  
 - the opening balance for the previous year (1 September 20.9). 
 
• The valuations of inventory provided for 20.8 should not be used. 
 
• The change in the accounting policy will also affect the provision for obsolete 

inventory, since the provision of 8% is applied to the inventory balance that will 
change as a result of the change in accounting policy. 

 
• The change in the provision for obsolete inventory from 8% to 10% is a change in 

accounting estimate and must be applied prospectively. A change in estimate will 
always be applied from the beginning of the financial year in which the change 
occurred (refer p 64 no 2). 

 
• The prior period error regarding VAT that was not claimed must be corrected in the 

financial year that it occurred, being the financial year ended 31 August 20.10, since 
the SARS is re-opening and amending the 20.10 VAT assessment.  
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QUESTION 6.1  -  Suggested solution 
 

 
 

COMMENTS ON THE REQUIRED 
 
Comparative information is not specifically excluded from the required and therefore 
comparative information must be provided for all your answers (IAS 1.38-38A). 

 
(a)  
PIANO LTD 
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 31 AUGUST 20.11 
 
 Notes 20.11 

R 
 20.10 

R 
 

Gross profit [C4] 
Other income 
Other expenses (1 224 000 + 31 900)  
20.10: (1 315 000 - 75 000 (VAT)) 
Profit before tax 
Income tax expense [C6] 
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 
YEAR 

 
 
 
 

2 
 

2 368 598   
34 800   

 
(1 255 900) 
1 147 498   
  (321 300) 

826 198  
                  
   826 198   

 2 175 000   
-         

 
(1 240 000) 

935 000   
  (261 800) 

673 200  
                  
   673 200   

(13) 
(½) 

 
(2) 

 
(12) 

 
 

          
    Total     (27½) 
 
(b) 
PIANO LTD 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 20.11 
 
 Notes Retained 

earnings 
R 

 

Balance at 1 September 20.9 
Change in accounting policy  
Balance at 1 September 20.9 (restated) 
Total comprehensive income for the year  
- Profit for the year (restated) 
Dividends paid (R0,22 per share) 
Balance at 31 August 20.10 
Total comprehensive income for the year 
- Profit for the year 
Dividends paid (R0,25 per share) 
Balance at 31 August 20.11 

 
4 

150 000   
    3 240   
153 240   

 
673 200   

(110 000) 
716 440   

 
826 198   

 (125 000) 
1 417 638  

Total 

(½) 
(1) 

(½) 
 

(½) 
(½) 

 
 

(½) 
(½) 
      
 (4) 
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(c) PIANO LTD 
 
 NOTES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 20.11 
 
2. Profit before tax 
 
 The following items are included in profit before tax: 

Income 
20.11 

R 
 20.10 

R 
 

Interest received (IAS 18.35(b)(iii)) 34 800   - (1) 

Expenses 
    

Write-off of inventory as a result of flood (IAS 1.98(a)) 31 900     - (1) 
 

Included in cost of sales is a change in estimate regarding the provision for obsolete inventory.  
The provision was increased from 8% to 10% of the value of inventory to provide for parts 
currently included in inventory that may become obsolete.  The effect of the change in estimate 
is a decrease in profit of R5 860 (293 000 x 2%).  Since future inventory values are not known, 
it is not possible to calculate the future effect of the change in estimate (IAS 8.39). (2) 

    Total     (4) 
4. Change in accounting policy 
 
 The company changed its accounting policy during the year in respect of the valuation of 

inventory from the weighted average method to the first-in-first-out method.  This change was 
effected as it will result in a more relevant and reliable presentation of the value of inventory.  
The opening balance of retained earnings at the beginning of the 20.10 financial year was 
adjusted while the comparative amounts were restated accordingly.  The effect of the change 
in accounting policy on the results for 20.10 and 20.11 is as follows: (2) 

 
 20.11 

R 
 20.10 

R 
 1 Sep- 

tember 
20.9 

 

Decrease in cost of sales 3 0381   31 0004    (2) 
Increase in income tax expense (851)2  (8 680)5   (2½) 
Increase in profit 2 187    22 320      
 
Increase in inventory  

 
38 5383  

  
35 5006  

  
4 5008  

 
(3) 

Increase in deferred tax asset/ 
(increase in deferred tax liability) [C2] 
Increase in tax payable [C1] 

 
938   

(11 729)  

  
(9 940)7 

-      

  
(1 260)9 

-      

 
(5½) 

(1) 
Increase in equity 27 747    25 560    3 240    

 
Adjustment against retained earnings on 
  1 September 20.9 (IAS 8.29(d)) 

     
 

3 24010 

 
 

  (1) 
               Total     (17) 

1 3 302 [C1] – 264 [C2] = 3 038 
2 925 [C1] – 74 [C2] = 851 
3 41 889 [C1] – 3 351 [C2] = 38 538 
4 33 696 [C1] – 2 696 [C2] = 31 000 
5 9 435 [C1] – 755 [C2] = 8 680 
6 38 587 [C1] – 3 087 [C2] = 35 500 
7 10 804 [C1] – 864 [C2] = 9 940 
8 4 891 [C1] – 391 [C2] = 4 500 
9 1 369[C1] - 109[C2] = 1 260 
10 3 522[C1] – 282 [C2] = 3 240 
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INCREASE IN INCOME TAX EXPENSE 
 
The income tax expense line in the note for change in accounting policy includes both the 
current tax and movement in deferred tax. 

 
5. Prior period error  
 

The error relates to the correction in respect of the VAT amount which was incorrectly included 
in other expenses in 20.10 and not claimed as input VAT in 20.10.  The comparative amounts 
have been appropriately adjusted.  The effect of the correction of this error on the results of 
20.10 is as follows: (2) 
 
 20.10 

R 
 1 Sept 20.9 

R 
 

Decrease in other expenses 
Increase in income tax expense (75 000 x 28%) 

75 000   
(21 000)  

  (½) 
(½) 

Increase in profit 54 000     

 
Increase in VAT input account 
Increase in tax payable (75 000 x 28%) 

 
75 000   

(21 000) 

   
(½) 
(½) 

Increase in equity 54 000      

 
Adjustment against retained earnings at 1 September 20.9 
  (IAS 8.49(c)) (see comment below) 

   
 
- 

 
 

     

    Total      (4) 
 

 
 

DISCLOSURE REQUIRED FOR PRIOR PERIOD ERROR 
 
The disclosure required in terms of IAS 8.49(c) in the note for the prior period error above 
is not necessary as the error does not affect the opening balance of retained earnings 
(the error only affects the financial year ended 31 August 20.10).   
The disclosure required in terms of IAS 8.49(c) has been included in the note above as a 
reminder of the disclosure required for prior period errors.   

 
CALCULATIONS 
 
C1. Change in accounting policy (Inventory) 
 

 20.9 P/L 20.10 P/L 20.11 
 

 

First-in-first-out (new) 
Weighted average (old) 
 
Tax at 28% 

72 826  
(67 935) 

4 891  
 (1 369) 
  3 522  

 
 

33 696  
 (9 435) 
24 261  

182 065  
(143 478) 

38 587  
 (10 804) 
  27 783  

 
 

3 302  
  (925) 
2 377  

293 000  
(251 111) 

41 889  
 (11 729) 
  30 160  

 
 

[2½] 
[2½] 
      

     [5] 
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REMEMBER 
 

The change in accounting policy is calculated and the comparative amounts are restated 
before the change in accounting estimate is recognised. 

 
C2. Change in accounting policy (Provision for obsolete inventory) 
 

 
 

20.9 P/L 20.10 P/L 20.11  

First-in-first-out (new) 
  (8% of value of inventory) 
Weighted average (old) 
  (8% of value of inventory) 
 
Tax at 28% 

 
5 826  

 
(5 435) 

 391  
  (109) 
   282  

 
 
 
 

2 696  
  (755) 
1 941  

 
14 565  

 
(11 478) 

3 087  
    (864) 
  2 223  

 
 
 
 

264  
(74) 
190  

 
23 440  

 
(20 089) 

3 351  
    (938) 
  2 413  

 
[1½] 

 
[1½] 
[2½] 
[2½] 
        

       [8] 
 
C3. Change in accounting estimate (Provision for obsolete inventory) 
 

Provision for obsolete inventory after change in accounting policy [C2] 
Change in estimate from 8% to 10% (23 440 x 10%/8%) 
Increase in provision for obsolete inventory  

23 440  
29 300  
  5 860  

[½] 
[1] 

        
    [1½] 
 

 
 

RECONCILIATION OF PROVISION FOR OBSOLETE INVENTORY 
   
Balance at 31 August 20.11 before change in accounting 
policy and change in estimate (251 111 x 8%) [C1] 20 089  
Change in accounting policy (293 000 – 251 111) x 8% [C1]  3 351  
Change in accounting estimate (293 000 x (10% - 8%)) [C1]   5 860  
Balance at 31 August 20.11 29 300  
(after change in accounting policy and change in estimate) 

 
C4. Gross profit 

 20.11  20.10 
 

 

Gross profit - given 
Increase in closing inventory as a result of change in 
accounting policy [C1] (see comment below) 
Increase in provision for obsolete inventory as a result 
of change in accounting policy [C2] 
Increase in provision for obsolete inventory as a result 
of change in estimate from 8% to 10% [C3] 
 

2 371 420  
  

3 302  
 

(264)  
     

 (5 860)  
2 368 598   

 2 144 000  
 

33 696  
 

(2 696) 
    

    -          
2 175 000   

[1] 
 

[1] 
 

[1] 
 

[½] 
       

    [3½] 
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REMEMBER 
 

The increase in the closing inventory decreases cost of sales (which increases the profit). 

 
 

 20.11 20.10 
 Dr (Cr) Dr (Cr) 
   
Cost of sales (3 302) (33 696) 

Opening inventory 38 587  4 891  
Purchases xx   
Closing inventory (41 889) (38 587) 

 
C5. Current tax 

 20.11  20.10 
 

 

Profit before tax (see part (a)) 
There are no non-taxable/non-deductible items 
Taxable profit before movement in temporary differences 
Movement in temporary differences deductible/(taxable) [C6] 
Taxable profit for the year 

1 147 498  
       -          
1 147 498  
     53 322  
1 200 820  

 935 000   
      -       
935 000  
 (24 957) 
910 043  

[1] 
 
 

[2] 

 
Current tax at 28% 
Movement in deferred tax balance [C6](see comment below) 
Income tax expense 

 
   336 230   

 (14 930)  
321 300   

  
254 812   
    6 988  
261 800   

 
[2] 
[2] 
     

    [7] 
 

 
 

MOVEMENT IN DEFERRED TAX BALANCE  
 
The journals to account for the movement in the deferred tax balance are as follows: 
 
 Dr 

R 
Cr 
R 

For the year ended 31 August 20.10 
Income tax expense (deferred tax) (P/L) 
 Deferred tax (SFP) 

 
6 988  

 
 

6 988  

For the year ended 31 August 20.11 
Deferred tax (SFP) 
 Income tax expense (deferred tax) (P/L) 

 
14 930 

 
 

14 930 
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C6. Deferred tax 
 

 

Carrying 
amount 

Tax 
base 

Temporary 
difference 

Deferred 
tax at 
28% 

asset/ 
(liability) 

 

31 August 20.9 
Inventory [C1] 
Provision for obsolete inventory [C2] 
Deferred tax asset 

 
72 826  
(5 826) 

  

 
67 935  

-       

 
4 891 

(5 826)   
    (935)  

 

 
(1 369) 
1 631  
   262  

 

 
[1] 
[2] 
 

 
      
31 August 20.10 
Inventory [C1] 
Provision for obsolete inventory [C2] 
Deferred tax liability 

 
182 065   
(14 565) 

 
143 478  

-       

 
38 587  

(14 565)  
24 022     

 
(10 804) 

4 078  
  (6 726) 

 
[1] 
[½] 

 
 
 

Movement in temporary differences (taxable)  24 957  (6 988)  
      
31 August 20.11 
Inventory [C1] 
Provision for obsolete inventory [C3] 
Deferred tax asset  

   
293 000  
(29 300) 

 
 

          
293 000  

-      
  

 
-       

 (29 300) 
(29 300) 

 
-       

 8 204  
 8 204  

 
 

[½] 
 
 

Movement in temporary differences (deductible)  (53 322) 14 930       
    [5] 
 

 
 

COMMENT 
 
The SARS will not re-open the tax assessments for the financial years ended 
31 August 20.9 and 20.10 to accommodate the change in the accounting policy but will 
allow the new valuation method from the current financial year (20.11).  A deferred tax 
liability is raised on 31 August 20.9 and 20.10 due to the SARS only allowing inventory 
valued using the old valuation method as a deduction as part of cost of sales. 

 



 FAC4863/102 

 NFA4863/102 
 ZFA4863/102 

 MJM 

69 

 

SECTION C  –  ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  
 
1. IAS 1:  Statements of financial position 
 
 According to IAS 1.40A-B an entity shall present three statements of financial position if an 

accounting policy is applied retrospectively, or if the entity makes retrospective restatements or 
reclassifications. 

 
 Examples when three statements of financial position are required: 
 
 • Retrospective change in accounting policy for valuation of inventory (e.g. weighted 

average to first-in-first-out); 
 • Errors in prior periods; 
 • Reclassification adjustments of amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 

income to profit or loss; 
 • Reclassification adjustments on disposal of a foreign operation, derecognition of 

available-for-sale financial assets and when a hedged forecast transaction affects profit 
or loss (IAS 1.95); or 

 • Other retrospective changes in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors. 

 
If financial statements are thus presented for the year ended 31 December 20.12 and the 
accounting policy for valuation of inventory was changed retrospectively, statements of 
financial position will have to be presented on 1 January 20.11, 31 December 20.11 and 
31 December 20.12 (if the information is available). 

 
 Other than the disclosure required by IAS 1.41-44 and IAS 8, IAS 1.40C states that the 

entity need not present the related notes to the opening statement of financial position as at 
the beginning of the preceding period.   

 
2.  Propective application of change in estimate 
 
 IAS 8.38 – Prospective recognition of the effect of a change in an accounting estimate means 

that the change is applied to transactions, other events and conditions from the date of the 
change in estimate. 

 
 IAS 16.51 The residual value and the useful life of an asset shall be reviewed at least at each 

financial year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the change(s) shall be 
accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting 
policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. 

 
 According to IAS8.38 a change in estimate is accounted for from the date of the change in 

estimate. However, since the residual value and the useful life of assets can be re-estimated 
during the year (refer to IAS16.51 above), a change in estimate with regard to the residual 
value or useful life of an asset will be accounted for from the beginning of the financial year 
in which the change in estimate occurred.  
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LEARNING UNIT 7 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT  
 
 

 

INTRODUCTION 
 
The Standard defines fair value and provides guidance on determining fair values and 
sets out disclosure requirements relating to fair values. 

 

  

OBJECTIVES/OUTCOMES 
 
After you have studied this learning unit, you should be able to do the following: 
 
1. Identify the scope and purpose of IFRS 13.  
 
2. Define fair value and other applicable definitions. 
 
3. Understand the following concepts: principal market, most advantageous market, 

orderly transaction, market participants and the price.   
 
4. Determine the fair value of non-financial assets by referring to the highest and best 

use of the asset. 
 
5. Apply the specific application of IFRS 13 to liabilities and an entity’s own equity 

instruments. 
 
6. Identify valuation techniques to be followed which must be consistent with one or a 

combination of the either the market, cost or income approach.  
 
7. Understand the three levels of fair value measurement, which classification thereof 

depends on the degree of observable markets (fair value hierarchy).  

 

 

PRESCRIBED STUDY MATERIAL 
 
The following must be studied before you attempt the questions in this learning unit: 
 
1. IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. 
 
2. Chapter on fair value measurement in Descriptive Accounting, 21st edition. 

 



 FAC4863/102 

 NFA4863/102 
 ZFA4863/102 

 MJM 

71 

 

 

THE REST OF LEARNING UNIT 7 IS BASED ON THE ASSUMPTION THAT YOU 
HAVE ALREADY STUDIED THE RELEVANT CHAPTERS IN THE PRESCRIBED 
STUDY MATERIAL. 

 
 

SECTION A  –  SAICA’S PRINCIPLES OF EXAMINATION  
 
The principles of examination of IFRS 13 is at core level, to the extent that it provides guidance on 
fair value measurement relating to transactions or topics included in the syllabus. 
 
The following paragraphs in IFRS 13 are excluded from the syllabus: 
 
• Paragraphs 48 to 56 relating to offsetting positions; and 
• Paragraphs 91 to 99 relating to disclosure. 
 
 

SECTION B  –  ADDITIONAL EXAMPLES AND QUESTIONS  
 

 

EXAMPLES 

 
Example 1 – Orderly transaction 
 
Scenario: Bekele holds an investment of 1 500 unlisted shares in Kiplagat Ltd. During June 20.12 

an unrelated party sold its holding of Kiplagat Ltd shares for R2 million (R100 per share). 
Other transactions in the shares of Kiplagat Ltd during the reporting period indicate that 
the shares of the seller would have been sold for at least R4 million in one of these 
transactions. Bekele investigated and determined that the seller accepted the first offer 
that it received and that the seller’s creditors shortly afterwards applied for the company’s 
liquidation. 

 
Solution: The definition (IFRS13.9) of fair value determines that the transaction used to determine 

fair value should be orderly. 
 
  An orderly transaction is defined as a transaction that assumes exposure to the market 

for a period before the measurement date to allow for marketing activities that are usual 
and customary for a transaction involving such an asset or liability: it is not a forced 
transaction. 

 
  The circumstances clearly indicate that the seller was in financial distress and the 

transaction did not occur under normal conditions. 
 
  Bekele would place little, if any, weight on the transaction and rather consider the other 

transactions that took place during the financial year. 
 
  The fair value per share is determined at R200 per share. 
 
  Conclusion: The fair value of the investment in unlisted shares of Kiplagat Ltd is (1 500 x 

R200) R300 000. 
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  Fair value hierarchy: Level 2 
 
Example 2 – Principal market 
 
Scenario: Bekele holds 1 000 shares in Defar Ltd. Defar Ltd is a company listed on the 

JSE Limited. The share price of Defar Ltd according to the JSE was R250 per share on 
30 June 20.12. Bekele determined that it is possible to conclude an off-market 
transaction of R300 per Defar Ltd share. 

 
Solution: An entity determines the fair value measurement with reference to the principal market 

for the asset or if no principal market exists, with reference to the most advantageous 
market for the asset (IFRS 13.16). 

 
  IFRS 13 defines the principal market as the market with the greatest volume and level of 

activity for the asset or liability which in this case is the JSE. 
 
  Even though the most advantageous market is the off-market transaction for the listed 

share of R300 per share; the principal market is the JSE, where the share price is R250 
per share. 

 
  Conclusion: The fair value of the listed investment in Defar Ltd is R250 000 (1 000 x 

R250). 
 
  Fair value hierarchy: Level 1 
 
Example 3 – Application to liabilities 
 
Scenario: At the beginning of the financial year, Bekele issued 1 000 debentures of R200 each, 

carrying interest at 7% per annum. The debentures are redeemable in five years’ time. 
Bekele designated this liability, as subsequently measured at fair value through profit or 
loss. There is no observable market for liabilities of this nature. At 30 June 20.12, the 
instrument is trading as an asset in an active market at R195 per debenture. 

 
Solution: Even when there is no observable market to provide pricing information about the 

debentures, there is an observable market for such items if they are held by other parties 
as assets. 

 
  Conclusion: The debentures will be measured at R195 000 (1 000 x 195). 
 
  Fair value hierarchy: Level 1 
 
Example 4 – Principal market or most advantageous market 

 
To determine the most advantageous market you need to take into account the exit price less 
transaction cost less transport cost, but the fair value you use is only the exit price less 
transport cost (refer IFRS 13 IE – Example 6). 
 
A Ltd has machinery that is traded in three different markets.  
 
 Market A Market B Market C 
Volume (annual) 20 000 12 000 10 000 
Price 10 000 9 800 11 000 
Transport cost (5 000) (5 000) (5 500) 
Possible fair value 5 000 4 800 5 500 
Transaction cost (1 000) (1 000) (1 200) 
Net Proceeds 4 000 3 800 4 300 
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Which market is the principal market? 
Market A (highest volume) 
Which market is the most advantageous market? 
Market C (R4 300) 
What is the fair value of a machine? 
R5 000 (Market A = Principal market) 

 
 
 

IFRS 13 ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLES 
 

Refer to the illustrative examples in a GUIDE THROUGH IFRS part B1 for examples 
explaining various concepts of IFRS 13.  

 
 

 

QUESTIONS 

 
QUESTION 7.1 (10 marks) 
 
Umhlanga Holdings (Pty) Ltd (Umhlanga) owns an investment property (land and a building) situated 
in Tongaat, KwaZulu-Natal. The building is a warehouse that is leased to an unrelated third party 
who uses the building as a distribution facility. Recently, residential development has taken place in 
the area surrounding the property. This has led to substantial increases in the value of residential 
properties in the area. The most recent development is that the town council has in principle 
approved the rezoning of the Tongaat property owned by Umhlanga, for residential development.  
 
Umhlanga is seriously considering the possibility of developing the land into a residential estate, in 
which units will initially be leased out. Umhlanga has already enlisted the services of an architect 
who drew up plans for the proposed development. The architect was paid for his services in 
December 20.14.  
 
Umhlanga has been in negotiations with a contractor to develop the residential property. The 
contractor will commence work after the existing building has been demolished. The scope of the 
contractor’s work will include all relevant earthworks, infrastructure development and construction of 
the residential units. 
 
After doing extensive research into the planned residential property development, Umhlanga 
determined that the fair value of the property would be R4 million if it were to pursue the opportunity. 
The valuation committee of Umhlanga questioned the significant difference between R4 million fair 
value of the residential development and the current fair value (determined on the income approach) 
of the investment property of R2 518 000 as disclosed in the draft annual financial statements for the 
year ending 31 December 20.14. 
 
REQUIRED 
 Marks 
Discuss, with reasons, whether the fair value measurement of the Tongaat investment 
property included in the draft annual financial statements for the year ending 
31 December 20.14 is appropriate in terms of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. 
 

Communication skills: logical argument 

9 
 
 
 
1 

 
(Source: SAICA ITC June 2015 (revised)) 
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QUESTION 7.1 – Suggested solution 
 
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an 
asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (IFRS 13.9). 
 
IFRS13.15 requires that the price to sell the asset should be determined at measurement date 
(31 December 20.14). It also appears that Umhlanga has access to the principal (or most 
advantageous) market for this property at the measurement date.  (1) 
 
The valuation included in the draft financial statements for the year ending 31 December 20.14 
(R2 518 000) used an income approach. This is an appropriate valuation technique in terms of 
IFRS 13.  (1) 
 
The fair value measurement should take into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use (IFRS13.27). 
 
The highest and best use of a non-financial asset is the use by market participants that would 
maximise the value of the asset (Tongaat property) within which the asset would be used. (1) 
 
The highest and best use of a non-financial asset takes into account the use of the asset that is 
physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible, as follows (IFRS13.28): 
 
• A use that is physically possible takes into account the physical characteristics of the asset 

that market participants would take into account when pricing the asset (eg the location or size 
of a property) – it is physically possible to use the property either as a warehouse (current use) 
or to convert it into residential property (potential use). (1) 

• A use that is legally permissible takes into account any legal restrictions on the use of the 
asset that market participants would take into account when pricing the asset (eg the zoning 
regulations applicable to a property) – it is legally permissible to use the property under its 
current use as a warehouse or to rezone the property for potential use as residential. (1) 

• A use that is financially feasible takes into account whether a use of the asset that is physically 
possible and legally permissible generates adequate income or cash to produce an investment 
return that market participants would require from an investment in that asset put to that use – 
the current use as a warehouse generate cash flows from leasing and potential use and 
conversion into residential property also appears financially feasible (taken into account the 
costs to convert and the return that will be earned). (1) 

 
It appears as if the residential development is the highest and best use over the leasing alternative 
based on the following: 
 
• Recent residential development has taken place in the area surrounding the property. (1) 
• Substantial increases in the value of residential properties in the area indicates that the higher 

and best use is the residential development. (1) 
• If the property are zoned for residential development, the costs to finalise are marginal. (1) 
• Umhlanga is seriously considering the development, which would also imply that it has 

identified the opportunity to unlock value. (1) 
• Based on the valuation performed, the higher and better use value is the residential estate of 

R4 000 000 and rather than the R2 518 000 value based on current use of leasing out the 
premises. (1) 

 
Conclusion 
 
It appears as if the valuation should be based on the residential development use and it is unlikely 
that the fair value of R2 518 000 (based on current use) is appropriate in the current circumstances. 
     (1) 
   Total     (12) 
   Maximum       (9) 
   Communication skills: logical argument       (1) 
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QUESTION 7.2 (10 marks) 
 
Desert Storage Ltd (Desert) is a company that owns two self-storage unit complexes in Kimberley. 
These units are rented to individuals or companies as secure storage spaces to be used as needed. 
Desert has a 31 December year end. 
 
Desert’s storage complexes are unique in that the units are made up of individual shipping 
containers that are stacked in a specific manner. Desert obtains its shipping containers from 
Johannesburg where the market for containers is highly liquid due to the large number of containers 
stored there. During 20.14 the average price for a container similar to the size and condition used by 
Desert in Johannesburg was R28 000. There is a small market for containers in Kimberley. The 
average price of a container in Kimberley was R29 000 during 20.14. Desert purchased 10 new 
containers on 29 December 20.14 from an insolvent estate at R24 000 each. 
 
The financial director decided to use a discounted cash flow method to determine the fair value of 
the containers. The financial director determined that the fair value of the containers was R30 750 
each. 
 
During the year Desert became aware of a new alternative use for shipping containers. The metal 
used for the containers has excellent anti-corrosion qualities and is thus in demand in coastal areas 
for roof sheeting and other construction elements. Desert was offered R29 500 by three different 
steel merchants for disassembled containers in December 20.14. The costs to disassemble each 
container are negligible. The managing director indicated that Desert is a family business and is not 
interested in selling the containers to the steel merchants. 
 
REQUIRED 

 Marks 

Discuss, with reasons, the appropriate fair value in terms of IFRS 13 Fair value of each 
container for the year ended 31 December 20.14. 
 

Communication skills: logical argument 
 
Please note: 
 
• Your discussion should make reference to all the possible amounts 

Desert Storage Ltd will consider in determining the appropriate fair value. 
• Your answer must comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

  9 
 
 

  1 
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QUESTION 7.2 – Suggested solution 
 
Orderly transaction 
 
IFRS 13.24 states that fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly 
transaction in the principal (or most advantageous market) at the measuring date.  
 
The R24 000 that was paid per container was not indicative of an orderly transaction as liquidation 
sales are in this case not ordinary transactions.  (1) 
 
Thus the transaction price of R24 000 is not appropriate to use as fair value. (½) 
 
Principal market vs most advantageous market 
 
The principal market is the market in which the entity would normally enter into a transaction to sell 
the asset (IFRS 13.17) or it is the market with the greatest volume and level of activity.  
 
The principal market is the Johannesburg market, as this is the market with the greatest volume. (½) 
 
The most advantageous market is in Kimberley at R29 000 per container but an entity can only use 
the most advantageous market in the absence of a principal market.(IFRS 13.17). (½) 
 
Thus the R28 000 in the principle market will be considered as appropriate fair value. (½) 
 
Discounted cash flow valuation method 
 
An entity should maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of 
unobservable inputs when using valuation techniques (IFRS 13.61). 
 
IFRS 13 established a fair value hierarchy that gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets (level 1 inputs) and the lowest priority to valuation methods that use 
unobservable inputs (level 3 inputs)(IFRS 13.72). 
 
The discounted cash flow calculation uses unobservable inputs in the way of future income and 
occupancy rates. This results in this valuation technique being classified at level 3.   (1) 
 
The market value obtained from the principal market uses quoted prices in an active market as the 
trade in containers in Johannesburg is highly liquid. This valuation can be classified at level 1. (1) 
 
The fair value calculation using quoted prices is more preferable than the discounted cash flow 
valuation method in the fair value hierarchy. Therefore the fair value of R28 000 should be 
considered as an appropriate fair value. (1) 
 
Fair value is also a market-based measurement and not an entity-specific measurement  
(IFRS 13.2). 
 
The R30 750 is entity-specific as it reflects the use that the company will receive from using the 
asset. The company valuation of R30 750 per container is thus not appropriate. (1) 
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Highest and best use 
 
The fair value measurement of non-financial assets requires that one takes into account markets 
participants’ ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset at its highest or best use 
(IFRS 13.27).  
 
The highest and best use of a non-financial asset takes into account the use of the asset that is 
physically possible, legally permissible and financial feasible (IFRS 13.28). 
 
There is an alternative use for the containers other than being used as storage units. The containers 
can be disassembled and used as roof sheeting. This alternative use is physically possible as the 
cost to disassemble is negligible, it is legally permissible and financially feasible. (2) 
 
Desert has no intention to dispose of the containers in this manner but the highest and best use is 
determined from the perspective of market participants (IFRS 13.29). (1) 
 
Thus the R29 500 will be considered as an appropriate fair value. (½) 
 
Conclusion 
 
The two possible fair value amounts per container was the principle market amount of R28 000 and 
the highest and best use amount of R29 500. The highest and best use for non-financial assets will 
be considered as the appropriate fair value (R29 500).      (2) 

Total      (12½) 
Maximum          (9) 

Communication skills: logical argument           (1) 
 



 FAC4863/102 

 NFA4863/102 
 ZFA4863/102 

 MJM 

78 

 

SECTION C  -  ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  
 
IFRS 13 FAIR VALUE 
 
IFRS 13 provides guidance on how to measure fair value, the scope of which is summarised in the 
table below: 
 

Fair value 
measurement 

Measured under  
IFRS 13 

Disclosed under 
IFRS 13 

Share-based payment N N 

Business combination Y Y 

Fair value less costs to sell (IFRS 5, IAS 36) Y N 

Net realisable value and value-in-use N N 

Leases N N 

Revaluation model in PPE Y Y 

Financial instruments Y Y 
(many in IFRS 7 already) 

Investment property Y Y 

Plan assets – IAS 19 Y N 

Agriculture Y Y 

 
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
 
IFRS 13 requires that the principal market is used to measure fair value.  Should the principal market 
not be determinable, the most advantageous market is used. 
 
Fair value is determined based on the unit of account in terms of the relevant standard that the asset 
or liability is accounted for.  Therefore, control or liquidity premiums or discounts are not taken into 
account when determining fair value. 
 
The fair value of non-financial assets is determined by reference to the asset’s highest and best 
use irrespective of its current use.  The highest and best use of an asset must be physically 
possible, legally permissible and financially feasible. 
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The following valuation techniques may be used to determine fair value: 
 

Market approach Prices and other relevant information are used to value the asset.  The prices 
are obtained from market transactions involving identical or comparable assets 
or groups of assets and liabilities. 
 

Income approach Future amounts (for example cash flows and income or expenses) are 
converted to a single current discounted amount. 
 

Cost approach Reflects the amount that would be required currently to replace the service 
capacity of an asset (current replacement cost). 

 
Each of the valuation techniques will require the use of inputs in order to determine the fair value.  
IFRS 13 requires that the inputs are classified in the following categories.  This classification will 
affect the disclosure required. 
 

Level 1 Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the entity can access at the measurement date. 
 

Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability either directly or indirectly. 
 

Level 3 Unobservable inputs. 

 
The valuation method used to determine the fair value should maximize the use of relevant 
observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
   (Source: Accountancy SA, June 2013 p 24-25:  SAICA) 
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SELF ASSESSMENT QUESTIONS AND SUGGESTED SOLUTIONS 
 

 

COMMENT 
 
SAICA is advancing the assessment of students’ ability to critically evaluate information 
provided in case study-format questions and, combined with a sound knowledge of 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), requires of students to mostly supply 
their solution in a discussion format. 
 
With reference to the above SAICA changes, students need to note that tests and exams 
will now require solutions mostly in a discussion format (theory). In the past, only 25% of 
a test or exam paper required a discussion format solution. Going forward, test and 
exams will require 50% or more of the solution to be in a discussion format. 

 

Question Question name Source Marks Topics covered Page 

1 Alebrew Ltd 
Masia Ltd 

FAC4863 
Test 1/2019 

40 Disclosure: 
• Income tax 
Calculation 
• Inventory 
Disclosure: 
• Income tax 
• Change in accounting policy 

  81 

2 Lallana Ltd 
Juice Ltd 
Maiweather Ltd 

FAC4863 
Test 1/2018 

40 Disclosure: 
• Income tax 
• Inventory 
Discussion: 
• Presentation of Financial 

Statements 

  91 

3 Firmino Ltd 
Milnex Ltd 
Gabby Ltd 

FAC4863 
Test 1/2017 

40 Disclosure: 
• Income tax 
Journals 
 Prior period error 
Calculation: 
• Inventory 

100 

4 Venus Ltd FAC4863 
Test 1/2016 

32 Disclosure: 
• Income tax 
Calculation: 
• Inventory 

108 

5 Bucaneers Ltd FAC4863 
Test 1/2015 
 

38 
 

Disclosure: 
• Income tax 
Theory and calculations: 

116 

 Sporti Ltd   • Inventory  

6 Audit FAC4863 
Test 1/2014 

21 Theory and calculations: 
• Inventory 
Disclosure: 
• Income tax 
• Prior period error 

125 
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QUESTION 1  40 marks 
 

 

YOU HAVE 15 MINUTES TO READ THIS QUESTION 
 

 
 
You are a student studying towards your Certificate in the Theory of Accountancy (CTA) 
qualification. As part of your preparation for your final accounting examination, you assisted an audit 
firm with the following independent client queries: 
 
Client 1: Alebrew Ltd (Alebrew) 
 
IGNORE VALUE ADDED TAX (VAT) 
 
Alebrew has established itself as the leading distributor of ale beer in South Africa and supplies a 
wide range of customers from the hospitality sector. Alebrew was incorporated in South Africa and 
has been listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange since 19.98 and has a 31 December year 
end. 
 
Alebrew purchases the ale beer from various breweries across South Africa. After purchase, the ale 
beer is stored by Alebrew in bulk tanks at their facilities. The ale beer which is stored and measured 
in litres, is then bottled and marketed in 50 litre casks. 
 
Alebrew's current selling price for ale beer amounts to R50 per litre, which includes a 10% deposit 
for the returnable ale cask. Thus Alebrew collects a deposit for each cask delivered to the customer 
and is required to refund the deposit when the casks are returned by customers. Disruptions in 
production of ale beer from breweries during the summer months resulted in Alebrew only selling 
and distributing 1 200 000 litres of ale beer to customers in the 20.18 financial year. Alebrew’s 
bottling facilities bottle approximately 1 250 000 litres of ale beer per annum. 
 
The following expenses were incurred by Alebrew during the 20.18 financial year: 
 

Description 
Note 

 
R 
 

Depreciation - returnable casks 1 2 500 000  
Storage costs 2 

  - Filled casks 
 

1 800 000  
 - Ale beer in bulk tanks 

 
2 200 000  

Depreciation on vehicles 3 
  - Depreciation on tankers 

 
8 500 000  

 - Depreciation on delivery trucks 
 

2 800 000  
Bottling overhead costs 

 
12 800 000  

Raw material 4 ? 
 
Notes 
 
1. Returnable casks in circulation are recorded as part of property, plant and equipment at cost, 

net of accumulated depreciation. Returnable casks are not derecognised upon the sale of 
goods. The cost of the casks are depreciated to their residual values over their estimated 
useful lives. 

 
2. Storage costs comprises of the cost to store filled casks and ale beer in bulk tanks. 
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3. Depreciation on vehicles relates to tankers and delivery trucks. The tankers transport the ale 

beer from the breweries to Alebrew's bottling facilities, while delivery trucks are used to 
transport casks to and from customers. 

 
4. The raw material comprises of ale beer sourced from breweries. There were 300 000 litres of 

ale beer in bulk tanks and filled casks on hand on 1 January 20.18 with a carrying amount of 
R10 500 000. Purchases for the 20.18 financial year amounted to 1 400 000 litres at R18 per 
litre. A portion of ale beer is lost in transit from the breweries to delivery at the bottling facilities 
of the company through spillage and leakage. During the 20.18 financial year Alebrew's losses 
through spillage and leakage were 3% (regarded normal). 

 
Alebrew had 458 000 litres of ale beer in bulk tanks and filled casks on hand at 31 December 20.18. 
 
Additional information 
 
1. Alebrew uses the weighted average cost model, calculated on an annual basis, to determine 

the cost of inventories. 
 
2. Overhead costs of Alebrew are allocated based on litres of ale beer. 
 
Client 2: Masia Ltd (Masia) 
 
IGNORE VAT 
 
Masia is listed in the industrial sector of the Johannesburg Stock Exchange and has a  
28 February 20.19 financial year end. 
 
The following information relates to Masia Ltd for the year ended 28 February 20.19. 
 
1. The profit before tax for the year, before taking into account the information in notes 2 to 4, is:  
 

 20.19 
R 

20.18 
R 
 

 21 290 000  18 964 000  
 
2. The depreciation expense of R4 000 000 for the 20.19 financial year does not include a 

change in estimate of R560 000 (an increase in depreciation) arising from a revision of the 
estimated useful lives of vehicles. The revision of useful lives was done after the profit before 
tax in note 1 was calculated. The carrying amount and tax base of the vehicles, before taking 
into account the change in estimates, are as follows: 

 
 Carrying 

amount 
R 

Tax 
base 

R 
 

28 February 20.18 26 000 000  18 000 000  
28 February 20.19 22 000 000  12 000 000  

 
 No vehicles were purchased or sold during the 20.18 and 20.19 financial years. 
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3. After the profit in note 1 was calculated the directors decided to change the accounting policy 

of the company in respect of the valuation of inventories. Previously the company valued 
inventories on the weighted average method and changed the policy to the first-in-first-out 
method, since it will result in more relevant and reliable presentation of the effect of inflation on 
the company’s inventory balances. The inventory values at the end of February, based on the 
two methods of valuation, were as follows: 

 
 20.19 

R 
20.18 

R 
20.17 

R 
 

Weighted average method (old) 1 413 000  1 370 000  1 312 000  
First-in-first-out method (new) 1 490 600  1 440 000  1 369 000  

 
 Assume that SARS will not re-open the previous year’s assessments for the change in the 

valuation method. 
 
4. Masia acquired land for R2 000 000 on 10 March 20.18. The land is measured at the cost 

model in terms of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment. It is the policy of the company to 
subsequently measure land according to the revaluation model. The fair value of the land on 
28 February 20.19 amounted to R3 000 000. No entry has been recorded to reflect the 
revaluation. 

 
5. Included in profit before tax are, among others, the following items: 
 

 20.19 
R 
 

Dividends received (not taxable) 200 000  
Foreign income (after deduction of R10 000 foreign taxes) that is not taxable in 
South Africa 

 
50 000  

Donation (not deductible) 10 000  
 
6. The normal income tax rate is 28% and the capital gains inclusion rate is 80%.  
 
7. The tax payable account in the general ledger on 28 February 20.19 is as follows: 
 

 20.19 
R 
 

Opening balance (1 March 20.18) (tax payable in respect of 20.18) 5 300 000  
Payment made in final settlement of 20.18 assessment (5 240 000) 
Provisional payments made in respect of 20.19 (3 200 000) 

 (3 140 000) 
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REQUIRED 
 

 

YOU HAVE NOW 60 MINUTES TO ANSWER THIS QUESTION 
 

 
 

 Marks 
 

(a) Calculate the cost of ale beer inventories as it would appear in the statement of 
financial position of Alebrew Ltd for the financial year ended 31 December 20.18. 
Your workings should, with regard to each expenditure item, indicate reasons for your 
decision to either include or exclude it from the cost of ale beer inventories. 

 

11 
 

(b) (i) Prepare the change in accounting policy note to the financial statements of 
Masia Ltd for the year ended 28 February 20.19 as required by IAS 8  
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting estimates and errors. 

 
 Please note: 
 • Disclosure of the amount of adjustment relating to periods before the 20.18 

period presented is not required. 
 • Disclosure relating to the adjustment to basic and diluted earnings per share is 

not required. 
 

Communication skills: presentation and layout 
 

  9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  1 

 (ii) Calculate the profit or loss before tax of Masia Ltd for the year ending  
28 February 20.19. 

 

  2 

 (iii) Prepare the income tax expense note to the financial statements of Masia Ltd 
for the year ended 28 February 20.19 as required by IAS 12 Income Taxes. 

 
 Please note: 
 • The movement in temporary differences in the current tax calculation must be 

calculated using the statement of financial position method. 
 • The tax expense reconciliation should be done in accordance with IAS 12.81(i). 
 • Comparative figures are not required. 
 

Communication skills: presentation and layout 
 

16 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  1 

Please note: 
 
• Round off all amounts to the nearest Rand, except for any unit costs of inventory 

which should be rounded off to two decimals.  
• Assume all amounts to be material except where stated otherwise. 
• Your answer must comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
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QUESTION 1 – Suggested solution 
 
(a) Calculate the cost of ale beer inventories as it would appear in the statement of financial 

position of Alebrew Ltd for the financial year ended 31 December 20.18. 
 

 R/unit R  
1. Depreciation on returnable casks 
 

   

 Two possible alternative arguments exist regarding the 
treatment of the depreciation related to returnable casks. 
All alternatives are considered correct should the 
candidate sufficiently justify this. 

 

   

 Argument 1 
 

   

 The returnable casks are treated as Property, Plant and 
Equipment and are not part of the product sold. The 
depreciation of the casks cannot form part of the cost of 
the ale beer as they are merely used for transporting the 
finished product to the customer and would thus be a 
selling cost expensed in terms of IAS 2.16 (d). 

 

  
 
 
 
 

- 

 

 Argument 2 
 

   

 The ale beer cannot be effectively transferred to 
prospective buyers without the related casks and are 
therefore necessary for bringing the inventory to the 
location and condition required by Alebrew to generate 
completed sales transactions (IAS 2.10). The ale beer 
inventory should therefore include the depreciation cost. 

 

 2 500 000   

 Argument 
 Amount 
 

  (1) 
(1) 

2. Storage costs 
 

   

 There are two possible alternative arguments that exist 
regarding the treatment of the storage cost related to the 
ale beer. All alternatives are considered correct should the 
candidate sufficiently justify this. 

 

   

 Argument 1 
 Storage costs of casks 
 

   

 These cost are selling costs and therefore excluded from 
the cost of inventory (IAS 2.16(d)). 

 

  
- 
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 R/unit R  
 Storage cost of ale beer in bulk tanks 
 

   

 The ale beer is stored in bulk tanks before being bottled 
and distributed to customers. The tanks merely house 
finished product and therefore these cost should not be 
allocated to the cost of ale beer inventory. These cost are 
selling cost and therefore excluded from the cost of 
inventory (IAS 2.16(d)). 

 

  
 
 
 
 

- 

 

 Argument 2 
 Storage costs of cask 
 

   

 These cost are selling costs and therefore excluded from 
the cost of inventory (IAS 2.16(d)). 

 

  
- 

 

 Storage cost of ale beer in bulk tanks 
 

   

 The ale beer is stored in bulk tanks before being bottled 
and distributed to customers. Therefore the ale beer does 
undergoes further processing (IAS 2.16(b)) before it is 
ready for sale. Therefore these storage cost should be 
allocated to the cost of ale beer inventory. 

 

  
 
 
 

2 200 000  

 

 Argument 
 Amount 

  (1) 
(1) 

 
3. Depreciation on vehicles 
 
 Delivery trucks 
 

   

 Depreciation on delivery tucks is a selling cost and 
therefore excluded from the cost of inventory (IAS 
2.16(d)). 

 

  
- 

 
(2) 

 Tankers 
 

   

 Depreciation on tankers would qualify as this cost is 
necessary to bring the ale beer to its present location and 
condition ready for sale (IAS 2.10). 

 

  
 

8 500 000 

 
 

(2) 
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 R/unit R  
4. Bottling overhead costs 
 

   

 Argument 1    
 These cost are selling cost and therefore excluded from the 

cost of inventory (IAS 2.16(d)). 
 

  
- 

 

 Argument 2 
 

   

 This relates to production and therefore necessary to 
getting inventory in the location and condition necessary 
for sale and should be included (IAS 12.10). 

  
 

12 800 000  

 

 
 Argument 
 Amount 

   
(1) 
(1) 

 
 Total overhead cost to be allocated - depending on 

alternatives 1 – 2 
  

xxxx  
 

 
 The overhead cost should be allocated on the normal 

capacity of 1 250 000 litres (IAS2.13) per year. 
 

   
 

(1) 

 The overhead allocation rate - Alternative 1 – 2 
 (XXXX/1 250 000) 
 

 
x 

  
(1) 

5.  Raw material 
 

   

 The raw material cost of the ale beer is a cost of purchase 
and should be included within the cost of inventory 
(IAS 2.11). 

   
 

(1) 
 

 - Abnormal amounts of waste should not be included in 
the cost of inventory, which implies that normal amounts 
of waste should be included in the cost of inventory 
(IAS 2.16(a). 

   
 
 

(1) 
 

 - Input cost:     300 000 litres x R35/litre = 10 500 000    (1) 
 1 400 000 litres x R18 litre = 25 200 000    (1) 

  35 700 000     

  Cost per unit = R35 700 000/1 658 000 (1 700 000 – 
42 000 normal loss (1 400 000 x 3%) 

   
(2) 

  R21,53/litre (weighted average cost) 21,53   

  Total cost per litre x   

    

 Total cost of inventories 
 (total cost per litre x 458 000 litres) 

  
xx  

 
(1) 

 Consider of NRV - inventory can only be sold for R45  
(R50 - 10%) 

   
  (1) 

  Total (20) 
  Maximum (11) 

 



 FAC4863/102 

 NFA4863/102 
 ZFA4863/102 

 MJM 

88 

 
(b) MASIA LTD 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 20.19 
 

(i) Change in accounting policy 
 
  The company changed its accounting policy in respect of the valuation of inventory from 

the weighted average method to the first-in-first-out method. This change was effected to 
ensure a more relevant and reliable presentation. (1) 

 
  The change in policy was accounted for retrospectively and comparative amounts have 

been appropriately restated. The effect of this change is as follows: (1) 
 

 20.19 
R 
 

20.18 
R 

 

Decrease in cost of sales [C1] 7 600  13 000  (4) 
Increase in tax expense (at 28%) (2 128) (3 640) (1) 

Increase in profit for the year 5 472  9 360   

    
Increase in inventory [C1] 77 600  70 000  (1) 
Increase in current tax payable (at 28%) (21 728) - (½) 
Increase in deferred tax liability (at 28%) - (19 600) (½) 

Increase in equity 55 872  50 400        

  Total (9) 
Communication skills: presentation and layout (1) 

 
 (ii) Calculation of profit before tax for the 20.19 financial year 
 

 20.19 
R 
 

 

Profit given 21 290 000  (½) 
Plus: Change in accounting policy [C1] 7 600  (½) 
Change in estimate (560 000) (½) 
Tax on foreign income 10 000  (½) 

Profit before tax 20 747 600        

 Total (2) 
 



 FAC4863/102 

 NFA4863/102 
 ZFA4863/102 

 MJM 

89 

 
 (iii) Income tax expense 
 
  Major components of tax expense 

 20.19 
R 
 

 

SA normal tax 5 295 728  (½) 

- Current year [C2] 5 355 728  (9½) 
- Prior year overprovision (5 300 000 – 5 240 000) (60 000) (1) 

Deferred tax – Movement in temporary differences [C3] 383 600  (½) 

 5 679 328   
Foreign tax 10 000  (½) 

 5 689 328   

   
Tax rate reconciliation   
Accounting profit before tax [(b)(ii)] 20 747 600  (½) 

Taxation at 28% 5 809 328  (½) 
Tax effect of non-deductible/non-taxable items:   
- Dividends received (200 000 x 28%) (56 000) (1) 
- Donations and penalties (10 000 x 28%) 2 800  (1) 
Difference in tax rate on foreign income 
(10 000 – (60 000 x 28%)) OR (10 000 – 16 800) 

 
(6 800) 

 
(1) 

Overprovision of 20.17 current tax (60 000) (½) 

Income tax expense 5 689 328         

 Total (16) 
Communication skills: presentation and layout   (1) 

 
CALCULATIONS 
 
C1. Change in accounting policy 
 

 20.19 P/L 20.18 P/L 
 

20.17  

FIFO (new) 1 490 600   1 440 000   1 369 000  [1½] 
Weighted average (old) 1 413 000    1 370 000    1 312 000  [1½] 

 77 600  7 600  70 000  13 000  57 000  [2] 
Tax at 28% (21 728) (2 128) (19 600) (3 640) (15 960)  

 55 872  5 472  50 400  9 360  41 040          

         [5] 
 
C2. Current year tax 
 

Profit before tax [(b) (ii)] 20 747 600  [½] 
Non-deductible/non-taxable items:   
Dividends received (200 000) [½] 
Donations and penalties 10 000  [½] 
Foreign income (50 000 + 10 000) (60 000) [1] 

 20 497 600   
Movement in temporary differences [C3] (1 370 000) [6½] 

 19 127 600   

   
Current tax (19 127 600 x 28%) 5 355 728    [½] 

  [9½] 
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C3. Deferred taxation 
 

 
Carrying 
amount 

Tax 
base 

Temporary 
differences 
at 100% or 

80% 

Deferred 
tax at 28% 

asset/ 
(liability) 

 

20.18      
Vehicles 26 000 000  18 000 000  8 000 000  (2 240 000) [1] 
Inventory 1 440 000  1 370 000  70 000  (19 600) [1] 

 27 440 000  19 370 000  8 070 000  (2 259 600)  

 
20.19      
Land 3 000 000  2 000 000  800 000  (224 000) [1½] 
Vehicles  
(22 000 000 - 560 000) 21 440 000  12 000 000  9 440 000  (2 643 200) [1½] 

 24 440 000  14 000 000  10 240 000  (2 867 200)   

      
Movement in temporary differences:     
Movement through OCI   800 000  (224 000)   
Movement through profit or 
loss 
(10 240 000 – 800 000 OCI – 
8 070 000)   1 370 000  (383 600) [1½] 

   2 170 000  (607 600)         

     [6½] 
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QUESTION 2  40 marks 
 

 

YOU HAVE 15 MINUTES TO READ THIS QUESTION 
 

 
 
IGNORE ANY VAT IMPLICATIONS 
 
You are an IFRS expert who is employed by Jsauhm Consultants. The following independent and 
unrelated issues were brought to your attention for your expert advice and opinion. 
 
Client 1: Lallana Ltd (Lallana) 18 marks 
 
Lallana is a company operating in the manufacturing and maintenance industry. Lallana is listed on 
the Johannesburg Stock Exchange and has a 31 December financial year end. 
 
You are currently reviewing the financial statements of Lallana. Your assistant has presented the 
following schedule of information relating to the year ended 31 December 20.17: 
 

Item R 

Lallana's accounting profit for the year ended 31 December 20.17 after correctly 
accounted for all items: 5 750 000  

Dividends received: 74 500  
 Dividends received are exempt from normal tax in terms of s 10(1)(k). 

Foreign income received (after deduction of R5 000 relating to foreign taxes): 35 000  
The foreign income is not taxable in South Africa. 

 Gain on disposal of land:  350 000  
Lallana puchased land for the future development of a new factory building on  
31 March 20.16. Due to the recent availability of factory buildings in the area, Lallana 
sold the land at an amount of R1 550 000 on 1 January 20.17. The original cost of the 
land amounted to R1 200 000. Land is measured according to the cost model in terms 
of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment. The proceeds from the sale of land is a 
receipt of a capital nature for tax purposes. 

 Depreciation on plant and equipment: 876 000  
The tax allowances on the plant and equipment amounted to R900 000. On  
31 December 20.17 the carrying amount of the plant and equipment amounted to 
R3 168 000 while the tax base was R2 500 000. 

 Correction of prior period error: 300 000  

On 30 November 20.16 Lallana received an amount of R300 000 from a customer for 
services that were rendered during February 20.17. The accountant recognised the 
R300 000 as revenue in November 20.16. For tax purposes, the R300 000 was taxed in 
the financial year ended 31 December 20.16. 

 Assessed tax loss on 31 December 20.17: -  
Lallana suffered operating losses during the previous financial year and had an 
assessed tax loss of R900 000 on 31 December 20.16. The company correctly utilised 
R344 000 of the assessed tax loss by recognising a deferred tax asset of R96 320 
relating to the assessed loss on 31 December 20.17. 
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Additional information 
 
1. There are no temporary differences other than those that are apparent from the information 

contained in the question. 
 
2. The only non-taxable and non-deductible items included in the accounting profit or loss are 

those that are apparent from the information provided. 
 
3. The normal income tax rate is 28% and the capital gains tax inclusion rate is 80%. 
 
4. You may assume that all amounts are material. 
 
Client 2: Juice Ltd (Juice) 13 marks 
 
Juice is one of the larges fruit juice producers in South Africa. The company has a 31 December 
financial year end and is listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange.  
 
Juice purchases their fruit from the various farmers and only the best quality fruit are selected to 
enter the production process. Any substandard fruit that do not enter the production process are sold 
to surrounding farmers as animal feed.  
 
The previous year’s financial statements indicated a closing balance for raw materials (fruit) of 
R2 800 000 (carried at cost) and for finished products of R3 500 000 (carried at cost). Since Juice 
closes for the December holidays, there are no work-in-process at financial year end. The fruit juice 
is ready to be sold once it has been packaged. 
 
Juice purchased fruit to the value of R3 755 000 during the current financial year. One of Juice’s 
regular suppliers, Mr Golden, had an exceptional harvest and sold R600 000 worth of apples to Juice 
which is included in the R3 755 000. Due to early payment, Juice received a 5% on R600 000 
discount that was allocated to the discount received account under other income. Upon receipt of the 
abovementioned apples, two crates of apples amounting to R5 000 (before discount) each, were 
only half full. Juice was refunded for the loss in apples. 
 
A normal spillage, amounting to R0,25 per liter of the quantity that entered the production process, 
occurs with the packaging of the fruit juice. 
 
The inventory count at the financial year end indicated the following: 
 
• R500 000 worth of fruit was identified as substandard and will be sold for R150 000 as animal 

feed early in the following financial year; and 
• the closing balance for raw materials amounted to R1 197 050; and  
• 50% of the finished products manufactured in the current financial year were the only finished 

products on hand at the financial year end. 
 
At year end Juice pledged R500 000 worth of inventory as security for a short-term loan. 
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Other information relating to the year ended 31 December 20.17:  
 

 R 

Income received from the sale of substandard fruit (cost: R430 000) to surrounding 
farmers during the year. 

185 000 

Delivery cost: Fruit collected from farmers 230 000 

Delivery cost: Finished products (fruit juice) delivered to customers 485 000 

Fixed costs:  
• Finished product storage cost 925 000 

• Depreciation: Property, plant and equipment: Manufacturing 850 000 

   Property, plant and equipment: Other 250 000 
Normal capacity: 600 000 liters of fruit juice per annum 
Actual capacity: 450 000 liters for the current financial year 

 

Other variable cost R2 per liter 
Actual spillage at the end of production process (with the packaging of the fruit 
juice) 

R0,45 per liter 

Sales commission paid during the year R330 000 

 
 
Client 3: Maiweather Ltd (Maiweather) 9 marks 
 
The financial manager, Mr Matlala, prepared the statement of financial position of Maiweather as at 
31 December 20.17 and sent you a copy for a final review. You have assisted Mr Matlala with the 
previous year's financial statements and he awaits your feedback to finalise the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 20.17 before he sends it to the chief financial officer for approval. 
Mr Matlala provided you with notes regarding the matters that he is unsure of. 
 
MAIWEATHER LTD 
 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 20.17 
 

 
Notes 20.17 

  
R’000 

ASSETS 
  Non-current assets 
  Property, plant and equipment 
 

39 500 
Intangible assets 

 
6 700 

  
46 200 

   Current assets 
  Inventories 
 

20 200 
Trade receivables 1 20 500 
Other current assets 

 
1 500 

Cash and cash equivalents 
 

2 500 

  
44 700 

Total assets 
 

90 900 
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 Notes 20.17 
 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

 

R’000 

Equity attributable to the owners of the parents   
Share capital 

 
14 200 

Retained earnings 
 

31 000 
Other components of equity 

 
1 500 

Total equity 
 

46 700 

 
Non-current liabilities 

  Long-term borrowings 2 24 600 

Total non-current liabilities 
 

24 600 

 
Current liabilities 

  Trade and other liabilities 
 

3 300 
Allowance for credit losses 1 1 500 
Short-term borrowings 3 2 500 
Current tax payable 

 
9 500 

Deferred tax 
 

2 800 

Total current liabilities 
 

19 600 

Total liabilities 
 

44 200 

Total equity and liabilities 
 

90 900 

 
Notes 
 
1.  Maiweather uses the simplified approach in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

when determining the expected credit losses for trade receivables. The R1 500 000 allowance 
for credit losses is the lifetime expected credit losses of the trade receivables. 

 
2.  Long-term borrowings of R24 600 000 represents a loan obtained from Africa Bank. The 

interest rate charged by Africa Bank is market related. The loan is repayable over 10 years. 
The loan instalments of R4 500 000 each are payable on 31 December of each year. The 
instalment on 31 December 20.18 will consist of R1 860 000 interest and a R2 640 000 capital 
re-payment. 

 
3. On 1 April 20.17 Maiweather obtained a short-term loan from Smart Bank amounting to 

R2 500 000. The loan and interest is repayable on 31 March 20.18, however the terms of the 
agreement stipulates that Maiweather has the discretion to extend the loan's repayment date 
to 31 December 20.19 at an additional fee of R50 000. The applicable interest rate for the 
extended period will be renegotiated. Mr Matlala indicated that the chief financial officer has 
instructed him to start with the negotiation of the new interest rate for the extended loan period 
with Smart Bank since Maiweather intends to extend the loan. 
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REQUIRED 
 

 

YOU HAVE NOW 60 MINUTES TO ANSWER THIS QUESTION 
 

 
 

 Marks 
 

(a) Prepare the income tax note to the financial statements of Lallana Ltd for the year 
ended 31 December 20.17 as required by IAS 12.79, 80 and 81(c)(i) Income Taxes 
(refer to client 1). 

 
 Please note: 
 • Comparative figures are not required. 
 • The movement in temporary differences in the current tax calculation has to be 

calculated by using the statement of financial position method. 
 

Communication skills: presentation and layout 
 

17 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  1 

(b) Disclose the inventory in the inventory note to the financial statements of Juice Ltd 
for the year ended 31 December 20.17 (refer to client 2). 
 

 Please note: 
 • Comparative figures are not required. 
 • Narrative information is required relating to the information that was supplied in 

the question. 
 

Communication skills: presentation and layout 
 

12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  1 

(c) Discuss the presentation and classification issues in terms of IAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements relating to the statement of financial position of Maiweather Ltd 
as at 31 December 20.17 (refer to client 3). 

 
 Please note:  
 • Your feedback should include any incorrect presentation and classification and 

the suggested corrections of the errors noted.  
 • Your answer should include calculations. 
 

Communication skills: logical argument 

  8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  1 
 

Please note: 
 
• Round off all amounts to the nearest Rand.  
• Your answer must comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
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QUESTION 2 – Suggested solution 
 
(a) LALLANA LTD 
 
 NOTES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 20.17 
 
11. Income tax expense 
 
 Major components of tax expenses  
 

 
20.17 

R  
SA normal taxation 

  Current tax 
  -  Current year 1 215 620  (5) 

Deferred tax 187 040  
 -  Movement in temporary differences 90 720  (4) 

-  Recognition of unused tax loss not previously recognised  
 (900 - 344 x 28%) (155 680) (1) 
-  Unused tax loss uitilised (900 000 x 28%) 252 000  (1) 

   

 
1 402 660  

 Foreign Tax 5 000  (1) 

 
1 407 660  

 Tax rate reconciliation 
     Accounting profit 5 750 000  (½) 

Taxation at 28% 1 610 000  (½) 
Tax effect of non-deductible/non-taxable items: 

  -  Dividends received (74 500 x 28%) (20 860) (1) 
-  Accounting profit on land not taxable (350 000 x 20% x 28%) (19 600) (1) 
Difference in tax rate on foreign income (5 000 - (40 000 x 28%) (6 200) (1) 
Unused tax loss that was not previously recognised (155 680) (1) 

 
1 407 660         

 
Total (17) 

Communication skills: presentation and layout   (1) 
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CALCULATIONS 
 
C1. Deferred tax  
 

 

Carrying 
amount 

Tax 
base 

Temporary 
difference 
at 100% or 

80% 

Deferred 
tax 
28% 

asset/ 
(liability) 

       
31 December 20.16 

     Land 1 200 000  1 200 000  - - 
 Plant (3168 + 876)(2500 + 900)  4 044 000  3 400 000  644 000  (180 320) 
 Contract liability (300 000) - (300 000) 84 000  
 

   
344 000  (96 320) 

 Unused tax loss 
 

900 000  (344 000) 96 320  
 

   
- - 

       31 December 20.17 
     Land - - - - 

 Plant  3 168 000  2 500 000  668 000  (187 040) [1] 

   
668 000  (187 040) 

 Unused tax loss - - - - 
 

   
668 000  (187 040) 

       Movement in temporary differences 
through P/L (668 000 - 344 000) 

  
324 000  (90 720) [3] 

Movement in unused tax loss 
  

344 000  (96 320)   

   
668 000  (187 040) 

  
C2. Current tax calculation 

 
 

 Profit 5 750 000  
 Non-taxable/Non-deductible items: 

   - Dividends received not taxable  (74 500) [½] 
 - Accounting profit on land not taxable (350 000 x 20%)  (70 000) [1] 
 - Foreign income (35 000 + 5 000)  (40 000) [1] 
Movement in temporary differences  (324 000) [1] 

Taxable profit before tax loss 5 241 500  
 Unused loss of prior year  (900 000) [1] 

 
4 341 500  

 Tax at 28% 1 215 620  [½] 

  
 [5] 
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(b) Inventory note  
 

JUICE LTD 
 
NOTES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 20.17 
 

5.  Inventory  
 20.17 

R 
 

   
Raw materials [given] 1 197 050 (½) 
Finished products [C1] 3 110 350 (10) 

 4 307 400  

   
The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales 
amounted to RXXX.  
Inventories held at net realisable value amounted to R350 000. The write-down of 
inventories to net realisable value amounted to R150 000. 

 
 
 

(1) 
Inventory to the value of R500 000 was pledged as security for a short-time loan.  (½) 

Total (12) 
Communication skills: presentation and layout   (1) 

 
CALCULATIONS 
 
C1. Finished products 
 

 Raw 
materials 

Work-in-
process 

Finished 
products 

 

     
Opening balance 2 800 000  -      3 500 000  (1) 
     
Purchases 3 755 000    (½) 
  Less: Discount (R600 000 x 5%) (30 000)   (1) 
  Less: Refund (R5 000/2 x 2) x 95% (4 750)   (1) 
  OR:Less: [(R600 000 – R5 000) x 5% +  
  R5 000 = R34 750] 

    

Transport costs 230 000    (½) 
Transferred from  4 773 200  6 220 700    
Depreciation (450’L/600’L x R850 000)  637 500   (1) 
Abnormal spillage 
(450 000L x (R0,45 - R0,25)) 

  
(90 000) 

  
(1½) 

Fruit sold as animal feed during the year (430 000)   (½) 
Write-down to nett realisable value  
(R500 000 – R150 000) 

 
(350 000) 

   
(½) 

Variable cost (450 000L x R2)  900 000   (1) 
Closing balance 
(Given) 
(R6 220 700 x 50%) 

 
(1 197 050) 

  
 

(3 110 350) 

 
(½) 
(1) 

Transferred to 4 773 200  6 220 700  6 610 350   
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(c) Maiweather Ltd 
 

Comparative information  
According to IAS 1.38 an entity shall present comparative information in respect of the 
preceding period for all amounts reported in the current period's financial statements. 
 

 

IAS 1.38A stipulates that a minimum of two statements of financial position shall be 
presented. 
 

 

Maiweather Ltd needs to present comparative information in respect of the preceding 
financial period ended 31 December 2016, this will also ensure there is a minimum of 
two statements of financial position presented. 

 
 

(2) 
 

Long-term borrowings  
IAS 1.61 stipulates that an entity shall disclose the amount expected to be settled after 
more than twelve months for each liability line item that combines amounts expected 
to be settled no more than twelve months after reporting period and more than twelve 
months after reporting period. 

 
 
 
 
 

Therefore the amount that is included in the R24 600 000 long-term borrowings that 
will be settled on or before 31 December 20.18 must be shown as the current portion 
of long-term borrowing and classified as current liabilities. 

 
 

(1) 
 

The capital re-payment amount of R2 640 000 must be disclosed as current liabilities 
and the amount of R21 960 000 (R24 600 000 – R2 640 000) as non-current liabilities. 

 
(1) 

 
Offsetting  
In terms of IAS 1.32 and .33 an entity shall not offset assets and liabilities and should 
report both assets and liabilities separately. 

 
 
 

According to IAS 1.33 measuring assets net of valuation allowance is not offsetting.  
 

Therefore, the classification of the allowance for credit losses under current liabilities is 
not correct and should be offset against the trade receivables of R20 500 000. 

 
(1) 

 
The final trade receivables presented in the statement of financial position should be 
R19 000 000 (R20 500 000 – R1 500 000). 

 
(1) 

 
Short-term borrowings  
In terms of IAS 1.73 if an entity expects and has the discretion to roll over an 
obligation for at least 12 months after the reporting period under an existing loan 
facility, it classifies the obligation as non-current even if it would otherwise be due 
within a shorter period. 
 

 
 
 
 

According to the terms of the loan agreement Manyonga Ltd has the discretion to roll 
over the loan from Smart Bank and Manyonga Ltd expects that the entity will roll over 
the loan since they have already started to negotiate this with Smart Bank. 

 
 

(1) 
 

The loan of R2 500 000 should be classified as non-current liabilities since the rollover 
of the loan to 31 December 20.19 is more than 12 months after the reporting period of  
31 December 20.17. 

 
 

(1) 
 

Deferred tax  
According to IAS 1.56 when an entity presents current and non-current liabilities as 
separate classifications in its statement of financial position, deferred tax liabilities 
shall not be classified as current liabilities. 

 
 
 
 

Therefore, the deferred tax balance of R2 800 000 is incorrectly classified as current 
liabilities and should be classified as part of non-current liabilities. 

 
(1) 

Total (9) 
Maximum (8) 

Communication skills: logical argument (1) 
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QUESTION 3 40 marks 
 

 

YOU HAVE 15 MINUTES TO READ THIS QUESTION 
 

 
THIS QUESTION CONSISTS OF TWO SEPARATE PARTS THAT ARE NOT RELATED TO EACH 
OTHER. 
 
PART I 
 
You are a chartered accountant at a large firm which provides accounting, advisory, external audit 
and taxation services to a wide range of clients. You are requested to assist two audit clients with the 
finalisation of their annual financial statements. 
 
Client 1 - Firmino Ltd 
 
The financial director of Firmino Ltd (Firmino) approached your firm after the financial manager, 
Mr Klopp, resigned shortly before he could attend to certain outstanding matters with regard to the 
financial statements of Firmino for the year ended 31 December 20.16. Firmino is a diversified 
business and is listed on the the JSE Limited. 
 
Mr Origi, the assistant accountant in training, has prepared the following tax rate reconciliation from 
information in Mr Klopp's working file on tax matters: 
 

 
Note Amount 

  

R 
 

Income tax expense 1.1 6 785 800  

 
Tax on accounting profit (R29 100 000 x 28%) 

 
8 148 000  

Reconciling items 
  Dividend tax on dividend declared 1.3 1 200 000  

Tax rate differences on foreign income (R12 000 000 x (28% - 15%) 1.4 (1 560 000) 

Income tax expense 
 

7 788 000  

 
Difference (7 788 000 – 6 783 800) 

 
1 002 200  

 
Notes  
 
1. Notes from Mr Klopp's working file on taxation.  
 
 You may assume that all the information contained in the file is correct. 
 
 1.1 Firmino's profit before tax is R29 100 000 and the related income tax expense is 

R6 785 800. You may assume that the profit before tax and related income tax expense 
is correctly calculated. 
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 1.2 Firmino has the following temporary differences on assets: 
 

 

Carrying 
amount 

Tax base 

Temporary 
differences 
at 100% or 

80% 

 
R R R 

31 December 20.15 
   Property, plant and equipment 2 500 000 1 800 000    700 000 

31 December 20.16 
   Property, plant and equipment  5 500 000 2 845 000 2 655 000 

    Movement in taxable differences on assets  
(2 655 000 - 700 000)  

 
1 955 000 

 
  The above calculation of temporary differences was calculated correctly. There are no 

temporary differences other than the above temporary differences on assets and those 
apparent from the question. 

 
  The South African Revenue Services (SARS) assessment for 20.15 reflects an assessed 

tax loss of R925 000. On 31 December 20.15 Firmino was of the opinion that future 
taxable profit will not be available in 20.16 against which the unused tax loss can be 
utilised. 

 
 1.3 Firmino paid a gross dividend of R8 000 000 in cash to its shareholders during the 

current financial year. Dividend tax to the amount of R1 200 000 was correctly withheld 
from the dividend payment to the shareholders. 

 
 1.4 Included in profit before tax is an amount of R12 000 000 for services rendered in a 

foreign country and therefore not taxable in South Africa. The foreign tax on this income 
is payable at a tax rate of 15%. 

 
 1.5 Firmino raised a provison for current tax amounting to R2 300 000 for the financial year 

ended ended 31 December 20.14. The original assessment issued by SARS for the 
31 December 20.14 year of assessment reflected income tax of R 2 600 000. Firmino 
disputed the assessment issued by SARS by lodging an objection to the additional 
R300 000 income tax payble. SARS disallowed the objection on 30 April 20.16 and 
informed Firmino that the original assessment issued will not be amended. Firmino 
accepted the original assessment issued by SARS and correctly included the 
underprovision relating to the prior years income tax in the related tax expense of 
R6 785 800. 

 
 1.6 Firmino acquired land in Midrand for R800 000 on 1 January 20.8 with the intention to 

construct a factory building thereon. The land is measured at the cost model in terms of 
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment. On 15 August 20.16 Fermino decided to sell the 
land at a cash amount of R1 500 000 and recorded an accounting profit of R700 000. 
The proceeds from the sale of the land is a receipt of a capital nature for tax purposes. 
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Client 2 – Milner Ltd 
 
Milner Ltd (Milner) is a large manufacturing company with operations throughout South Africa. The 
company is listed on the JSE Limited and has a 31 December 20.16 year end. 
 
On 1 January 20.14, Milner acquired a specialised machine for R2 500 000. Machinery is accounted 
for in accordance with the cost model of IAS16 Property, Plant and Equipment and is depreciated 
over its useful life of 5 years on a straight-line basis. The residual values of all machinery were 
initially estimated at Rnil and has remained unchanged. SARS grants an allowance on machinery in 
accordance with s12C of the Income Tax Act on a 40:20:20:20, basis which is not apportioned for 
part of a year. 
 
During January 2016 the accountant discovered the specialised machinery purchased in 2014 had 
been in fact expensed as a special marketing fee. No journals have been passed to correct this 
error. SARS has indicated that they will re-open the relevant tax assessments. You may assume that 
the error is material. 
 
Additional information 
 
1. The normal income tax rate is 28% and the capital gains inclusion rate is 80%. 
2. Assume all amounts are material. 
 
 
PART II  
 
You are the audit clerk of Gabby Ltd (Gabby), a company recently listed on the JSE Limited. You are 
finalising the following inventory note to the financial statements of Gabby for the year ended 
28 February 20.17: 
 
GABBY LTD  
 
NOTES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 20.17  
 
7.  Inventory 

  

20.17 
R 
 

2016 
R 
 

Raw materials 
 

 493 360  800 000  
Work in progress   577 608  500 000  
Finished goods  2 450 000  801 532  

  
 3 520 968  2 101 532  

 
 The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales amounted to 

R? (2016: R1 234 000). Inventories held at net realisable value amounted to R468 000 
(2016: R350 000). The write-down of inventories to net realisable value amounted to R304 000 
(2016: R450 000). The reversal of the write down to the net realisable value of inventory 
amounted to R86 000 (2016: Rnil). This reversal occurred after obsolete inventory was 
reintroduced to the market. 
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 The following additional information is contained in your working papers: 

 
 20.17 

 
Raw materials  
Purchases R1 200 000 
Discount on purchases  3% 
Total import taxes (70% was recovered from taxing authorities) R3 800 
Transport R8 300 
Work in process  
Normal spillage occurs at the beginning of the production process 5% 
Salary cost: Administration staff 
Labour cost  
Production capacity  

R450 000 
R25 per hour 
8 650 hours 

Normal production hours 7 250 hours 
Normal idle hours (included are 200 hours due to a strike action) 1 500 hours 
Variable cost  R30 per unit 
Actual fixed cost (allocated based on units produced) R1 500 000 
   Normal production capacity 80 000 units 
   Actual production 75 000 units 
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REQUIRED 
 

 

YOU HAVE NOW 60 MINUTES TO ANSWER THIS QUESTION 
 

 
 

 Marks 

PART I 
 
(a) Prepare a corrected tax rate reconciliation of Firmino Ltd for the year ended 

31 December 2016. Provide a brief explanation for each reconciling item included in 
your tax reconciliation and for each tax reconciling item in Mr Origi's tax 
reconciliation that has been excluded from your reconciliation. 

 
 Please note: 
 • Present the tax reconciliation in accordance with IAS 12.81(c)(i). 
 • Comparative figures are NOT required. 
 

Communication skills: presentation and layout 

 
 

16 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  1 
 

(b) Provide the journal entries, including current and deferred tax, on 1 January 2016 to 
correct the material error that occurred in the prior periods in the books of Milner Ltd. 
Journal narrations are not required. 

 

  9 
 

PART II 
 
In order to complete the inventory note, calculate the cost of inventories recognised as an 
expense and included in cost of sales (IAS2.38) in the financial statements of Gabby Ltd 
for the financial year ended 28 February 20.17. 
 

 
 

14 

Please note: 
 
• Ignore any Value Added Taxation (VAT) implications. 
• Your answer must comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
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QUESTION 3 – Suggested solution 
 
PART I 
 
(a) Tax rate reconciliation 
 

 R 
 

 

Accounting profit 29 100 000  (1) 

 
Tax at 28% 

 
8 148 000  

 
(1) 

Tax effect of non-taxable/non-deductible items: 
 

  

Capital gain on sale of land not taxable (R700 000 x 20% x 28%) (39 200) (2) 

Explanation 
The portion of the gain above original cost price (base cost) of the asset 
represents a capital gain of which only 80% is taxable.  
20% of the R700 000 included in accounting profit is not taxable and 
represents a reconciling item (or a permanent difference). 

  
 

(1) 
 

(1) 

 
Unused tax loss utilised that was not previously recognised  
((R925 000 - R700 000) x 28%) 

 
(63 000) 

 
(1) 

Explanation 
Deferred tax had to be recognised in 2015 for the assessed loss up to 
the taxable temporary differences amounting to R700 000. 
A deductible temporary difference of R225 000 (925 000 – 700 000) was 
therefore not raised in 2015 due to uncertainty of future profitability. 
However, the assessed loss was utilised in full in 2016, which indicates 
that it would be recognised in 2016. 
The recognition of the unrecognised deferred tax asset in 2016 will 
decrease the tax expense above the movement in temporary differences 
and will therefore be a reconciling item. 

  
 

(1) 
 

(1) 
 

(1) 
 
 

(1) 

 
Underprovision for current tax relating to prior period  

 
300 000  

 
(1) 

Explanation 
The income tax expense in the statement of profit or loss includes an 
underprovision of income tax for a prior period and not reflected in the 
tax on the accounting profit of R8 148 000 and therefor a reconciling 
item. 

  
 
 

(1) 

 
Effect of different tax rate on foreign income R12 000 000 x (28% - 15%) 

 
(1 560 000) 

 
(1) 

Explanation 
Income tax expense in the statement of profit or loss includes tax on 
foreign profits taxed at a rate of 15% and not at 28% and therefor a 
reconciling item. 

  
 
 

(1) 
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Dividends tax 0   

Reason:  
Not a reconciling item because this is a tax on the shareholders and not 
a tax expense for the entity. 

  
 

(1) 

   

Income tax expense 6 785 800         

 Total (16) 
Communication skills: presentation and layout   (1) 

 
(b) Journal entries 
 

  Dr 
R 

Cr 
R 
 

 

J1 Machine at cost (SFP) 2 500 000  (½) 
  Accumulated depreciation (2 500 000/5 x 2) (SFP)  1 000 000 (1½) 
  Current tax payable [C1] (SFP)  280 000  (2½) 
  Deferred tax liability [C2] (SFP)  140 000  (3) 
  Retained Income (2 500 000 – 1 000 000 x 72%)  1 080 000  (1½) 

   Total    (9) 
 
CALCULATIONS 
 
C1. Current tax payable 
 

Machine cost incorrectly claimed 2 500 000  [½] 
Tax allowances (s12C) that should have been claimed:  

   2014: 2 500 000 x 40% (1 000 000) [½] 
 2015: 2 500 000 x 20% (500 000) [½] 

 
1 000 000  

 At 28% 280 000  [½] 

  
 [2] 

 
C2. Deferred tax liability 
 

Cost of machine 2 500 000  
 Accumulated depreciation (2 500 000/5 x 2) (1 000 000) [1] 

Carrying amount at 31/12/2015 1 500 000  
    Cost of machine 2 500 000  
 Wear and tear allowance (1 000 000 + 500 000) (1 500 000) [½] 

Carrying amount 1 000 000  
  

Deferred tax liability (1 500 000 – 1 000 000) x 28%) 140 000     [1] 

  
[2½] 
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PART II 
 

  
Inventory 

R 
 

RAW MATERIALS 
  

 
Opening balance 

 
 800 000  (1) 

Purchases (R1 200 000 x (100% - 3%)) 1 164 000  (1) 
Transport 

  
 8 300  (1) 

Import taxes (R3 800 x (100% – 70%))  1 140  (1) 
Closing balance 

 
(493 360) (1) 

Transferred to work in process 1 480 080   
    
WORK IN PROCESS    
Opening balance 

 
 500 000  (1) 

Labour (7 250 + 1 500 – 200)hours x R25   213 750  (2) 
Fixed cost (R1 500 000 x 75 000/80 000) 1 406 250  (2) 
Variable (75 000 x R30) 2 250 000  (1) 
Closing balance  (577 608) (1) 

Transferred to finished goods 5 272 472   
FINISHED PRODUCTS 

 
 

Opening balance 
 

801 532  (1) 
Write down to net replacement value (304 000)  
Reversal of write down to net replacement value 86 000   
Closing balance 

 
(2 450 000) (1) 

Cost of inventories sold 3 406 004   

   
Under recovery 93 750   
Write down to net replacement value 304 000   
Reversal of write down to net replacement value (86 000)  

Amount of inventories recognised as an expense during the period 
(Disclosure required in terms of IAS 2.36(d)) 3 717 754  

 
       

 Total (14) 
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QUESTION 4  32 marks 
 

 

YOU HAVE 12 MINUTES TO READ THIS QUESTION 
 

 
THIS QUESTION CONSISTS OF THREE SEPARATE PARTS THAT ARE NOT RELATED TO 
EACH OTHER. 
 
IGNORE ANY VALUE-ADDED TAX (VAT) IMPLICATIONS. 
 
PART A 
 
Venus Ltd (Venus) is a JSE Limited listed company which sells luxury watches. You are the financial 
accountant of Venus and the financial manager presented you with the preliminary statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the financial year ended 31 December 20.15. 
 
VENUS LTD 
 
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 20.15  
 

 
20.15  20.14 

 

R  R 

Revenue  13 120 800   14 400 200  
Cost of sales (6 908 856)  (8 220 160) 

Gross profit 6 211 944   6 180 040  
Other income 420 000   250 000  
Operating expenses (4 205 300)  (8 000 400) 

Operating profit before interest 2 426 644   (1 570 360) 
Interest paid (102 644)  (58 000) 

Profit/(Loss) before tax 2 324 000   (1 628 360) 
Income tax expense ???   55 944  

PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR ???   (1 572 416) 

 
Additional information 
 
1. Land 
 
 On 1 June 20.12 Venus acquired land for future development at a purchase price of 

R1 500 000 (which is equal to the land's base cost for capital gains tax purposes). It is the 
policy of the company to subsequently measure land using the revaluation model in 
accordance with IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment. The land was revalued for the first 
time on 31 December 20.13 at R1 800 000 and the revaluation surplus was correctly recorded 
in the accounting records of Venus. 

 
 During the current financial year Venus decided to sell the land for R2 100 000. The transfer of 

the ownership of the land was finalised on 25 November 20.15. The accounting profit on the 
sale of the land amounted to R300 000 and is included in other income. The South African 
Revenue Services (SARS) confirmed that the sale of land will be subject to capital gains tax. 
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2. Order from customer 
 
 On 1 December 20.15 Venus entered into a contract with a customer to transfer five watches 

to the customer on 5 January 20.16. The contract requires the customer to pay a consideration 
of R350 000 in advance to Venus on 2 December 20.15. The customer paid the consideration 
on 2 December 20.15 and the assistant accountant recognised the amount of R350 000 as 
revenue in the financial statements of Venus for the year ended 31 December 20.15. 

 
 The assistant accountant was not aware that, according to IFRS 15, this revenue will only be 

recognised when the entity has satisfied the performance obligation of transferring the ordered 
watches to the customer. The customer obtained control of these watches on 5 January 20.16. 

 
3. Profit on sale of foreign property 
 
 Venus made a profit with the sale of a foreign property in the United Kingdom amounting to 

R120 000 (after deduction of R30 000 foreign tax). This amount is included in other income 
and is not subject to South African tax. 

 
4. SARS assessment 
 
 The SARS made an adjustment to the 20.13 assessment after the review of a deductible 

expense which Venus claimed during the tax year ending 31 December 20.13. The SARS 
issued an additional 20.13 assessment on 15 December 20.15 to include the additional 
amount of R15 000 (including interest of R4 500) for the expense which was not allowed as a 
deduction by the SARS. Venus decided not to lodge an objection regarding this additional 
assessment. The amount payable in terms of the additional assessment was not recorded in 
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 20.15. 

 
5. Deferred tax calculation 
 
 Venus provided you with the following calculation of the deferred tax balance as at  

31 December 20.14:  
 

 

Carrying 
amount Tax base 

Temporary 
differences 
at 100% or 

80% 

Deferred 
tax at 
28% 

asset/ 
(liability) 

 

 

 

 
R R R R 

31 December 20.14 
    Land 1 800 000  1 500 000 240 000  (67 200) 

Unused tax loss -        1 628 360 (240 000) 67 200  

   
-       -       

     Movements 20.14 financial year - unused tax loss (deductible) (240 000) 67 200  

 
 You may assume that the deferred tax calculation for the year ended 31 December 20.14 was 

calculated correctly and takes all information into account. 
 
 The SARS assessment for 20.14 reflects an assessed tax loss of R1 628 360. Venus was of 

the opinion that future taxable profits will not be available in 20.15 against which the unused 
tax loss can be utilised. 



 FAC4863/102 

 NFA4863/102 
 ZFA4863/102 

 MJM 

110 

 
6. Other information 
 
 There were no non-taxable or non-deductible items included in the accounting profit or loss for 

the financial years ended 31 December 20.14 and 31 December 20.15 except for those that 
are apparent from the information provided. 

 
 The income tax rate is 28% and has remained unchanged for the past seven years. The 

inclusion rate for capital gains tax is 80%. 
 
 The deferred tax liability at 31 December 20.13 amounted to R55 944, which represents the 

temporary difference on the revaluation of land. 
 
 You may assume that all amounts are material. 
 
 
PART B 
 
Jayson Ltd (Jayson) is a large manufacturing company of electric cables with operations throughout 
South Africa. Electric cables are the only product manufactured by Jayson and the production 
thereof commenced on 1 March 20.15. The company is listed on the JSE Limited and has a 31 
December year end. 
 
Inventories  
 
The following information is applicable to the manufacturing of inventory for the period 1 March 2015 
to 31 December 20.15: 
 
Raw material 
 
1. Jayson purchased 450 000 meters of raw material on 25 February 20.15 at a purchase price of 

R6 per meter. The supplier grants a volume discount of 10% if purchases exceeds 200 000 
meters per annum and a settlement  discount of 5% of the purchase price of raw materials if 
the amount is settled within 60 days from the date of purchase. Jayson settles within 60 days 
of purchase. 

2. Transport and handling cost attributable to the acquisition of raw material during 2015 
amounted to R576 200. 

 
Work in process 
 
1. Raw materials are used in the manufacturing process on a first-in first-out (FIFO) basis and 

320 000 meters of raw material was put into the production process on 1 March 20.15. 
2. On 2 March 2015, material quantities of raw material issued to the production process were 

stolen from the production plant. Jayson did not replace the stolen raw material with raw 
material from the storage warehouse. None of the raw materials kept in the storage warehouse 
(closing raw materials) were stolen. 

3. Normal raw material wastage due to trimmings throughout the production process amounts to 
5%. 

4. There was no work-in-process inventory at 31 December 20.15. 
 
Finished products 
 
1. Storage cost for finished products amounted to R32 000. 
2. During 20.15 120 000 finished products were manufactured. 
3. For each unit of finished product, two meters (after normal wastage) of raw material are used. 



 FAC4863/102 

 NFA4863/102 
 ZFA4863/102 

 MJM 

111 

 
4. Included in the manufacturing cost of finished products for the period is the cost of a by-

product that resulted from the manufacturing of products. This by-product can be sold for 
R240 000 in total and Jayson discloses by-products in a separate category in the notes to the 
financial statements. 

5. At 31 December 20.15, 30% of finished products were still on hand. 
6. On 31 December 20.15, the selling price of one finished product amounted to R2 000 and the 

delivery cost to customers amounted to R250 per unit. 
 
Other information 
 
1. Direct labour: 
  Cost per hour R60 
  Productive hours for the year ended 31 December 20.15 370 000 hours 
  Idle hours for the year ended 31 December 20.15 30 000 hours 
 
2. Variable factory overheads and fixed factory overheads amounted to R5 000 000 and 

R7 600 000 respectively for the year ended 31 December 20.15. 
 
3. Normal capacity is based on labour hours and amounts to 40 000 hours per month. Included in 

the idle hours for the 20.15 financial year were 10 000 hours which were lost due to an 
unexpected strike. The remaining idle hours were normal idle time. 
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REQUIRED 
 

 

YOU HAVE NOW 48 MINUTES TO ANSWER THIS QUESTION 
 

 
 

 Marks 

PART A 
 
Prepare the income tax expense note to the financial statements of Venus Ltd for the year 
ended 31 December 20.15 as required by IAS 12 Income Taxes. 
 
Please note: 
• The movement in temporary differences in the current tax calculation has to be 

calculated by using the statement of financial position method. 
• The tax expense reconciliation should be done in accordance with IAS 12.81(c)(i). 
• Comparative figure are NOT required. 
 

Communication skills: presentation and layout 

 
 

19 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  1 
 

PART B 
 
Calculate the carrying amount of the following inventory items to be disclosed in the notes 
to the statement of financial position of Jayson Ltd at 31 December 20.15:  
 
- Raw materials 
- Finished products 
 
Please note: 
• Show all calculations. 
• Round off all amounts to the nearest Rand. 

 

 
 

12 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Please note: 
 
• Your answer must comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
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QUESTION 4 – Suggested solution 
 
PART A 
 
VENUS LTD 
 
NOTES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 20.15 
 
2. Income tax expense 
 

 20.15  
 R  
Major components of tax expense   
SA Normal tax   
Current tax 222 079   

- Current year [C2 ] 211 579  (6½) 
- Under provision for prior years (15 000 – 4 500) 10 500  (1) 

Deferred tax (98 000)  

- Movement in temporary differences [C3 ] (165 200) (3) 
- Recognition of unused tax loss not previously recognised [C4] (388 741) (1) 
- Unused tax loss utilised [C4] 455 941  (½) 

Foreign tax 30 000  (1) 

 154 079   

   
Tax expense reconciliation   
Accounting profit 1 999 500  (½) 

   
Tax at 28% 559 860  (½) 
Tax effect of:   
- Interest paid not deductible (4 500 x 28%) 1 260  (1) 
- Accounting  profit on sale of land not deductible  
 (300 000 x 20% x 28%) (16 800) (1½) 
Unused tax loss that was not previously recognised (388 741) (½) 
Differences in tax rate on foreign income [150 000 x (28% - 20%) (12 000) (1½) 
Under provision for current tax for prior years 10 500  (½) 

Income tax expense 154 079         

 Total (19) 
Communication skills: presentation and layout  (1) 

 
CALCULATIONS 
 
C1. Profit before tax adjusted 
 

 R  
Profit before tax 2 324 000  [½] 
Revenue received in advance (350 000) [½] 
Foreign tax 30 000  [½] 
Interest paid to SARS (4 500) [½] 

 1 999 500   
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C2. Current tax calculation 
 

Profit before tax [C1] 1 999 500  [2] 
Non-taxable/Non-deductible items:   
- Foreign income not taxable (120 000 + 30 000) (150 000) [1] 
- Accounting profit not taxable (300 000 x 20%) (60 000) [1] 
- Interest not deductible (given) 4 500  [½] 
Movement in temporary differences (deductible) [C3] 590 000  [½] 

Taxable profits before unused tax loss 2 384 000   
Unused tax loss of prior year (given) (1 628 360) [1] 

Taxable profit for the year 755 640   

   
Tax at 28% 211 579    [½] 

  [6½] 
 
C3. Deferred tax 
 

 

Carrying 
amount 

Tax base 

Temporary 
differences 
at 100% or 

80% 

Deferred 
tax at 28% 

asset/ 
(liability) 

 
 

    
 31 December 20.14 

     Land (80%) 1 800 000  1 500 000  240 000  (67 200)  
Unused tax loss -       1 628 360  (240 000) 67 200   

   
-       -         

31 December 20.15 
     Land (80%) -       -       -       -       

 Revenue received in advance (350 000) -       (350 000) 98 000  [1] 
Unused tax loss -       -       -       -       

 

   
(350 000) 98 000  

 Movement in temporary differences through P/L 
   (240 000 + 350 000) (590 000) 165 200  [1] 

Movement in unused tax loss 240 000  (67 200) [½] 

 
(350 000) 98 000  [½] 

   
 [3] 

 
C4. Movement in unused tax loss 
 

Unused tax loss not previously recognised1 (388 741) [1] 
Unused tax loss utilised2 455 941  [1] 

 
67 200       

  
[2] 

   1 (1 628 360 – 240 000) x 28% = 388 741 
  2 1 628 360 x 28% = 455 941 
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PART B 
 
Inventory closing balances 
 

Raw Materials 
  Invoice cost (450 000 x 6) 2 700 000  (½) 

Volume discount (10% x 2 700 000) (270 000) (½) 

Settlement discount [5% x (2 700 000 x 90%)]  (121 500) (1) 

Transport and handling cost 576 200  (½) 

 
2 884 700  

 

   Closing inventories in SFP - (2 884 700/450 000 = R6 x (450 000 – 320 000) 780 000  (2) 

   Finished goods 
  Cost per meter (2 884 700/450 000) R6  

 

   Raw Materials - order (120 000 x 2m/0,95) x R6 1 515 789  (1½) 

Direct Labour (370 000 + 30 000 -10 000) x R60 per hour  23 400 000  (2) 

Variable factory overheads (given) 5 000 000  (½) 

Fixed factory o/heads (7 600 000/(40 000 x 10 mnths) x 390 000 hrs 7 410 000  (1½) 

By-products at NRV - separately disclosed (240 000) (½) 

 
37 085 789  

 

   Cost per product (37 085 789/120 000)  309  (1) 

NRV (R2 000 - R250) 1 750  (½) 

   Inventories valued at the lower of cost or NRV (120 000 x 30%) x R309 11 124 000    (1) 

 
Total (13) 

 
Maximum (12) 
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QUESTION 5  38 marks 
 

 

YOU HAVE 14 MINUTES TO READ THIS QUESTION 
 

 
You are the audit clerk responsible for the finalisation of the financial statements for the financial 
year ended 31 December 20.4 for two audit clients. 
 
Client 1 – Bucaneers Ltd 
 
Bucaneers Ltd (Bucaneers) is a company incorporated in South Africa on 1 January 20.6 and is 
listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE) Limited. The company manufactures navigation 
equipment which is used in aircrafts. 
 
The financial accountant presented you with the following draft trial balance and additional 
information: 
 
DRAFT SUMMARISED TRIAL BALANCE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 20.14 
 
    Additional Dr Cr 
  

 
information R R 

  
   

  
Land 

 
1 5 200 000   

Machinery 
 

2 1 600 000   
Inventory 

  
1 700 000   

Development cost 
 

 210 000   
Cash and cash equivalents 

  
216 000   

Trade receivables 
  

345 000   
Deferred tax asset (at 31 December 20.13) 3 70 000   
Share capital 

   
500 000 

Retained income 
   

7 284 700 
Profit before tax 

 
4   1 250 000 

Revaluation surplus 
 

1 
 

200 000 
Provisions for guarantees 

 
4.3 

 
180 000 

Trade payables 
   

52 000 
SARS account 

 
5 125 700   

  
  

9 466 700 9 466 700 

 
Additional Information 
 
1. Land 
 

After initial recognition Bucaneers measures land according to the revaluation model. The land 
was acquired on 1 January 20.14 and the base cost of the land in terms of paragraph 20 of the 
Eighth Schedule of the Income Tax Act is equal to the purchase price of the land. The opening 
and closing balances for 20.14 are reconciled as follows: 
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20.14 

 
R 

Opening balance -       
Acquisition of land: 1 January 20.14 5 000 000 
Revaluation of land: 31 December 20.14 200 000 
Closing balance 5 200 000 

 
The revaluation must be recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity under the heading of revaluation surplus.  

  
2. Machinery 
 
 Bucaneers subsequently measures machinery according to the cost model. The opening and 

closing balances for 20.14 are reconciled as follows: 
 

 
20.14 

 

R 
 

Opening balance 1 850 000  
Depreciation (250 000) 
Closing balance 1 600 000  

  The tax base of the machinery amounted to R1 000 000 on 31 December 20.14. 
 
3. Deferred tax asset 
 
 Bucaneers provided you with the following calculation of the deferred tax balance as at 

31 December 20.13: 

 

Carrying 
amount 

Tax base 

Temporary 
differences 
at 100% or 

80% 

Deferred 
tax at 
28% 

asset/ 
(liability) 

   

 
 

R R R R 
31 December 20.13 

    Machinery 1 850 000  1 300 000  550 000  (154 000) 
Unused tax loss -        800 000  (800 000) 224 000  

   
(250 000) 70 000  

     You may assume that the deferred tax asset for the year ending 31 December 20.13 was 
calculated correctly and takes all information into account.  
 
The SARS assessment for 20.13 reflected an assessed tax loss of R800 000. Bucaneers were of 
the opinion that sufficient future taxable profits will be available in 20.14 against which the 
unused tax loss can be utilised. 
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4. Profit before tax 
 
 The following items are included in the profit before tax: 
 
 4.1 Dividend income to the amount of R64 000 which is not taxable. 
 
 4.2 Rental income for January 20.15 amounting to R40 000 was received on 

31 December 20.14. The SARS will include the rental income in the taxable income of 
Bucaneers, only when the amount is received. 

 
 4.3 Guarantee cost 
 
  The company provides a two-year guarantee on all its products. At year end, a provision 

of R180 000 was raised for repairment costs that will be incurred after year end. These 
repairment costs relate to products which were sold in the current financial year. The 
SARS will only allow repairment cost as a deduction when it has actually been incurred. 

 
5. SARS account 
 

The general ledger account for the “SARS account” contained the following entries for the year 
ended 31 December 20.14:   

 

 
R 

    1 January 20.14 Balance brought forward  -      
  3 May 20.14 Bank - Final payment for the 2012 year of assessment, 

including R2 800 interest 17 800  
30 June 20.14 Bank - First provisional tax payment 54 500  
31 December 20.14 Bank - Second provisional tax payment 53 400  

 
125 700  

 
6. Other items 
 

One of Bucaneers' suppliers offers a 5% rebate on all purchases when they exceed R300 000 
per calendar year. Bucaneers exceeded this target with R100 000 during the current financial 
year. This rebate has not been accounted for yet, since the settlement thereof will only incur on 
18 January 20.15. Fifteen percent of this inventory was still on hand at 31 December 20.14. 
The SARS will include this rebate in the taxable income of Bucaneers, only when the rebate 
has been paid by the supplier to Bucaneers. 
 
The tax base of inventory, excluding the above rebate, amounted to R1 700 000. 
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Client 2 – Sporti Ltd 
 
Sporti Ltd (Sporti) supplies gym and track equipment as well as sport supplements across the 
country. 
 
The financial accountant presented you with the following information regarding Sporti Ltd’s gym 
inventory for the year ended 31 December 20.14:  

 Opening  
balance 

 R 
 

Gym equipment: Imported 8 550 000  
Gym equipment: Manufactured (Pommel horses) 
- Finished goods  

 
3 500 000  

 12 050 000  
Adjustment to opening balance: 
Reversal of prior year write-down to net realisable value: (R305 000 – R200 000) 

 
     105 000  

 12 155 000  

 
Additional information 
 
1. Sporti recognises inventory according to the first-in, first-out method. 
 
2. The company imports all their gym equipment from Europe. Due to the continued devaluation 

of the Rand, the financial accountant is of the opinion that the cost formula on imported gym 
equipment should be changed to the weighted average method in order to avoid material 
fluctuation in the selling price thereof.  

 
3. Due to the high demand for pommel horses (gymnastic equipment), Sporti decided that it will 

be more cost effective to manufacture these equipment themselves and commenced with the 
production thereof in the 20.13 financial year.  

 
 This resulted in a decline in the demand for their imported pommel horses and Sporti 

discontinued the importation thereof during the 20.13 financial year. The 20 unsold imported 
pommel horses at the end of the 20.13 financial year were written off to their net realisable 
value which totalled R200 000 (original cost: R250 000).  

 
 Sporti sold another two imported pommel horses in the 20.14 financial year. In 

December 20.14 Gymnasti Ltd contacted Sporti to sign a contract for the purchase of Sporti’s 
remaining imported pommel horses, since they only use the European brandname pommel 
horse. The contract was signed early in the 20.15 financial year at a selling price of R305 000. 
Sporti paid R5 000 for the drafting of the contract. 

 
4. Raw material purchases for the year amounted to the following: 

  R 

Wood   1 800 000  
Foam (1 000m2)  2 200 000  
Vinyl  (1 000m2)  2 500 000  
  6 500 000  

 
 All wood is purchased in the correct measurements. The wood purchased in the 20.14 

financial year was enough to manufacture 1 000 pommel horses only. Foam and vinyl are 
purchased in 1m2 sheets, which is approximately the size used for one pommel horse. Five 
percent of all purchased foam and vinyl ends up as off cuts. None of the off cuts can be sold or 
reused.  
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 During the year a new employee incorrectly used the smaller foam pattern to cut the vinyl of 

ten pommel horses. He then tried to stretch the vinyl in order to fit these covers over the foam 
on the wooden pommel horses. As a result all ten vinyl covers had to be discarded.  

 
 Data from the 20.13 financial year indicated that Sporti is able to manufacture 75 pommel 

horses per month. Sporti manufactured 950 pommel horses in the 20.14 financial year. 
Finished goods of R8 839 250 (assume as correct) were transferred to cost of sales in the 
20.14 financial year. 

 
 Overheads per pommel horse (assume as correct): 

 R 

Variable  615  
Fixed  1 200  

 
 There were no work in progress items at the end of the 20.14 financial year. 
 
5. Assume a normal income tax rate of 28% and a capital gains tax inclusion rate of 80%. 
 
REQUIRED 
 

 

YOU NOW HAVE 57 MINUTES TO ANSWER THIS QUESTION 
 

 
 Marks 

(a) Prepare the income tax note to the financial statements of Bucaneers Ltd for the 
year ended 31 December 20.14 as required by IAS 12 Income Taxes. 

 
 Please note: 
 • The movement in temporary differences in the current tax calculation has to be 

calculated by using the statement of financial position method. 
 • The tax rate reconciliation should be done in accordance with IAS 12.81(c)(i). 
 

Communication skills: presentation and layout 

18 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  1 
 

(b) Discuss, with reasons, the correctness of the following for Sporti Ltd for the year 
ended 31 December 20.14: 

 
 (i) The suggested change in cost formula for imported gym equipment. 
 (ii) The reversal of the prior year write-down to net realisable value.  

(Include amounts where applicable). 
 

Communication skills: logical argument 

 
 
 

  3 
  6 
 
 

  1 
 

(c) Calculate the inventory closing balance (amount) for the manufactured gym 
equipment of Sporti Ltd for the year ended 31 December 20.14. 

 
Please note: 

 • Show ALL calculations. 
• Your answer should incorporate any corrections discussed in (b) above. 

 

  9 
 
 
 

 
Please note: 
 
• Round off all amounts to the nearest Rand. 
• Comparative figures are not required. 
• Ignore any Value-Added Tax (VAT) implications. 
• Your answer must comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
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QUESTION 5  -  Suggested solution 
 
(a) BUCANEERS LTD 
 
 NOTES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 20.14 
 
 2. Income tax expense 
 

Major components of tax expense R 
    SA normal tax 

  Current tax 159 480  
 - Current year [C1] 144 480  (5) 

- Underprovision for prior years (17 800 -2 800) 15 000  (2) 
Deferred tax 181 160  

 - Movement in temporary differences [C2] (42 840) (7½) 
- Unused tax loss utilised [C2] 224 000  (1) 
   

 
340 640  

    Tax rate reconciliation 
  Accounting profit [C1] 1 224 200  (½) 

   Tax at 28% 342 776  (½) 
Tax effect of: 

  - Interest not deductible (2 800 x 28%) 784  (½) 
- Dividends received (64 000 x 28%) (17 920) (½) 
Under-provision of current tax for prior years 15 000  (½) 
Income tax expense 340 640         

 
Total (18) 

Communication skills: presentation and layout   (1) 
 
CALCULATIONS 
 
C1. Current tax 
 

Profit before tax (given) 1 250 000  
 Adjustments: 

  Rebate receivable on inventory sold [(300 000 + 100 000) x 5%] x 85% 17 000  [1½] 
Interest paid on tax payments for 20.12 (2 800) [½] 
Rent received in advance (40 000) [½] 
Profit before tax (adjusted) 1 224 200  

 Non-taxable/non-deductible items 
   Dividends received not taxable (64 000) [½] 

 Interest paid not deductible 2 800  [½] 
 Taxable profit before temporary differences 1 163 000  

  Movement in temporary differences [C2] (153 000) [½] 
Taxable profit before unused tax loss 1 316 000  

 Unused tax loss of prior year (given) (800 000) [½] 
Taxable profit for the year 516 000  

 Tax at 28% 144 480  [½] 

  
[5] 
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C2. Deferred tax 
 

 

Carrying 
amount 

Tax base 

Temporary 
differences 
at 100% or 

80% 

Deferred 
tax at 
28% 

asset/ 
(liability) 

    

 
 

R R R R 
 31 December 20.13 

     Machinery 1 850 000  1 300 000  550 000  (154 000) 
 Unused tax loss -       800 000  (800 000) 224 000  
 

   
(250 000) 70 000  

       31 December 20.14 
     Machinery 1 600 000  1 000 000  600 000  (168 000) [1] 

Rebate receivable (400 000 x 5%) 20 000  -       20 000  (5 600) [1½] 
Inventory 

  
  

  [1 700 000 - (400 000 x 5% x 15%)] 1 697 000  1 700 000  (3 000) 840  [3] 
Provision for guarantees (180 000) -       (180 000) 50 400  [1] 
Rent received in advance (40 000) -       (40 000) 11 200  [1] 

   
397 000  (111 160) [7½] 

Land (given) 5 200 000  5 000 000  160 000  (44 800) 
 

   
557 000  (155 960) 

       Movement through P/L (397 000 - 550 000) 
 

(153 000) (42 840) 
 Movement through OCI 

 
160 000  (44 800) 

 Movement in unused tax loss 
 

800 000  (224 000) [½] 

   
807 000  (225 960) 

        
(b) Correctness of the change in cost formula for imported gym equipment. 
  
 Imported gym equipment 
  

Inventories with a similar nature and use to the entity should be accounted for at the same 
cost formula. (IAS 2.25)  
 
Sporti Ltd may therefore not account for gym equipment by using both the weighted average 
method for imported gym equipment and the first-in, first-out method for manufactured gym 
equipment, since these inventories are similar in nature (both are gym equipment) and 
similar in use to Sporti Ltd (both used in the same operating segment). 
 
Reversal of write-down to net realisable value 
 
A new assessment of the net realisable value has to be made in each period subsequent 
to the initial recognition thereof (IAS 2.33).  
 
A previous write-down of inventory may be reversed when economic circumstances have 
changed, so that the new carrying amount is the lower of cost and the revised net realisable 
value (IAS 2.33).   (½) 
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The 2013 selling prices of the pommel horses declined, resulting in a write-down of inventory. 
However in 2014 the new contract with Gymnasti Ltd caused an increase in the selling 
price of the imported pommel horses, which resulted in a reversal of the previous write-
down to net realisable value.  (1) 
 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business (entity-
specific value) less the estimated cost necessary to make the sale (IAS 2.6). 
 
The R305 000 therefore is an appropriate value to determine the revised realisable value of 
the inventory, since the offer to Sporti Ltd is entity-specific. However, the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale (R5 000 to draw up the contract) need to be deducted from the 
R305 000 in order to obtain the net realisable value of R300 000 of the pommel horses 
(IAS 2.6). (2) 
 
The reversal of the write down to the net realisable value has to be recognised as a reduction 
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal 
occurs. Therefore the opening balance should not be adjusted with the reversal. This 
reversal should be accounted for in the current financial year, since Sporti Ltd only obtained 
the offer in the current financial year (IAS 2.34). (2) 
 
The reversal of the write down has to be limited to the amount of the original write down in 
order for the new carrying amount to be the lower of the cost and the revised net realisable 
value (IAS 2.33). (1) 
 
The write down is also limited to the inventory which is still at hand at the end of the financial 
year. Hence the write down in the current year should be: (1) 
 
(R250 000 – R200 000)/20 = R2 500 write down per pommel horse.  (1) 
 
Reversal of write down: R2 500 x (20 - 2) = R45 000    (1) 

Total     (12) 
Maximum       (9) 

Communication skills: logical argument      (1) 
 
(c) Inventory closing balance 
 
 SPORTI LTD 
 
 31 December 20.14 
 

 R  
Closing balance    
• Gym equipment: Manufactured [C1] 
  Raw materials 
  Finished products 

 
300 000 

2 500 000 

 
(3) 
(6) 

 2 800 000      

  (9) 
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CALCULATIONS 
 
C1.  Gym equipment: Manufactured 
 

 Raw 
materials 

W I P Finished 
goods 

    
Opening balance -         -          3 500 0008  
Transferred from  6 200 000   7 839 250   
Purchases 6 500 0001    
      
Variable cost  584 2504   
Fixed overheads  1 080 0005   
Abnormal spillage  (25 000)6  
Transferred to (6 200 000)3 (7 839 250)7 (8 839 250)8 

Closing balance 300 0002  -        2 500 0007  

 
1  R1 800 000 + R2 200 000 + R2 500 000 = R6 500 000  [1½] 
2  R6 500 000/ 1 000 = R6 500 per pommel horse  [½] 
 R6 500 x (1 000 – 950) = R325 000 - 25 0006 = R300 000 [1½] 
3  R6 500 000 – R300 000 = R6 200 000 [½] 
4  R615 x 950 = R584 250  [1] 
5  Normal capacity: 75 x 12 months = 900 pommel horses [1]  

  Actual capacity (950 pommel horses) is higher than normal capacity, thus allocation of fixed 
overheads limited to normal capacity (IAS 2.13). 

  900 x R1 200 = R1 080 000  [½] 
 6  Abnormal spillage: (10m2 x R2 500 000/1 000m2 x 100%) = R25 000  [1½] 
 7  Balancing 
 8  Given  [1] 
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QUESTION 6  21 marks 
 

 

YOU HAVE 8 MINUTES TO READ THIS QUESTION 
 

 
You are the audit manager at AUDIT auditing firm. The audit partner requested your help with 
various outstanding issues on a number of audit clients. The clients are not related parties and all of 
them have a 31 December year end.  
 
Below is a list of the outstanding issues of each audit client. 
 
1. Stark Ltd 
 

Stark Ltd decided on 31 December 20.13 to discontinue the production of one of their 
products, Westeros, since the product did not live up to its original expectations. At year end 
the company has 600 units of finished goods (Westeros) on hand. The net realisable value of 
one product Westeros is R51, while the cost price and current carrying amount is R55 each.  
 
Two units of raw material Essos are used in the production of one Westeros product. At year 
end the company has 700 units raw material (Essos) on hand. One unit Essos has a net 
realisable value of R21, while the cost price and current carrying amount is R20 each. 
Stark Ltd has a special contract with Snow Ltd to supply 800 Westeros products on 
10 March 20.14 at R53 per product to Snow Ltd. 

 
2. Kalisi Ltd 
 

The financial manager of Kalisi Ltd was on leave. Before her departure she prepared the 
deferred tax calculation and the income tax note for the year ended 31 December 20.13. She 
printed the documents and informed the chief financial officer that the documents are in the 
photocopy room. While studying the documents, the chief financial officer realised that the 
documents did not print properly and that some parts were illegible. He realised this after the 
financial manager departed on her tour. The documents, as well as any relevant information, 
are given below: 
 
Income tax expense 

 
Major components of tax expense 20.13 

R 
SA Normal tax  
Current tax 
- Current year 
Deferred tax 

 
A 
B 

Foreign tax 80 000  

 ? 
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 Tax rate reconciliation 
 

Accounting profit 2 600 000  

  
Tax at 28% 728 000  
Non-taxable items (28 000) 
Non-deductible items 8 400  
Unprovided assessed loss benefit utilised ? 
Effect of different tax rate on foreign income (4 000) 

Income tax expense ? 

 
 Deferred tax calculation 

 

Carrying 
amount 

Tax base 

Temporary 
differences 
at 100% or 

80% 

Deferred 
tax at 
28% 

asset/ 
(liability) 

 R R R R 

31 December 20.12     
Taxable temporary differences 842 000  802 000  40 000  (11 200) 
Unused tax loss -      550 000  (40 000) 11 200  

   -      -      

31 December 20.13     
Taxable temporary differences 
Taxable temporary differences  
  (through OCI) (200 000 x 80%) 

984 000  
 

1 200 000  

894 000  
 

1 000 000  

90 000  
 

160 000  

(25 200) 
 

(44 800) 

   250 000  (70 000) 

 
The above deferred tax calculation takes all information into account and you may assume that 
the amounts are correct. At the end of the 20.12 financial year, the company was uncertain 
whether there would be future taxable income. 

 
3. Stanza Ltd 
 

During January 20.13, Stanza Ltd discovered that some products that had been sold during 
December 20.12 were incorrectly included in inventory at 31 December 20.12 at R120 000. 
The statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 
31 December 20.12 reported sales of R7 100 000 and cost of sales of R5 900 000.The 
accounting records of Stanza Ltd for the year ended 31 December 20.13 shows total sales of 
R8 500 000, cost of sales of R6 480 000 (including R120 000 for the error in opening 
inventory). Assume a tax rate of 28%. The SARS agreed to re-open the 20.12 assessment and 
make the necessary adjustments. Assume that the error is material. 
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REQUIRED 
 

 

YOU NOW HAVE 32 MINUTES TO ANSWER THIS QUESTION 
 

 

 Marks 

(a) Calculate the carrying amount of both the finished product Westeros and the raw 
material Essos in the accounting record of Stark Ltd as at 31 December 20.13. 

 
(b) Calculate the amount that should be disclosed as current tax in the income tax 

expense note of Kalisi Ltd for the year ended 31 December 20.13.  
 
(c) Show the separate components of the tax expense that should be disclosed under 

deferred tax in the income tax expense note of Kalisi Limited for the year ended 
31 December 20.13. Indicate clearly whether the amounts should be added or 
subtracted in the note. 

Communication skills: presentation and layout 
 

(d) Disclose the prior period error in the notes to the financial statements of Stanza Ltd 
for the year ended 31 December 20.13.  

 
Communication skills: presentation and layout 

 

  6 
 
 

  6 
 
 

  3 
 
 
 

  1 
 

  4 
 
 

  1 

 
Please note: 
 
• Round off all amounts to the nearest Rand. 
• Comparative figures are not required. 
• Journal narrations are not required. 
• Ignore any Value-Added Tax (VAT) implications. 
• Your answer must comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
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QUESTION 6  -  Suggested solution 
 
(a) Stark Ltd 
 

 20.13 
R 

 

Finished product (Westeros)   
Contract with Snow Ltd (600 x R53) 31 800  (1) 

   
Raw Material (Essos)   
Write down per raw material used in production:   
(R55 – R53) /  2 (units raw material used) = R1 per product   
Number used in production:  (1½) 
(800 per contract – 600 on hand) x 2 raw materials per finished product = 
400 

  
(1) 

   

Used in production (400 units x (R20 – R1)) 7 600  (1½) 
Remaining raw material (700 – 400) x R20 (will be sold, product 
discontinued) 

 
6 000  

 
(1) 

 13 600         

 Total   (6) 
 
(b) Kalisi (current tax)  
 

Current tax 20.13 
R 
 

 

Profit before tax 2 600 000  (½) 
Foreign income – not taxable in RSA ((80 000 + 4 000) / 28%) (300 000) (1½) 
Non-taxable items (28 000/28%) (100 000) (1) 
Non-deductible items (8 400/28%) 30 000  (1) 
Taxable temporary differences (90 000 – 40 000) (50 000) (1) 

 2 180 000   
Unused tax loss of prior year (550 000) (½) 

Taxable profit 1 630 000   

Tax at 28% 456 400  (½) 

 Total  (6) 
 
 Alternative calculation 
 

Tax on accounting profit (given) 728 000  (½) 
Tax on non-taxable items (given) (28 000) (1) 
Tax on non-deductible items (given) 8 400  (1) 
Foreign tax (80 000 + 4 000) (84 000) (1) 
Tax on movement in taxable temporary difference  
  (90 000 – 40 000) x 28% or (25 200 – 11 200) 

 
(14 000) 

 
(1½) 

Tax on assessed loss utilised (550 000 x 28%) (154 000) (1) 

 456 400   
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(c) Kalisi (deferred)  
 

Deferred tax 20.13 
R 
 

 

Movement in temporary differences ((90 000 – 40 000) x 28%) 14 000  (1) 
Recognition of unused tax loss previously not recognised 
((550 000 – 40 000) = 510 000 x 28%) 

 
(142 800) 

 
(1) 

Unused tax loss utilised (550 000 x 28%) 154 000  (1) 
 Total (3) 

Communication skills: presentation and layout (1) 
 
(d) Stanza (prior period error) 
 

Prior period error 
 

  

Some products that had been sold in 20.12 were incorrectly included in inventory at 
31 December 20.12 at R120 000. The financial statements of 20.12 have been 
restated to correct this error. The effect of the restatement on those financial 
statements is summarised below. There is no effect in 20.13. 
 

 
 
 

(1) 

 Effect on 
20.12 

R 
 

 

(Increase) in cost of goods sold (120 000) (1) 
Decrease in income tax expense (120 000 x 28%) 33 600  (½) 
(Decrease) in profit (86 400) (½) 
   
(Decrease) in inventory (120 000) (½) 
Decrease in income tax payable 33 600  (½) 
(Decrease) in equity (86 400) (½) 
 Total 

Maximum 
 (4½) 

 (4) 
Communication skills: presentation and layout         (1) 

 


